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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET (“GEM"”) OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market desighed to accommodate companies to which a higher
investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the
decision to invest only after due and careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other
characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more suited to professional and other sophisticated
investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may
be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for the
contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of L & A International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively
and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with
regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge
and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading
or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
REER

REGISTERED OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS
Maples Corporate Services Limited

P.O. Box 309, Ugland House

Grand Cayman, KY-1104

Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Flat 1, Block C, 11/F

Hong Kong Spinner Industrial Building, Phase 5

762 Cheung Sha Wan Road, Kowloon

Hong Kong

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Ng Ka Ho (Chairman)
(re-designated as the Chairman of the Board on 22 April 2016)
Mr. Yang Si Hang (retired as an executive director on
28 October 2016 and resigned as chief executive officer
on 3 March 2017)
Mr. Yang Si Kit Kenny (resigned on 22 April 2016)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Wong Chiu Po (resigned on 26 April 2017)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Li Kin Ping (appointed on 20 April 2017)

Mr. Ng Kai Shing (appointed on 20 March 2017)

Mr. Ma Chi Ming (appointed on 29 April 2016)

Mr. Kwong Lun Kei Victor (resigned on 20 April 2017)

Mr. Chan Ming Sun Jonathan (resigned on 3 March 2017)
Ms. Cheung Marn Kay (resigned on 29 April 2016)

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Mr. Ng Kai Shing (Chairman)
(appointed on 20 March 2017)
Mr. Li Kin Ping (appointed on 20 April 2017)
Mr. Ma Chi Ming (appointed on 29 April 2016)
Mr. Kwong Lun Kei Victor (resigned on 20 April 2017)
Mr. Chan Ming Sun Jonathan (resigned on 3 March 2017)
Ms. Cheung Marn Kay (resigned on 29 April 2016)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
DEEH

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Li Kin Ping (Chairman)
(appointed on 20 April 2017)
Mr. Ng Ka Ho (appointed on 22 April 2016)
Mr. Ng Kai Shing (appointed on 20 March 2017)
Mr. Kwong Lun Kei Victor (resigned on 20 April 2017)
Mr. Chan Ming Sun Jonathan (resigned on 3 March 2017)
Ms. Cheung Marn Kay (resigned on 29 April 2016)
Mr. Yang Si Kit Kenny (resigned on 22 April 2016)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Li Kin Ping (Chairman)
(appointed on 20 April 2017)
Mr. Ng Ka Ho (appointed on 29 April 2016)
Mr. Ng Kai Shing (appointed on 20 March 2017)
Mr. Kwong Lun Kei Victor (resigned on 20 April 2017)
Mr. Chan Ming Sun Jonathan (resigned on 3 March 2017)
Ms. Cheung Marn Kay (resigned on 29 April 2016)
Mr. Yang Si Hang (resigned on 29 April 2016)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Ng Ka Ho (appointed as an Authorised Representative on
22 April 2016)

Mr. Leung Tze Wai (appointed as Authorised Representative on
16 December 2016)

Mr. Yang Si Hang (resigned on 16 December 2016)

Mr. Yang Si Kit Kenny (resigned on 22 April 2016)

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS
Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited

PO Box 1093, Boundary Hall

Cricket Square

Grand Cayman, KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE IN HONG KONG
Boardroom Share Registrars (HK) Limited

31/F, 148 Electric Road

North Point

Hong Kong
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
DEEH

PRINCIPAL BANKER
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

COMPLIANCE ADVISER
TC Capital International Limited

AUDITORS
Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

LEGAL ADVISORS
Kwok Yih & Chan

COMPANY'’'S WEBSITE
Www.Ina.com.hk

STOCK CODE
8195
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MR

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+-HLFE
2017 2016

—E—+F —E—RF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FABT

Revenue =5 60,830 210,354
Gross (loss) profit (E18)EF (6,436) 20,376
Operating loss KRR (58,810) (26,107)
Loss for the year FANEE (297,016) (29,302)
Loss per share TR EE
— basic and diluted shares — EARREER D

(HK cents) (B (1.24) (0.15)

Proposed dividend per share BIRZ AR E -~ -

Percentage
Bk
%

71.1)
(131.6)
125.3
913.6

(92.0)
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETEHES

Dear Shareholders,

I am pleased to present to you the annual results of L & A
International Holdings Limited (the “"Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) for the financial year ended 31 March
2017.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group had experienced a tough year for the financial year ended
31 March 2017, the revenue of the Group decreased by
approximately 71.1% compared to the financial year ended 31 March
2016. The revenue of the OEM Business segment and the Retail
Business segment decreased by approximately 75.0% and
approximately 68.2%, respectively.

For the OEM Business, as our major customers are located in United
States of America and we noticed that its garment sector of the
consumer market is still tough, especially in high-valued clothing. It
was impacted our sales of pure cashmere products and directly
affected our revenue from the OEM Business segment.

For the Retail Business, due to the retail industry relies on tourism,
the continuous slowdown of inbound tourism has led to a weak
general atmosphere of the consumer market in Hong Kong. It has
directly impacted our retail sales.

For Money Lending Business, as disclosed in the Monthly Statistical
Bulletin published by the Hong Kong Monetary Authority in 10 May
2017, the total loans and advances of all authorised money lending
institutions in Hong Kong increased from approximately HK$2,586
billion in April 2007 to approximately HK$8,395 billion in March 2017,
the increase represents there is a strong and growing demand in
money lending industry in Hong Kong. In the view of extending the
scope of the Group's existing business, diversifying its business
scope and broaden the Group’s revenue basis to enhance its
profitability and achieve better return of shareholders. The Group
obtained the money lender license and commenced business in June
2016, it has generated interest income of approximately HK$6.4
million to the Group.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EEHRESE

Prospects
The business environment is unfavorable for the Group to expand its
existing businesses. The Board will continue to explore and evaluate
new businesses and investment opportunities which could be of
good potential and/or long term benefit to the Group and the
Shareholders.

The Group will take a cautious and conservative approach in the
evaluation and timing of potential projects or investments, including
constantly keep reviewing the Group's strategies and operations with
a view to improve its business performance and enhance value to
shareholders.

APPRECIATION

I would like to extend, on L & A International Holdings Limited'’s
behalf, my heartfelt gratitude to the shareholders of the Company,
members of the Board of Directors, management and staff of the
Group for their continuing support to our Company.

Ng Ka Ho
Chairman

Al =

EBRETIRAEEBEAEREER -EFT
REERR M AR ARTEN R RAEE
B MRS REEMNSOAEERIRERS -

AEBSHEEERIIRENF G REREET
EFERERERTEE  SRESERSARER
BE R E - AR EEEB R NREARREE -

)

Fik RARRRELTERZRERDARAR
AR EEEKE AEEEEEREI-H
ARHAR BB AZHREHE -

&
ES

A
4t

8 L & A International Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2017



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWE TN

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group principally derives its revenue from manufacturing and
selling pure cashmere apparel and other apparel products under its
two business arms: (i) OEM Business segment, which entails product
design and development, raw material sourcing and procurement,
manufacturing and product quality control management (the "OEM
Business”) and (ii) apparel retail business segment, which entails
designing, procuring, manufacturing, marketing and retailing of pure
cashmere apparel and other apparel products as well as accessories
through an established retail network in Hong Kong under the
Group’s proprietary trademarks, “Casimira” and “Les Ailes” (the
“Retail Business”).

For the OEM Business, over the year ended 31 March 2017, the
Company continued to suffer from a tough retail environment
globally and it has dampened consumer sentiment. Shopping trends
in the United States of America (“US") have begun to shift from major
branded apparels to large affordable fashion retailers, and spending
patterns have begun to shift towards a higher willingness to spend
on electronics products instead. As a result, major apparel brands in
the US are experiencing this pressure, resulting in a wave of cost
cutting, store closures and clearance sales of their products this
year. This trend is particularly evident for mid-market brands which
find it difficult to charge excessive premium for their products or
lower their costs sufficiently to compete with the larger fashion
retailers. Unfortunately, our products rely on the performance of
these mid-market retailers in the US and their poor performance has
negatively impacted us throughout the year. It is expected that there
would be reduced sales from them, as well as higher demand from
them for cost control and lower priced products. The slow down of
economic growth in China will also hinder global economic recovery
and adverse market environment shall persist. While we have
stepped up the efforts in controlling our expenses, such as
redundant of excessive headcount, we are also looking for innovative
ways to weather the downturn and at the same time look for
opportunities in any niche segments on which we could utilise our
know-how in cashmere garment manufacturing.

For the Retail Business, the decline of revenue is mainly attributable
to the weak consumer market prolonged by the sluggish economy,
low level of consumer sentiment and the rather unpleasant shopping
atmosphere in Hong Kong. These factors have caused the number of
Chinese tourists in Hong Kong to decline. The Group has commenced
the Money Lending Business in Hong Kong during the year. The
Group targets customers who look for substantial loan amounts and
can offer security for the relevant loans.

During the year, except for the commencement of Money Lending
Business, the Group had no material changes in its business nature
and principal activities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B ER W R DT

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group's revenue declined from approximately HK$210.4 million for
the year ended 31 March 2016 to approximately HK$60.8 million for the
year ended 31 March 2017, representing a decrease of approximately
71.1%. The revenue of OEM Business decreased by approximately
75.0% to approximately HK$46.1 million for the year ended 31 March
2017 as compared to the year ended 31 March 2016. On the other hand,
the revenue from the Retail Business decreased by approximately 68.2%
to approximately HK$8.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2017 as
compared to the year ended 31 March 2016.

For the OEM Business, sales orders for pure cashmere products
dropped by approximately 64.3% from 255,000 units to 91,000 units for
each of the year ended 31 March 2016 and 2017 respectively. The
decrease in revenue was mainly due to a tough retail environment in
US, which is the Group's key market, sales orders dropped significantly
when compared with last year. As a result, total sales to the Group’s top
5 customers dropped by approximately HK$138.6 million as compared
to the year ended 31 March 2016. For the Retail Business, the Group
sold approximately 136,000 units and 42,000 units from its Retail
Business for each of the year ended 31 March 2016 and 2017
respectively. The decrease in revenue was mainly due to weak
consumer market prolonged by the sluggish economy which caused
the number of Chinese tourists in Hong Kong to decline, and warmer
weather in winter as compared with last year.

For the Money Lending Business, the Group obtained the money lender
license and commenced business in June 2016, it has generated interest
income of approximately HK$6.4 million to the Group.
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Year ended 31 March
BZ=A=1+—HILEE
2017

2016

—ZE—+tF
HK$'000
FET

HK$’000
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OEM Business R BLEZETS 46,126 184,161 87.5
Retail Business TEEK 8,318 26,193 125
Money Lending Business MBS 6,386 : - 0.0

60,830 210,354 100.0
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWE TN

Cost of Sales and Gross Profit

The majority of the Group’s cost of sales was raw material costs. The
Group’s cost of sales dropped by 64.6% to approximately HK$67.3
million for the year ended 31 March 2017 as compared to the year
ended 31 March 2016. The gross profit margin decreased from
approximately 9.7% for the year ended 31 March 2016 to
approximately -10.6% for the year ended 31 March 2017. The gross
profit decreased by approximately 131.6% to approximately HK$6.4
million loss for the year ended 31 March 2017 as compared to the
year ended 31 March 2016.

Such decrease in gross profit was mainly attributable to, among
other things, rising in labour cost, reduce in selling price and quantity
and the continuing tough retail environment in the United States of
America, which resulted in significant drop of sales order and
increase in overhead cost.

Expenses

Selling and administrative expenses for the year ended 31 March
2017 were approximately HK$100.5 million (year ended 31 March
2016: approximately HK$56.4 million), representing an increase of
approximately HK$44.1 million.

The increase is due to approximately HK$37.0 million share option
expenses and approximately HK$12.1 million professional expenses
incurred in relation to legal proceedings and two voluntary
conditional offer by Favourite Number Limited and QPL International
Holdings Limited, which were subsequently withdrawn and lapsed
respectively.

Loss for the year

The loss for the year ended 31 March 2017 was approximately
HK$297.0 million. The loss for the year ended 31 March 2016 was
approximately HK$29.3 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWE TN

PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES

Operational Risk

The Group is exposed to the operational risk in relation to each
business division of the Group. To manage the operational risk, the
management of each business division is responsible for monitoring
the operation and assessing the operational risk of their respective
business divisions. They are responsible for implementing the
Group's risk management policies and procedures and shall report
any irregularities in connection with the operation of the projects to
the Directors and seek directions. The Group emphasizes on ethical
value and prevention of fraud and bribery and has established a
whistleblower program, including communication with other
departments and business divisions and units, to report any
irregularities. In this regard, the Directors consider that the Group’s
operational risk is effectively mitigated.

Financial Risks
The Group is exposed to the credit risk and liquidity risk. They are
shown in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE SUBDIVISION

On 6 June 2016, the Board proposed to subdivide every one (1)
issued and unissued ordinary share of HK$0.01 each in the share
capital of the Company into five (5) subdivided shares of HK$0.002
each, such that the authorised share capital of the Company us
HK$100,000,000 divided into 50,000,000,000 shares with a par value
of HK$0.002 each. The above share subdivision was approved by the
Company's shareholders for the share subdivision at the
extraordinary general meeting on 22 June 2016 and became effective
on 23 June 2016.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWE TN

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

As at 31 March 2017, the share capital and equity attributable to
owners of the Company amounted to approximately HK$51,200,000
and HK$356,159,000 respectively (31 March 2016 HK$40,000,000
and HK$53,762,000 respectively). Details of the capital risk
management are set out in the Note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had approximately HK$3.7 million in
bank balances and cash (31 March 2016: HK$16.9 million).

As at 31 March 2017, the Group’s total borrowings were HK$5.8
million (31 March 2016: HK$29.0 million). The current ratio was 6.40
at 31 March 2017 (31 March 2016: 2.24) and the gearing ratio was
approximately 1.4% at 31 March 2017 (31 March 2016: approximately
30.9%).

Note: Current ratio is calculated as the current assets divided by current
liabilities.

Gearing ratio is calculated as the total debt (borrowings) divided by
total equity.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group did not have any significant capital commitments as at 31
March 2017 and 2016.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWE TN

CHARGE OVER ASSETS OF THE GROUP

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had pledged bank deposits was nil
(31 March 2016: pledged bank deposits of approximately HK$14.4
million). These deposits were pledged to banks to secure bank
facilities granted to the Group. All the bank borrowings were fully
repaid during the year.

MATERIAL INVESTMENTS, ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS, AND PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENT OR CAPITAL ASSETS

On 28 April 2016, the Group entered into a sales and purchase
agreement with New Star International Development Limited, SOPD,
Incsight Limited, Zhu Jun, Lai Kwok Ho, Li Jia, Chi Weina and Ji Wei
(“Vendors”) and The9 Limited (“Guarantor”) pursuant to which the
Group conditionally agreed to purchase 47.63% of equity interests in
Red 5 Studios, Inc. (“Target Company”), a limited liability company
incorporated in Delaware, the United States of America for a total
consideration of US$76,500,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$596,700,000). The Target Company and its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in the development of innovative entertainment
software and online games in the United States of America, Europe,
the PRC and Southeast Asia.

The transaction was completed on 20 June 2016. 226,022,723 shares
at issue price of HK$2.64 per share were allotted and issued to
Vvendors in proportion to numbers of shares sold by the Vendors.
Details are set out in the announcements of the Company dated on
28 April 2016 and 20 June 2016.

Save for above, there were no significant investments held as at 31
March 2017, nor other material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries and associated companies during the year ended 31
March 2017. There is no future plan for material investments or
capital assets as at 31 March 2017.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2017, the Group had no material contingent liabilities
(2016: nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWE TN

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group settles the cost of production in Renminbi (“RMB”) and
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") and most of the sales of the Group are
settled in United States dollars (“US$”) and others are denominated
in HK$. Therefore, the Group is exposed to foreign exchange risks of
both US$ and RMB. The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency transactions,
assets and liabilities.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2017, the Group employed approximately of 23
employees. The Group's staff cost for the year ended 31 March 2017
amounted to approximately HK$30.9 million. The Group's
remuneration policies are in line with the prevailing market practice
and are determined on the basis of performance, qualification and
experience of individual employee. The Group recognises the
importance of a good relationship with its employees. The
remuneration payable to its employees includes salaries and
allowance.

In Hong Kong, the Group’s employees have participated in the
mandatory provident fund prescribed by the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong). In
the PRC, the Group’s employees have participated in various security
insurance including social insurance prescribed by the Social
Insurance Law of PRC ({#ZE A RFAFE & {RK2%)), and housing
provident fund prescribed by the Regulations on Management of
Housing Provident Fund (({EFE A& EEIEH1)).

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS
Particulars of retirement benefits plans of the Group as at 31 March
2017 are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

In Hong Kong, the Group participates in the mandatory provident
fund prescribed by the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance
(Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

Pursuant to the applicable PRC laws and regulations, the Group
participates in contributing to various security insurance including
social insurance and housing provident fund.

No forfeited contributions are available to reduce the contribution
payable by the Group in future years.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWE TN

LEGAL PROCEEDING

Registration of Shares of the Company (the
"Registration”)

Reference is made to the Company’s announcements dated 9
August 2016 and 28 October 2016 respectively in relation to the
originating summons dated 27 July 2016 (the “Originating Summons
of the Registration”) filed by (i) Sun Jiyou, (i) Chen Haiyan; (iii) Liu Jing;
(iv) Ling Chuanshun; (v) Zhang Bing; and (vi) Xiao Laiwen as the
plaintiffs (collectivity, the “Plaintiffs of the Registration”) against the
Company and Yang's Holding Capital Limited (“Yang's Holding") as
the defendants in the High Court of Hong Kong (the “Court”) (the
“Legal Proceedings of the Registration”) and a summons dated 28
July 2016 (the “Summons of the Registration”) filed by the Plaintiffs of
the Registration for the Legal Proceedings of the Registration.

In the Originating Summons of the Registration, the Plaintiffs of the
Registration sought, inter alia, (i) orders from the Court that the
Company shall register in aggregate of 1,545,000,000 shares of the
Company (the “Relevant Shares”) which were allegedly transferred
from Yang's Holdings to the Plaintiffs of the Registration; (ii)
declaration from the Court that the Plaintiffs of the Registration are
the beneficial owners of the Relevant Shares in their respective
proportion; and (iii) an injunction, inter alia, that pending registration
of the Plaintiffs of the Registration as the registered shareholders of
the Company, Yang's Holdings shall exercise all rights attached to
the Relevant Shares (including but not limited to voting rights at
general meetings of the Company) according to the instructions of
the Plaintiffs of the Registration and, that the Company shall exercise
and/or count the votes of the Plaintiffs of the Registration in the
general meetings.

In the Summons of the Registration, the Plaintiffs of the Registration
applied for, inter alia, (i) an order that Yang's Holdings be compelled
to exercise its voting rights in any general meetings of the Company
in accordance with the instructions of the Plaintiffs of the
Registration; (ii) an order that the Company shall register the transfer
of the Relevant Shares (the “Registration Order Sought”); and (iii) an
injunction against the Company that the Company be restrained
from holding any general meeting of the shareholders (including but
not limited to the annual general meeting) until such date after the
completion of the registration of the Relevant Shares (the “Injunction
Sought”).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWE TN

The Summons of the Registration was heard on 5 August 2016, the
Court ordered, inter alia, that (i) Yang's Holdings shall exercise its
voting rights in respect of the Relevant Shares in any general
meetings of the Company in accordance with the instructions of the
Plaintiffs of the Registration (the “Voting Order”) and the other orders
sought by the Plaintiffs of the Registration in the Summons of the
Registration be adjourned for argument.

On 23 August 2016, Flying Mortgage Limited (the “Flying Mortgage”),
who claims to have interests in the Relevant Shares, issued a
summons (“Flying Mortgage Summons”), inter alia, for leave to (i)
intervene in the Legal Proceedings of the Registration; (ii) be joined
as the third defendant in the Legal Proceedings of the Registration;
and (iii) vary the Voting Order to the effect that Yang's Holding shall
not exercise its voting rights in respect of the Relevant Shares in any
general meeting of the Company.

The Court gave a written decision on 26 October 2016 and ruled
upon the Company's undertaking not to register the transfer of the
Relevant Shares in it until further order of the Court, inter alia, that (i)
the application by the Plaintiffs of the Registration for the Registration
Order Sought and the Injunction Sought in the Summons of the
Registration be dismissed; (i) the Voting Order be varied to the effect
that Yang's Holdings shall not exercise its voting rights in respect of
the Relevant Shares in any general meeting of the Company until
further order; (iii) Flying Mortgage was allowed to intervene and be
jointed as the third defendant in the Legal Proceedings of the
Registration; and (iv) the Company shall not register the Relevant
Shares until further order of the Court.

The Directors of the Company will follow the Court Order in relation
to the Registration of the Shares. As a result, no contingent liability is
expected up to the issue of the annual report.

Share Options of the Company (the “Share
Options”)

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated 2
September 2016 in relation to, inter alia, (i) a draft originating
summons to be filed by Ge Qingfu, Li Quan and Liu Longcheng as the
plaintiffs (collectivity, the “Plaintiffs of the Share Options”) against the
Company and all the directors of the Company (the “Directors”) and
Mr. Yang Si Hang (“Mr. Yang") as the defendants in the Court; and (ii)
a draft injunction order received by the Company’s legal adviser on
26 August 2016.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEREWE D

The Company'’s legal adviser received on 30 August 2016 a hearing
bundle containing, inter alia, an originating summons (the
“Originating Summons of the Share Options”) issued by the Plaintiffs
of the Share Options on 26 August 2016 and claimed against the
Company, the Directors, Mr. Yang, eight grantees of share options
referred to in the Company’s announcement dated 22 August 2016
(the “Share Option Announcement”), and two broker firms as the
defendants in the Court under action number HCMP 2222 of 2016
(the “Legal Proceedings of the Share Options”) and a draft injunction
order for the Legal Proceedings of the Share Options.

In the Originating Summons of the Share Options, the Plaintiffs of the
Share Options sought reliefs, inter alia, (i) a declaration that the
granting of the 2,000,000,000 share options referred to in the Share
Option Announcement (“Purported Options”) is void and of no legal
effect or, alternatively, voidable; (i) a declaration that any allotment
of shares made pursuant to the exercise of any of the Purported
Options is void and no legal effect or, alternatively, voidable; (iii) the
Company, the Directors and Mr. Yang (whether acting by themselves,
their officers, servants, agents or otherwise howsoever) be
restrained from: (1) recognising or giving effect or otherwise taking
any step to implement the purported exercise of any of the
Purported Options; (2) recognising or giving effect or otherwise
taking any step to implement the exercise of any disposition, rights
(including voting rights) or power attached to the 1,800,000,000
shares of the Company derived from the exercise of the Purported
Options; (3) taking, or procuring the taking, of any steps to alter the
issued share capital of the Company save and except for those
which are for proper purposes and in the best interests of the
Company; (4) taking , or procuring the taking, of any step to frustrate
or defeat the requisition contained in the notice of requisition dated
23 August 2016 issued by the Plaintiffs (the “Plaintiffs Requisition”)
for the purpose of convening an extraordinary general meeting of
the Company to be held; or alternatively, an order requiring the
Company to convene the extraordinary general meeting set out in
the Plaintiffs Requisition within 21 days from the date of deposit of
the requisition in accordance with Article 12.3 of the Articles of
Association of the Company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWE TN

In the draft injunction order, the Plaintiffs sought the following reliefs
against the Company, the Directors and Mr. Yang (the “Ex Parte
Injunction Application”) that until determination of the Legal
Proceedings or further order of the Court, the Company, the
Directors and Mr. Yang (whether acting by themselves, their officers,
servants, agents or otherwise howsoever) be restrained from: (i)
recognising or giving effect or to otherwise taking any step to
implement the purported exercise of any of Purported Options; (ii)
recognising or giving effect or otherwise taking any step to
implement the exercise of any disposition, rights (including voting
rights) or power attached to the 1,800,000,000 shares of the
Company derived from the exercise of the Purported Options; (iii)
taking or procuring the taking, of any steps to alter the issued share
capital of the Company save for those which are for proper purposes
and in the best interests of the Company; (iv) taking or procuring the
taking, of any steps to frustrate or defeat the Plaintiffs’ Requisition
for the purpose of convening an Extraordinary General Meeting of
the Company to be held and alternately an Order requiring the
Company to convene the Extraordinary General Meeting set out in
the Plaintiffs’ Requisition within 21 days from the date of deposit of
the requisition in accordance with Article 12.3 of the Articles of
Association of the Company.

The hearing of the Ex Parte Injunction Application was heard on 31
August 2016. In the said hearing, the Company and the Directors
undertook to the Court, inter alia, not to give effect to the exercise of
any of the outstanding 200,000,000 share options and not to alter the
issued share capital of the Company without the leave of the Court.
Upon the said undertakings, the Court ordered, inter alia, that the
Plaintiffs shall issue an inter parte summons by 2 September 2016
identifying the injunctive reliefs sought against the Company and the
Directors and that the hearing of the Summons will be fixed with 2
days reserved. No injunction order or disclosure order was made
against the Company and Directors.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEREWE D

On 2 September 2016, the Plaintiffs filed an Inter Parte Summons
(“the Inter Parte Summons”) seeking the following reliefs against,
inter alia, the Company, the Directors and Mr. Yang that until further
order of the Court, the Company, the Directors and Mr. Yang
(whether acting by themselves, their officers, servants, agents or
otherwise howsoever) be restrained from: (i) recognising or giving
effect or to otherwise taking any step to implement the Purported
Options in relation to the exercise of any of the 200,000,000 share
options out of the Purported Options, which was described by the
Company as having been accepted by the grantee(s) and for which
no share has been issued and the excise of any of the 200,000,000
share options out of the Purported Options which the Company
described as not having been accepted by the grantee(s) and have
lapsed; (ii) recognising or giving effect or otherwise taking into
account the 1,600,000,000 shares in the Company (“the Impugned
Shares”) issued to and registered in the names of the grantees on 23
August 2016 pursuant to the Purported Options for the following
purposes: (a) determining the Plaintiffs’ shareholding in the Company
as at 23 August 2016, the date of the Plaintiffs’ Requisition; (b)
challenging or otherwise disputing the Plaintiffs’ right to convene an
extraordinary general meeting of the Company for the purpose of
considering the proposed resolutions contained in the Plaintiffs’
Requisition in the event that the Board does not within 21 days of the
deposit of the Plaintiff's Requisition proceed to convene an
extraordinary general meeting; (c) challenging or otherwise disputing
the validity of the “pre-conditional voluntary conditional securities
exchange and cash offer” contained in the Joint Announcement
made by Favourite Number Limited and WLS Holdings Limited on 18
August 2016; (iii) taking or procuring the taking, of any steps to alter
the issued share capital of the Company except with the approval of
the Court; (iv) taking or procuring the taking, of any steps to frustrate
or defeat the Plaintiffs’ Requisition and, alternatively, the Company,
the Directors and Mr. Yang do convene an Extraordinary General
Meeting of the Company to be held for the purpose of considering,
inter alia, the proposed resolutions contained in the Plaintiffs’
Requisition within the next 3 days of the order to be made by the
Court, or alternatively, the Directors and Mr. Yang do within the next
14 days acquire 1,600,000,000 shares in the Company and return
them to the Company for cancellation, whereupon the Company
shall within the next 7 days cancel those shares and pay the amount
received by the Company from the issue of 1,600,000,000 shares in
the Company pursuant to the Purported Options to the Directors and
Mr. Yang.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWE TN

The Inter Parte Summons was heard on 1 and 2 November 2016.
Upon the Company and the Directors’ undertaking to (i) restrain from
recognising, giving effect or otherwise taking any step to implement
the Purported Options in relation to the exercise of any of the
200,000,000 share options out of Purported Options, which was
described by the Company as having been accepted by the
grantee(s) and for which no share has been issued and the exercise
of any of the 200,000,000 share options out of the Purported Options,
which the Company described as not having been accepted by the
grantee(s) and have lapsed; and (ii) restrain from taking or procuring
the taking, of any steps to alter the issued share capital of the
Company unless and until the Company has given the Plaintiffs 5
working days prior written notice of their intention to do so, the
Court has, inter alia, ordered on 2 November 2016 that there be a
speedy trial of this proceedings on dates to be fixed.

No other injunction order was made against the Company, the
directors of the Company and Mr. Yang. The Company is seeking
legal advice in respect of the Legal Proceedings of the Share Options.

The Legal Proceedings of the Share Options was fixed to be tried on
12 July 2017 at 10 a.m. with 8 days reserved (ie 12 to 21 July 2017).

Kim Sungho’s First Legal Proceeding

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated on 28
November 2016. The Company has on 26 November 2016 received a
writ of summons (“Mr. Kim's First Writ”) filed by Mr. Kim Sungho (“Mr.
Kim”) as the plaintiff against the Company and the Directors as the
defendants under a legal proceeding in the Court (“Mr. Kim's First
Legal Proceeding”).

Pursuant to claims generally indorsed on Mr. Kim's First Writ, Mr. Kim
claimed, inter alia, for a declaration that the Directors and the
Company have committed offences under section 351 of Part XV of
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO") which requires directors,
chief executives and substantial shareholders to disclose their
interest in the shares and debentures of the Company.
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Lim Hang Young's First Legal Proceeding

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated on 28
November 2016. The Company has on 26 November 2016 received a
writ of summons (“Mr. Lim's First Writ") filed by Mr. Lim Hang Young
(“Mr. Lim") as the plaintiff against the Directors and the Company as
the defendants under a legal proceeding in the Court (“Mr. Lim's First
Legal Proceeding”).

Pursuant to claims generally indorsed on Mr. Lim's First writ, Mr. Lim
claimed, among other things, for (i) a declaration that the Directors
and the Company have committed offences under section 351 of
Part XV of SFO and for violation of disclosure of interests rules; and
(i) an order for the Company to exert its power under section 329 of
SFO to investigate the holders of interests in its shares and
debentures.

Joung Jong Hyun'’s First Legal Proceeding

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated on 28
November 2016, the Company has on 26 November 2016 received a
writ of summons (“Mr. Joung’s First Writ") filed by Joung Jong Hyun
("Mr. Joung") as the plaintiff against the Directors and the Company
as the defendants under a legal proceeding in the Court (“Mr. Joung’s
First Legal Proceeding”).

Based on the claims generally indorsed on Mr. Joung's First Writ, Mr.
Joung requested, among other things, for a declaration that the
Directors and the Company have committed offences under section
25(1) of the Organized and Serious Crime Ordinance.

Kim Sungho’s Second Legal Proceedings

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated on 6
December 2016. The Company has on 5 December 2016 received a
writ of summons (“Mr. Kim's Second Writ") filed on 1 December 2016
by Mr. Kim as the plaintiff against the Directors, the Company and
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, an auditor of the Company (“Deloitte”) as
the defendants under a legal proceeding in the Court (“Mr. Kim's
Second Legal Proceeding”).
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Pursuant to claims generally indorsed on Mr. Kim's Second Writ, Mr.
Kim claimed against the Directors for (i) a declaration that the
Directors conspired and directed various accounting irregularities
practices by the Company and its subsidiaries; (i) an order to pay
compensation to the Company for damages. Mr. Kim further claimed
against Deloitte for (i) a declaration that Mr. Kwong conducted the
negligent accounting review for the Company; and (ii) an order to pay
compensation to the Company for damages. The Company is
enjoined in the Kim’s Second Legal Proceeding to execute any orders
by the Court.

Kim Sungho’s Third Legal Proceeding

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated on 6
December 2016. The Company has on 5 December 2016 received
another writ of summons (“Mr. Kim’s Third Writ") filed on 2 December
2016 by Mr. Kim as the plaintiff against (i) Yang's Holdings Capital
Limited, a substantial shareholder of the Company (“Yang's
Holdings"); and (ii) the Company as the defendants under another
legal proceeding in the Court (“Mr. Kim's Third Legal Proceeding”).

Pursuant to claims generally indorsed on Mr. Kim’s Third Writ, Mr.
Kim claimed for (i) a declaration that Yang's Holdings beneficially
holds and/or controls more than 30% of the outstanding shares in
the Company and is subject to the mandatory general offer
obligation; and (ii) an order that Yang's Holdings launches obligatory
mandatory general offer.

Joung Jong Hyun'’s Second Legal Proceeding
Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated on 6
December 2016. The Company has on 5 December 2016 further
received a writ of summons (“Mr. Joung's Second Writ”) filed on 3
December 2016 by Mr. Joung as the plaintiff against the Directors,
the Company; and Yang's Holdings as the defendants under a legal
proceeding in the Court (“Mr. Joung's Second Legal Proceeding”).

Based on claims generally indorsed on Mr. Joung's Second Writ, Mr.
Joung claimed, among other things, for (i) a declaration that the
Directors, the Company and Yang's Holdings have conspired for
stock price manipulation, using the multi-layer marketing methods,
and caused enormous loss to independent shareholders of the
Company; and (i) an order that the Directors, the Company and
Yang's Holdings to pay HK$500,000,000 to the independent
shareholders of the Company.
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Lee Moonkyu's First Legal Proceeding

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated on 12
December 2016. The Company has on 8 December 2016 received a
writ of summons (the “Lee’s Writ") dated 5 December 2016 filed by
Mr. Lee Moonkyu as the plaintiff against the Directors, the Company
and Mr. Yang Sit Hang as the defendants under a legal proceeding in
the Court (“Mr. Lee's First Legal Proceeding”).

Pursuant to claims generally indorsed on the Lee's Writ, Mr. Lee
claimed, inter alia, for (i) a declaration that the Directors, the
Company and Mr. Yang Sit Hang have committed offences under
Section 25(1) of the Organized and Serious Crime Ordinance; and (ii)
a declaration that the Directors, the Company and Mr. Yang Sit Hang
have conspired for stock price manipulation, using the multi-layer
marketing methods, and caused enormous loss to independent
shareholders of the Company.

Lim Hang Young's Second Legal Proceeding
Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated on 12
December 2016. The Company has on 12 December 2016 received a
writ of summons (the “Lim’s Second Writ") dated 6 December 2016
filed by Mr. Lim as the plaintiff against the Directors, the Company,
Mr. Yang Wan Ho (a substantial shareholder of the Company) and
Mr. Ge Qingfu (a substantial shareholder of the Company) as the
defendants under a legal proceeding in the Court (“Mr. Lim's Second
Legal Proceeding”).

Pursuant to claims generally indorsed on the Lim’s Second Writ, Mr.
Lim claimed, inter alia, for (i) a declaration that the Directors, the
Company, Mr. Yang Wan Ho and Mr. Ge Qingfu have committed
offences under Part XV of Securities and Future Ordinance (Section
351) and for false disclosure of interest; and (ii) a declaration that the
Directors, the Company, Mr. Yang Wan Ho and Mr. Ge Qingfu have
engaged in the multi-layer marketing scheme to improperly boost
the stock price of the Company to 85 times the current level (in the
past 52 weeks), to market capitalization of over $20 billion, only drop
back to the current level.
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Lim Hang Young's Third Legal Proceeding

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated on 23
December 2016. The Company has on 23 December 2016 received a
writ of summons (the “Lim’s Third Writ") dated 16 December 2016
filed by Mr. Lim as the plaintiff against (i) the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”); (ii) Yu Ming Investment
Management Limited (“Yu Ming"); and (iii) the Company as the
defendants under a legal proceeding in the Court (“Mr. Lim’'s Third
Legal Proceeding”).

Pursuant to the claims generally indorsed on the Lim’s Third Writ, Mr.
Lim sought, inter alia, for (i) a declaration against Stock Exchange
that the Stock Exchange has acted in bad faith in the vetting of the
share subscription during the general offer period; (i) an order
against the Stock Exchange to rescind all listing approvals; (iii) a
declaration against Yu Ming that Yu Ming purposefully ill advised the
Company to break various Listing Rules, including assisting the
Company in its multi-layer marketing scheme; and (iv) an order
against the Company to apply for self-delisting.

Kim Sungho’s Fourth Legal Proceeding

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated on 28
December 2016. The Company has on 28 December 2016 received a
writ of summons (the “Kim’s Fourth Writ") dated 20 December 2016
filed by Mr. Kim as the plaintiff against (i) Gram Capital Limited, an
independent financial adviser to the independent board committee
of the Company (“Gram Capital”); (ii) Mr. Wong Chiu Po, a non-
executive director of the Company; (iii) Mr. Mai Chi Ming; (iv) Mr.
Chan Ming Sun Jonathan, an independent non-executive director of
the Company; and (v) the Company as the defendants (collectively,
the “Defendants”) under a legal proceeding in the Court (“Mr. Kim's
Forth Legal Proceeding”).

Pursuant to the claims generally indorsed on the Kim's Fourth Writ,
Mr. Kim sought inter alia, for (i) a declaration against the Defendants
that the Defendants have conspired to assist the owners of the
Company to commit offences under Section 25(1) of the Organized
and Serious Crime Ordinance, i.e. they knew, or had reasonable
grounds to believe, that on multifarious and respective occasions,
and through complex “layering” vehicles mostly related to the
Company, were dealing with the proceeds of an indictable offence;
and (ii) an order against Gram Capital that Gram Capital to
immediately resign as independent financial adviser to the Company.
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Kim Sungho’s Fifth Legal Proceeding

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated on 6
January 2017, the Company has on 6 January 2017 received a writ of
summons (the “Kim’s Fifth Writ") dated and filed on 3 January 2017
by Mr. Kim as the plaintiff against (i) Strong Light Investments Limited,
a substantial shareholder of the Company (“Strong Light"); (ii) FP
Sino-Rich Securities & Futures Limited (“FP"); (iii) Yu Ming Investment
Management Limited (“Yu Ming"); and (iv) the Company as the
defendants under a legal proceeding in the Court (“Mr. Kim's Fifth
Legal Proceeding”).

Pursuant to the claim generally indorsed on the Kim's Fifth Writ, the
Plaintiff sought, inter alia, for (i) a declaration against Strong Light
that Strong Light and its parties acting in concert has accumulated
over 30% of the outstanding shares in the Company, thus triggering
the mandatory general offer; and (i) a declaration against FP and Yu
Ming that FP purposefully ill advised the Company to break various
Listing Rules, including assisting the Company in its multi-layer
marketing scheme; (iii) an Order against all defendants for costs and
reliefs for damages.

Joung Jon Hyun'’s Third Legal Proceeding

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated on 3
February 2017. The Company has on 3 February 2017 received a writ
of summons (the “Joung’s Third Writ") dated 1 February 2017 filed by
Mr. Joung as the plaintiff against the Directors, the Company and
Hastings & Co. (“Hastings”) as the defendants under a legal
proceeding in the court (“Mr. Joung's Thirs Legal Proceeding”).

Pursuant to the claims generally indorsed on Mr. Joung's Third Writ,
Mr. Joung sought, inter alia, for (i) a declaration that the Defendants
have engaged in and solicited for illicit "kick-back” arrangement on
solicitor fees; and (ii) and order that the Company and Hastings
engage in thorough investigations of related personnel on alleged
corruptive behaviour.

The Company will contest Mr. Kim's First Legal Proceeding, Mr. Lim’'s
First Legal Proceeding, Mr. Joung First Legal Proceeding, Mr. Kim's
Second Legal Proceeding, Mr. Kim’s Third Legal Proceedings, Mr.
Joung's Second Legal Proceeding, Mr. Lee's First Legal Proceeding,
Mr. Lim's Second Legal Proceeding, Mr. Lim's Third Legal Proceeding,
Mr. Kim's Fourth Legal Proceeding, Mr. Kim's Fifth Legal Proceeding
and Mr. Joung's Third Legal Proceeding, and is seeking legal advice
in respect of the said legal proceedings.
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Chi Dong Eun’s Winding Up Petition

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated on 6
January 2017. The Company has on é January 2017 received a
petition (the “Petition”) dated 3 January 2017 filed by Chi Dong Eun
(the “Petitioner”) against (i) the Company, (iijthe Directors and (iii) Mr.
Yang, the then director of the Company as the respondents
(collectively, the “Respondents”).

The Petitioner alleged, inter alia, that (i) the Respondents have
deliberately evaded the mandatory general offer obligation of the
Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-Back; (i) Mr. Yang
has engaged in massive illegal share pledge borrowing activities,
without making proper and required disclosures, (i) from the initial
public offering of the Company, the accounting results of the
Company have been falsified, unfairly prejudicial to independent
shareholders to be misled; (iv) the Company has physically prevented
several independent shareholders from participating in the voting in
some extraordinary general meetings of the Company; and (v) the
Directors and Mr. Yang have committed offences under section 25(1)
of the Organized and Serious Crime Ordinance, which in the
circumstances renders it just, equitable and desirable to wind up the
Company. The hearing of Petition was scheduled to be heard on 5
April 2017.

The Court on 23 May 2017 ordered that the Petition be dismissed
with costs.

VOLUNTARY CONDITIONAL SHARE OFFER
Voluntary Conditional Share Exchange Offer (the
"Offers”)

On 7 October 2016, QPL International Holdings Limited (“QPL" or the
"Offeror”) proposed to the Board that it would make the Offers to (i)
acquire all of the issued shares in the share capital of the Company
(other than those already owned by the Offeror and parties acting in
concert with it) (the “Share Offer”); and (ii) cancel all of the
outstanding Options (the “Option Offer”, together with the Share
Offer, the “Offers”).
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Details of the Offers have been disclosed in (i) the announcement of
the Offeror dated 14 October 2016 in relation to, inter alia, the Offers;
(i) the announcement of the Offeror dated 4 November 2016 in
relation to, among other things, the delay in dispatch of the offer
document in respect of the Offers; (iii) the offer document issued by
the Company date 16 December 2016 in relation to, inter alia, the
Offers (the "Offer Document”); (iv) the announcement of the
Company dated 16 December 2016 in relation to the despatch of the
Offer Document; (v) the response documented dated 30 December
2016 in respect of the Offers issued by the Company; (vi) the
announcement of the Company dated 11 January 2017, (vii) the
announcements of the Company dated 13 January 2017, 3 February
2017, 14 February 2017 and 17 February 2017 in relation to, among
other things, the extension of the Closing Date and the Offer Period
(the "Extension Announcements”).

On 2 March 2017, being the third extended closing date of the Offers,
QPL had (i) received valid acceptances in respect of a total of
4,614,524,079 Shares (taking into account the acceptance in respect
of the Shares on the first closing date, the extended closing date and
the further extended closing date) (the “Acceptances Shares”) under
the Share Offer, which represented approximately 18.025% of the
total issued share capital and voting rights of the Company as at the
date of the announcement of the Offeror dated 2 March 2017; and (i)
not received any acceptance in respect of the Option Offer.

Taking into account the Acceptance Shares and the 13,800,000
Shares already owned by QPL and parties acting in concert with it,
QPL and parties acting in concert with it are interested in an
aggregate of 4,628,324,879 Shares, representing approximately
18.079% of the total issued share capital and voting rights of the
Company as at 2 March 2017.

As set out in the Offer Document, the Share Offer is conditional
upon, among other things, valid acceptances of the Share Offer
having been received at or before 4:00 p.m. on the Closing Date in
respect of the Shares which will result in QPL and parties acting in
concert with it holding more than 50% of the Shares. The Option
Offer is conditional only upon the Share Offer becoming
unconditional in all respects. In light of the level of acceptance of the
Offers are set out above, such Condition to the Share Offer has not
been satisfied and therefore the Offers have not become
unconditional and lapsed on 2 March 2017.
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COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES WITH FEARHERERERNLER

ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS

The following is a comparison of the Group's business plan as set LT ABRERMSASENER TS REE

out in the Prospectus with actual business progress for the year

ended 31 March 2017.

Business plan as set out in the Prospectus

E—tF-A=+-"BULEFENEREBLERD
LS o

Progress up to 31 March 2017

BRERABNEETE

Expansion of the Group’s OEM Business

BERASENRREREER
Purchase of cashmere yarns
BEFOYE

Marketing and promotion activities
TSR R iHEE

Purchase of new production machineries
BB EE#R

Improving water quality systems
MEKE R

Expansion of the Retail Business

BERZSEEY

Establish new Concession Stores or
Free-Standing Stores

RN EEEREERE

Brand promotional and marketing activities
MEEBERTISHEEEED

Upgrading ERP system
AREEERREZRR

BE-Z—+tFE=-A=1+—HWER

The fund has been used to purchase cashmere yarns for production.
B ARBERREENTAHYRE o

The Group met OEM customers regularly for exchange of new ideas in
respect of fashion market trend and introducing the Group’s
craftsmanship in knitting.

FEBTEHRFPREBEERR  IREMSHARETE LN
REBMBETE -

The funds have been used to maintain the productivity of the existing
machineries.
EeCAREREARSENEEN -

Some funds have been used to improve the water quality systems.
ETELCRANMEKE RS

The Group has set up 1 Concession Stores during the year. The Group
is reviewing the needs and timeframe for establishing new retail
outlets.

AEERFARZ—RAZEE - AEEERTRSTZEERNTE
RERE

The Group has placed various advertisements on magazines during the
period. The Group is planning to escalate its marketing efforts by
continuing existing advertising activities on a more extensive scale.

AEERBATHETEZEARES REEFEENETISHEE N
B BARAESEFEEHNMRR

Due to the change in use of proceeds as disclosed in the
announcements of the Company dated 25 June 2015 and 16 July
2015, there is no further progress in respect of upgrading ERP
system.

HRFEHERREE (BUAARBHA-—E—AFAA=-1+HHA
RZE-—RFLA+ABRRHAER)  BEARCEERRE
/%/)L$EEEE1 JE e
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Reference is also made to the announcements of the Company
dated 25 June 2015 and 16 July 2015 relating to the change in use of
proceeds. The plan to purchase of new production machineries and
upgrade its ERP System as scheduled and disclosed in the
Prospectus was changed (see the information under the heading of
“USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE PLACING OF SHARES" of this
report).

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE PLACING OF
SHARES

The net proceeds from the listing of the shares of the Company by
way of placing on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (“Placing”) were
approximately HK$41.5 million, which was based on the final placing
price of HK$0.6 per share after deducting the underwriting
commission and actual expenses related to the Placing. Accordingly,
the Group adjusted the use of proceeds in the same manner and
proportion as shown in the Prospectus.

As disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 24 June 2015
and 16 July 2015, the Board has utilised approximately HK$15.0
million of the net proceeds from the Placing as deposit to trade
facilities account in order to lower the interest expense of the Group.

ZRBARDHPHRAZE-—AF A THEAR
—E-RAFEATANBERREBEEMSHAR
BEVRM o ARRIEE R IZBREIZAHE R IK
BRENLERB[LEARCRERAE RGN
FE(F2HARS BERDASRENAR]
EEHR) ©

BEEROAERENARE

AR BIPAD ABLE 75 AR S P 8 AR £ ([FE
EDNOFREFIRFHEOSMNSBEET - DEE
REEESRBITENKRRIEMAE REER
MERFAXRITERSL - At ARBIZAKE
TP AR R T = R L R B PR 1S SR IR A 3k

BOARNRAPAE-—T—AFA-FTTOER=
Z-—RFEATANEBNAHAERE  EE9BE
EMEREBEFEETNI50EEBTTALE S
BEREPARBEREENF SR -
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During the year, the Group has applied the net proceeds as follows:

RAFE  AEBBROTHRERMERIEBF

L

Adjusted use of
proceeds in the
same manners
and proportion
as stated in
prospectus and
announcements
dated 24 June
2015 and

16 July 2015
REREERUR
BHARA==—HF
AA=-THEHAR
—E-HF+tA
+ 75 B #9 A # Fratt
#E 5 X K LA
AEABRERAR
HK$'000

FHET

Actual utilised
amount up to
31 March 2017

BZ
—Z2—+tF
=B=+—H
EFA
BERSHE
HK$'000
TR

Expansion of the OEM Business BRRRBREER 15,640 14,203
Expansion of the Retail Business BRIEEXEB 6,694 5,151
Deposit to trade facilities account ZoOMERPTER 15,000 15,000
General working capital —REEES 4,118 4,118
Total @t 41,452 38,472
EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD WMEHRBREER

The following events took place subsequent to 31 March 2017:

THEER - T—tF=A=+—H®E&EL

Lim Hang Young's Winding Up Petition

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated on 13
June 2017 and 16 June 2017. The Company has on 9 June 2017
received a petition (the “Petition”) dated on 6 June 2017 filed by Mr.
Lim Hang Young (the “Petitioner”) against (i) the Company and (ii)
Yang's Holdings Capital Limited (the “2nd Respondent”) as
respondents (collectively, the “Respondents”).

Lim Hang Young H)/s 8 25 =

HREARATBRA-_E—+ENAT=ZBE=
E—tFRNATRNBZAM - R=ZF—tFXA
A B - ARRQ FEE Lim Hang Young e £ ([ 2 5
ADRZZ—+EFRNARNBHEERANRAF
% (i) Yang's Holdings Capital Limited ([ & — & &#
ANFHBIERADREZZ2FE(2FE]D -
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The Petitioner alleged, inter alia, that (i) the 2nd Respondent had lend
out its business to the Company and was warehousing the shares
for the real owner of the shell; (i) the 2nd Respondent has engaged
in many share pledge borrowing activities; and (iii) the acquisitions of
Red 5 Studios, Inc. was a deceit; and (iv) the affairs of the Company
have been mismanaged, which in the circumstances render it just
and equitable and desirable in the interest of the Company’s
shareholders and/or general investing public to wind up the
Company.

The Petition was taken out in the Court of First Instance, High Court,
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region against the Respondents.
The call over of the Petition has been fixed to be heard on 6th
September 2017 at 9:30 a.m.

According to Section 182 of the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622,
Laws of Hong Kong), the effect of the Petition, unless and until it is
dismissed or a validation order is sought, is that any disposition of
the property of the Company, including things in action, and any
transfer of shares, or alteration in the status of the members of the
Company, made after the commencement of the winding up, shall
unless the court otherwise orders, be void.

The position of the Company towards the Petition is that the facts
stated in the Petition are not true and that the Petition will be
strenuously opposed, including making an application to dismiss/
strike out the Petition.

The Company will apply for a validation order and also make an
application to dismiss/strikeout in due course.

The Company is seeking advice in respect of the Petition and will
make further announcement(s) to keep its shareholder and investors
informed of any significant development of the Petition as and when
appropriate.

EFAERB(HABE))E-ERACHEHEARR
EHEER VATRARERERS ARER
mNE_ERAG2EZEROMEREBES
&) ; (i) & Red 5 Studios, Inc. BIFFITA ¢ K(iv)
RATEBHEETE  TRBEATBEAQRER
BAF - GFEREEME MHFEARBIRE
R,/ ShERITERRZFIZE o

EBECARBBBIITRESFERRIVEE
HEERARL - 2FEZ2HETRATN-F
—tFNARA EFAR=1+D 8T -

RBEEBEDNFE 6225 R AHED)E 18214 - R
FLEERBORERRAS  TRIZHFEHE
BRI R AR BME (BEBERE) (EH
ZAEMERREE A R EARNERXIANRARKE
Moz 2z (E( B S AR - HEABE S B A < RIMERI

A
Gl

HEZ2HE  ARAZUSREFEMLEEL
AIERE W 2FFREBAURY - BFERH
RE/ BHEFE -

ARABERBFRAL  WHBEERREKE,
HEBERHPAB

ARRREREFERREZRER  AHRE
RHERTIZE - S AHARERRMIREENS
AEZEMERER -
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==}
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=
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Ng Ka Ho (RZX %), aged 33, was appointed as an executive
Director on 13 July 2015. Mr. Ng obtained his bachelor of Arts Degree
in Chinese Literature from Chu Hai College of Higher Education. Mr.
Ng possesses extensive experience in business development. He has
been the director of a private company and he is responsible for
strategic business planning as well as exploring any business
development opportunity. Mr. Ng is responsible for searching and
exploring business development opportunity and managing the
business plan of the Company.

Mr. Ng was appointed as the chairman of the Board, a member of
the Remuneration Committee, the Compliance Officer and
authorised representative of the Company on 22 April 2016.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ma Chi Ming (B7&H), aged 38, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 29 April 2016. Mr. Ma
obtained Certificate Ill in information technology and Certificate in
English for technical and further education on from Sydney Institute
of Technology in Australia in 1998 and 1997 respectively. He has over
12 years of experience in sales and business development,
formulating marketing strategy as well as monitoring corporate
strategy and administration. Prior to joining our Group, he was a
director of Royal Mortgage Limited and Flying Mortgage Limited from
August 2014 and May 2013 respectively., responsible for overseeing
the operation of and developing money lending business, and
ensuring the companies comply with regulatory requirements.

Mr. Li Kin Ping (Z{#), aged 33, obtained a bachelor’s degree of
Business Administration (Honours) Accounting from Hong Kong
Baptist University in 2006. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and has over 10 years of experience
in accounting and auditing for Hong Kong listed companies and
private companies. He is currently an accounting manager of a
private company.

Subsequent to the reporting period, Mr. Li has appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, chairman of each of the
remuneration and nomination committee and a member of the audit
committee of the Company on 20 April 2017.

BITES

RRFXE B R_ET-HAFELAT=RA%E
ZERNTES - REABERERRTREE
XELE - RELABEEEBINRER - &
RBELARRINES AERBEFREI LK
REBERKE - RATAEVMERRREBE
RHEEWEBRANREHERTE -

E/\\: —ARFOAZ+T B RELEZERR
REAIEEEIR FHZEENE GRIER
BRERE -

BAFHTES
BEREXE 385 RZE—"FNA=-+IH
BZAABIUERNTEE - EEEXTER
—NNNF E— NI EF R M Sydney Institute
of Technology# (€ W E B EM B R =R EE
(Certificate lll in information technology) & & i A
B8 B A % & (Certificate in English for technical) ©
BRHEREBERE fIETESHEERBRER
Jt%ﬁﬁﬂiu,\ﬁﬁkﬁﬁﬁﬁmiw%ﬁ o MAKREHE
EHRB-_E—NFEFNARZTE—=FF1AH
tEﬁEE%E%«%E[@“ﬁ&ﬂl‘ﬁ%%ﬁz%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ

ANES AREBRERFEERER UK
BRABNAEESRE
FRELE  Bm - RZETRFEFTBEZEAKR

BRETHEEET(RE)BI - T2 -
WREBEFAMAREE BARI0FREREL
MRRRMARRBEG RERTIEZER
HERA—RMARA ZEFHEHE -

REBERE TEER -2 +FOA-THE
RERBUFNTES ARBAHMRIEREZE
SEFENRARFBREZEGKE -
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Mr. Ng Kai Shing (RRE##), aged 71, has over 30 years of
experience in accounting and financial management. He received a
General Certificate of Education from University of London in 1964
and Higher Commercial Education Certificate Accounting from The
London Chamber of Commerce (Incorporated) in 1967. He obtained
Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute Practising Certificate
(Corporate Finance) and Hong Kong Securities and Investment
Institute Specialist Certificate (Corporate Finance) in 2010.

Mr. Ng was an executive director of New City Development Group
Limited (stock code: 456) from 1996 to 1999, an executive director of
Jun Yang Financial Holdings Limited (stock code: 397) from 1999 to
2002, a non-executive director of Neptune Group Limited (stock
code: 70), an independent non-executive director of Seamless Green
China (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 8150) from 2011 to 2013, and
an executive director of Panamax Aktiengesellschaft (which is a
company listed on Frankfurt Stock Exchange) from 2013 to 2015. He
was a financial controller of Junefield Department Store Group
Limited (stock code: 758) from 2006 to 2009.

He has appointed as an independent non-executive Director,
chairman of the audit committee, a member of each of the
remuneration and the nomination committee of the Company on 20
March 2017.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Leung Tze Wai (R ¥1&), aged 34, joined the Group on 2 March
2015, and was appointed as the chief financial officer and company
secretary on 16 May 2016. Mr. Leung has over 10 years of
professional experience in the area of accounting. He is currently
responsible for reviewing Group's financial performance, preparing
cost and budgeting. He received his Bachelor of Commerce
(Accounting) from the University of Adelaide. Mr. Leung is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
member of CPA Australia.

Ms. Cheung Hong Yuet Jenny (3RJE1%), aged 48, is the head of
production of the Group and general manager of the Group. Ms.
Cheung joined the Group in January 2010 and has been in charge of
managing and supervising overall production operations from raw
material handling to packaging and delivery in the Group. Ms.
Cheung has accumulated more than 20 years in the production
management experience in the PRC garment industry.

REEBEE 7158 EFRUBERAEESR
0FLLE FR—NANNFRSHAARNEZ LR
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEEWRE

The Directors present to the shareholders this annual report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March 2017 (the “Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal business activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities and other particulars of the Company’s
subsidiary are set out in notes 1 and 38 to the consolidated financial
statement in this annual report.

Except for the commencement of money lender business, there
were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s activities
during the Year.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

Details of business review of the Group for the Year is set out in the
section headed “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 7 to 8 and the
business review and outlook of the Group including the principal
risks and uncertainties for the Year are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 9 to 32 of this
annual report. Details of key performance indicators are shown in
the sections headed “Financial Summary” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. These discussions
form part of this Report of the Directors.

Save for the Lim Hang Young's winding up petition set out in the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 31
to 32 of this annual report, no important event affecting the Group
has occurred since the end of the Year.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page
69 of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND
The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the Year (2016: nil).

There is no arrangement that a shareholder of the Company has
waived or agreed to waive any dividend.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND CLOSURE OF
THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The forthcoming annual general meeting (“AGM") of the Company
will be held on 25 January 2018 (Thursday). A circular containing the
details of the forthcoming AGM and the notice of the forthcoming
AGM and form of proxy accompanying thereto will soon be
despatched to shareholders. For the determining entitlement to
attend the forthcoming AGM, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from 24 January 2018 (Wednesday) to 25
January 2018 (Thursday), both day inclusive, during which period no
transfer of Shares will be registered. The record date will be 25
January 2018 (Thursday). In order to qualify for attending the
forthcoming AGM, all transfer of Shares accompanied by the relevant
share certificates and transfer forms must be lodged with the
Company'’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Boardroom Share
Registrars (HK) Limited at 31/F, 148 Electric Road, North Point, Hong
Kong before 4:30 p.m. on 23 January 2018 (Tuesday).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets, liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated
financial statements in this annual report and the Prospectus is set
out on page 176. This summary does not form part of the audited
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company’s paid up capital for the Year are set out in
note 28 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities for the year ended
31 March 2017.

TRANSFER TO RESERVES

Loss attributable to equity shareholders, before dividends, of
approximately HK$294,298 million has been transferred to reserves.
Other movements in reserves are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 72 of this annual report.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its employees, customers and suppliers to meet its
immediate and long-term business goals. During the year under
review, there were no material and significant dispute between the
Group and its employees, customers and suppliers.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 84.5% of the total sales for the year ended 31 March
2017 and sales to the largest customer included therein accounted
for approximately 69.0% of the total sales for the year ended 31
March 2017. Purchase from the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 96.1% of the total purchase for the year
ended 31 March 2017 and purchase from the Group largest supplier
included therein accounted for approximately 53.1% of the total
purchase for the year ended 31 March 2017.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
beneficial interest in the Group's five largest customers and
suppliers.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Ng Ka Ho (Chairman)
(re-designated as the Chairman of the Board on 22 April 2016)
Mr. Yang Si Hang (retired as an executive director on
28 October 2016 and resigned as chief executive officer
on 3 March 2017)
Mr. Yang Si Kit Kenny
(resigned on 22 April 2016)

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Wong Chiu Po (resigned on 26 April 2017)

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Chan Ming Sun Jonathan (resigned on 3 March 2017)
Mr. Kwong Lun Kei Victor
(resigned on 20 April 2017)
Mr. Ma Chi Ming (appointed on 29 April 2016)
Ms. Cheung Marn Kay (resigned on 29 April 2016)
Mr. Ng Kai Shing (appointed on 20 March 2017)
Mr. Li Kin Ping (appointed on 20 April 2017)

By virtue of Article 16.18 of the articles of association of the
Company, Mr. Ng Ka Ho, Mr. Ma Chi Ming, Mr. Li Kin Ping and Mr. Ng
Kai Shing shall retire at the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible,
shall offer themselves for re-election at the said meeting.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACT

Each of the non-executive Directors (including the independent non-
executive directors) has entered into a service contract or an
appointment letter (as the case may be) with the Company for an
initial term of one year, except for Mr. Chan Ming Sum Jonathan
whose initial term with the Company is 3 years, which may only be
terminated in accordance with the provision of the service contract
or appointment letter (as the case may be) or by (i) the Company
giving to any Director not less than three months’ prior notice in
writing or (i) any Director giving to the Company not less than one
month'’s prior notice in writing.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a
service contract or any appointment letter (as the case may be) with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of Directors and senior management are
disclosed in the section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 33 to 34 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS' REMUNERATION
Details of the Directors Emoluments and the five individuals with the
highest emoluments are set out in note 11 to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.

INTERESTS OF CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS IN
CONTRACTS

No contract of significance has been entered into during the Year
between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling
shareholders or any its subsidiaries.

No contract of significance for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries by the controlling shareholder of
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was entered into.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS
During the year ended 31 March 2017, none of the Directors nor the
controlling shareholders or any their respective close associates has
any interest in a business which competes or likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

Details of the deed of non-competition entered in to by YWH
Investment Holding Limited, Yang's Holdings Capital Limited and Mr.
Yang Wan Ho as settlor of the Yang's Family Trust are set out in
section headed “Relationship with the Controlling Shareholder” in
the prospectus of the Company dated 30 September 2014. According
to the deed of non-competition, if the controlling shareholder and
their associates no longer hold 30% of the shares of the Company,
the deed of non-competition will lapse automatically. The original
controlling shareholders have disposed all their shares during the
year. The deed of non-competition has automatically lapsed.

DISTRIBUTION RESERVES

As at 31 March 2017, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution represent the share premium, and retained profit and
the aggregate amount of reserves available for distribution to equity
shareholders of the Company amounted to approximately HK$21.1
million.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the Year are set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements and in the consolidated statement changes in equity
respectively.

INTERESTS OF THE COMPLIANCE ADVISER

As confirmed by the Group’s compliance adviser, TC Capital
International Limited (the “compliance adviser”), save as the
compliance adviser also acted as the sponsor and one of the joint
bookrunners and one of the joint lead managers in relation to the
listing of shares and compliance adviser agreement entered into
between the Company and the compliance adviser dated 17 July
2014, none of the compliance adviser or its directors, employees or
close associates (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules) had any
interest in the Group or in the share capital of any member of the
Group which is required to be notified to the Company pursuant to
Rule 6A.32 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
AND ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2017, none of the Directors and chief executive of
the Company had any interests or short position in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO (i)
as required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and/or short positions which they are taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO), or (ii) as required to be
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Sections 352 of the SFO, or (i) as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required
standard of dealings by directors of listed issuers as referred to in
Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 March 2017, the following persons (other than the Directors
or chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company which would fall
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as required to be recorded in the
register required to be kept under 336 of the SFO:
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Ordinary Shares of the Company KAREBR
Percentage
of the
Company’s
Number of issue share
Underlying capital as at
Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of Interests Shares™ 31 March 2016
R-B—XREF
=B=+—H
AR TE BT
BRESE BB 55, Rt REBD L
Lau Lan Ying Interest in a controlled corporation 6,446,296,000 25.18%
EITES REEEENER
Wong Kwan Mo Interest in a controlled corporation 6,446,296,000 25.18%
EESPTY REIEEE R
Strong Light Investments Ltd Beneficial owner 5,993,880,000 23.41%
B ERRALA BB A
Ge Qingfu Beneficial owner 2,565,324,000 10.02%
BER E=EBA
Notes: ez -
(1) Allinterests stated are long positions. (N FREBERHKITE -

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2017, the Company has not ~ Ff EXFIBEESN  RZF—EF=A=+—
been notified by any person (other than the Directors or the chief B @ AABWESEELFAAL(EFHARFE
executive of the Company) who had, or was deemed to have, Z1TERABERIN RAR R R A B8 B 10
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the B SR B A RIRE 7 MR RHISEXVEEE2 K&
company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under 37 &MEX FUEBRHERIAR - HREES
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or were required R HIE1&BIE 336 IRAFEE LM AT CHOER
to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company — SAR °

under section 336 of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Directors’ and
chief executives’ interests and short positions in shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any associated
corporations” above, and “Share Option Scheme” below, at no time
during the Year was the Company, its holding company, subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors or the chief executive of the Company or their associates
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2017, there were no connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions of the Company
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules which are required to
comply with any of the reporting, announcement or independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under the GEM Listing Rules.
Details of significant related party transactions undertaken in the
usual course of business are set out in note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements. None of these related party transactions
constitute a discloseable connected transaction as defined under the
GEM Listing Rules.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) on 25 September 2014. The following is a summary of the
principal terms and conditions of the Share Option Scheme.

1. Purpose
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Company to grant options to selected participants as incentives
or rewards for their contribution to the Company.

2. Participants

The Directors may, at their absolute discretion, invite any
person who contributes to the development and growth of the
Group, grant any employee or proposed employee (full-time or
part-time), Director, consultant or adviser of or to the Group, or
any supplier, customer, or any person or entity that provides
research, development or other technological support or any
shareholder of the Company or any shareholder of any of the
Company'’s subsidiaries.
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Maximum Number of Shares

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme shall not in
aggregate exceed 10% of all the Shares in issue as at the Date
of Listing (i.e. a total of 400,000,000 Shares representing 10% of
the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this
report).

Maximum Entitlement of Each Participant
and Connected Persons

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Company (including both exercised and outstanding options) to
each participant in any 12-month period must not exceed 1%
of the Shares in issue.

Minimum Period of Holding an Option and
Performance Target

The Director may, at their absolute discretion, fix any minimum
period for which an option must be held, any performance
targets that must be achieved and any other conditions that
must be fulfilled before the options can be exercised upon the
grant of an option to a participant.

Subscription Price for Shares

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any option
granted under the Share Option Scheme, subject to any
adjustments made in accordance with the Share Option
Scheme, shall be such price as the Board in its absolute
discretion shall determine, provided that such price shall not
be less than the highest of (i) the average closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant of the option (which must be a business day); and (i) the
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the option (which
must be a business day). A consideration of HK$1.00 is payable
on acceptance of the offer of the grant of an option.

Rights are Personal to Grantee
An option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall not be
transferable or assignable and is personal to grantee.
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8. Time of Exercise of Option
An option may be accepted by a participant within 28 days
from the date of the offer of grant of the option.

9. Period of the Share Option Scheme
Unless terminated by the Company by resolution in general
meeting, the Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective
for a period of 10 years commencing on the date on which the
Share Option Scheme becomes unconditional.

Details of the share option scheme of the Group are set out in Note
35 to the consolidated financial statement.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2017, the Group employed approximately 23 full-time
staff. The Directors and senior management receive compensation
in the form of fees, salaries, allowances, benefits in kind and/or
discretionary bonuses relating to our performance. When reviewing
and determining the specific remuneration package for the executive
Directors and senior management, the Company takes into
consideration factors such as among other things, market level of
salaries paid by comparable companies, the respective
responsibilities of the Directors and the performance of the Group.

The Group’s remuneration to employees includes salaries,
contribution to pension schemes and discretionary performance
bonuses.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” on pages 48 to 59 of this annual report.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s articles of association, every Director
shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a
Director in defending any proceedings, in which judgment is given in
his favour, or in which he is acquitted.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Saved for the Share Option Scheme as set out above, the Company
has not entered into any equity-linked agreements during the Year.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
The Company recognized its responsibility to protect the
environment from its business activities. The Company is committed
to the sustainable development of the environment and our society.
The Group has endeavoured to comply with laws and regulations
regarding environmental protection and adopted effective
environmental practices to ensure our business meet the required
standards and ethics in respect of environmental protection.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief,
during the Year, the Group has complied with all the relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the operations of
the Group.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS
During the Year, the Group had made charitable and other donation
for approximately HK$23,000 (2016: approximately HK$388,000).

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM
Listing Rules and considers that all the independent non-executive
Directors are independent to the Company.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company had
maintained sufficient public float during the Year and up to the date
of this annual report as required under the GEM Listing Rules.
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AUDITORS

Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu was the auditor of the Company
for the year ended 31 March 2016 and resigned as the auditor of the
Company on 28 March 2017. Subsequent to the year ended 31
March 2017, Elite Partners CPA Limited (“Elite Partners”) was
appointed as auditor of the Company on 24 April 2017 and the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2017
was audited by Elite Partners.

A resolution for the re-appointment of Elite Partners as the auditor of
the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

By Order of the Board
Ng Ka Ho
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2017
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles and the code provisions in the Corporate Governance
Code (the “Code”) as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 March 2017 up to the date of this report, save
for the deviation from code provision A.2.1 of the Code which
explained below, the Company has applied the principles and
complied with all the applicable code provisions of the Code
contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under the code provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the
Chairman and the chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. During the Year,
Mr. Yang Si Kit Kenny had resigned and Mr. Ng Ka Ho had appointed
as the Chairman on 22 April 2016 who provides leadership to the
Board. Mr. Yang Si Hang was the chief executive officer of the
Company and he resigned on 3 March 2017. The Company has not
appointed CEO since then, and the roles and functions of the CEO
have been performed by the Chairman. The Board believes that
vesting the roles of both Chairman and CEO in the same individual
can provide the Company with strong and consistent leadership and
allows for effective planning and implementation of business
decisions and strategies.

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND RETIREMENT
OF THE DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Article 16.18 of the articles of association of the
Company, at every annual general meeting of the Company one-
third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not
three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to, but not less
than, one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. A
retiring Director shall retain office until the close of the meeting at
which he retires and shall be eligible for re-election thereat. The
Company at any annual general meeting at which any Directors
retire may fill the vacated office by electing a like number of persons
to be Directors.
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DIRECTORS SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a
service contract or any appointment letter (as the case may be) with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Group has adopted the required standard of dealing, as set out
in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as the code of conduct
for securities transactions by the Directors in respect of the share of
the Company. Upon specific enquiry, all Directors have confirmed
that they have complied with the required standard of dealing and
the code of conduct of securities transactions by Directors during
the year ended 31 March 2017.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board comprised one executive Director and three independent
non-executive Directors as at the date of this report, details of which
are set out below:

Executive Director:
Mr. Ng Ka Ho (Chairman)

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Ng Kai Shing

Mr. Li Kin Ping

Mr. Ma Chi Ming

The brief biographic details of the Directors and their relationship
with each other are set out in the section headed “Biographies of
Directors and Senior Management” on pages 33 to 34 of this annual
report.
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FUNCTIONS OF THE BOARD

The board supervises the management of the business and affairs of
the Company. The Board'’s primary duty is to ensure the viability of
the Company and to ensure that it is managed in the best interests
of the shareholders while taking into account the interests of other
stakeholders. The Group has adopted internal guidelines in setting
forth matters that require the Board'’s approval. Apart from its
statutory responsibilities, the Board approves the Group's strategic
plan, key operational initiatives, major investments and funding
decisions. It also reviews the Group’s financial performance,
identifies principal risks of the Group’s business and ensures
implementation of appropriate systems to manage these risks. Daily
business operations and administrative functions of the Group are
delegated to the management.

The Board is also delegated with corporate governance functions
under code provision D.3.1 of the Code. The Board has reviewed and
discussed the corporate governance policy of the Group and is
satisfied with the effectiveness of the corporate governance policy.

BOARD MEETING AND PROCEDURES

Board members were provided with complete, adequate and timely
information to allow them to fulfill their duties properly. In
compliance with code provision A.1.3 of the Code, at least 14 days’
notice has been given for a regular Board meeting to give all
Directors an opportunity to attend. Notice, agenda and board papers
of regular Board meetings are sent to all Directors with reasonable
time and at least 3 days prior to the meetings. Directors are free to
contribute and share their views at meetings and major decisions
will only be taken after deliberation at Board meetings. Directors who
are considered to have conflict of interests or material interests in
the proposed transactions or issues to be discussed will not be
counted in the quorum of meeting and will abstain from voting on
the relevant resolutions. Full minutes are prepared after the
meetings and the draft minutes are sent to all Directors for their
comments on the final version of which are endorsed in the
subsequent Board meeting.
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Details of the attendance of the Board meetings, audit committee
(the “Audit Committee”) meeting, remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) meeting, nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) meeting, legal compliance committee (the
“Legal Compliance Committee”) meeting and general meeting of the
Company held during the Year are summarized as follows:

RAFERITNARREFEEEH  BXEREE
((EzZBges FHZEE (f%?@ﬂéﬁ
gl)g% REZEe(REZAES)E:
reamZBg([ZEeREEE S a&ﬁﬁ?ﬁ
SHEFEHIIMT

Number of Meetings Attended/Eligible to Attend for the Year
REFECHE/ REERHEEENAY

Audit Remuneration

Board  Committee
meeting meeting
ERZE8
Ezged L
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Yang Si Hang EEtE 5/28 N/A
Mr. Yang Si Kit Kenny Bairt 0/0 N/A
Mr. NgKa Ho REERE 40740 N/A
Non-executive Director *HTES
Mr. Wong Chiu Po L 39/40 N/A
Independent non-executive Directors By i#HEE
Ms. Cheung Marn Kay ERELT 33 N/A
Mr. Chan Ming Sun Jonathan R4 31137 4/4
Mr. Kwong Lun Kei Victor BHELE 39140 4/4
Mr. Ma Chi Ming SEHLE 23/40 3/4

N/A:  Not applicable “~i&

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established specific committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Legal Compliance Committee, with written terms
of reference which are available for viewing on the website of the
Company to assist them in efficient implementation of their
functions. Specific responsibilities have been delegated to the above
committees.

Legal
Compliance
Committee

meeting meeting meeting
¥MzEe REZEE AESHZES

EE R R

Nomination
Committee General

meeting

Committee

RRAE

1" 1n N/A 072
0/0 0/0 0/0 0/0
1" 1n N/A 33
N/A N/A N/A 33
0/0 0/0 0/0 0/0
N/A N/A 1 3/3
2/2 2/2 11 33
N/A N/A 11 173
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee on 25 September
2014 with written terms of reference in compliance with the Code.
The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on appointment or reappointment
and removal of external auditor; review financial statements of the
Company and judgments in respect of financial reporting; and
oversee internal control procedures of the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Audit Committee had
reviewed quarterly, interim and annual results of the Group. The
Audit Committee had reviewed the Group’s risk management and
internal control system for the year ended 31 March 2017. The
Group's results for the year ended 31 March 2017 had been reviewed
by the Audit Committee before submission to the Board for approval.

The Audit Committee held 4 meetings during the year ended 31
March 2017. Details of the attendance of the Audit Committee
member at the Audit Committee meetings are set out above.

Subsequent to the reporting period, on 20 April 2017, Mr. Kwong Lun
Kei Victor ceased to be a member of Audit Committee. As at the date
of this report, the Audit Committee consists of three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ng Kai Shing (Chairman), Mr. Li
Kin Ping and Mr. Ma Chi Ming.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 25
September 2014 with written terms of reference which are in
compliance with the code provision of the Code. The primary duties
of the Remuneration Committee are to make recommendations to
the Board on the overall remuneration policy and structure relating
to all Directors and senior management of the Group and ensure that
none of the Directors determine their own remuneration.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Remuneration Committee
had evaluated and reviewed the performance of the executive
Director and senior management of the Company; and reviewed and
made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of Directors and senior management.

The Remuneration Committee held 2 meetings during the Year.
Details of the attendance of the Remuneration Committee members
at Remuneration Committee meetings are set out above.
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Subsequent to the reporting period, on 20 April 2017, Mr. Kwong Lun
Kei Victor ceased to be the chairman of Remuneration Committee
and Mr. Li Kin Ping was appointed as the Chairman of Remuneration
Committee. As at the date of this report, the Remuneration
Committee consists of three members, namely Mr. Li Kin Ping
(Chairman), Mr. Ng Ka Ho and Mr. Ng Kai Shing.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 25
September 2014 with written terms of reference which are in
compliance with the code provision of the Code. The primary duties
of the Nomination Committee are to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board annually; identify individuals suitably
qualified to become Board members; assess the independence of
the independent non-executive Directors; and make
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning
for the Directors.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Nomination Committee
had reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Board; assessed the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors; reviewed and made recommendations to the
Board on the re-election of Directors.

The Nomination Committee held 2 meetings during the year ended
31 March 2017. Details of the attendance of the Nomination
Committee members at Nomination Committee meetings are set out
above.

Subsequent to the reporting period, on 20 April 2017, Mr. Kwong Lun
Kei Victor ceased to be the Chairman of Nomination Committee, and
Mr. Li Kin Ping was appointed as the Chairman of Nomination
Committee. As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee
consists of three members, namely Mr. Li Kin Ping (Chairman), Mr.
Ng Ka Ho and Mr. Ng Kai Shing.
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LEGAL COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

The Company established the Legal Compliance Committee in
September 2014 with the terms of reference. The primary duties of
the Legal Compliance Committee are to review the effectiveness of
the Group’s regulatory compliance procedures and system; advise
the Audit Committee in overseeing the Group’s corporate
governance functions; promptly report to the Audit Committee for
any actual or suspected non-compliance issues, and review the
effectiveness of the internal control measures adopted by the Audit
Committee and provides updates on the applicable laws related to
the business of the Group from time to time.

The Legal Compliance Committee held 1 meeting during the Year.
Details of the attendance of the Legal Compliance Committee
members at the Legal Compliance Committee meeting are set out
above.

Subsequent to the reporting period, on 20 April 2017, Mr. Kwong Lun
Kei Victor ceased to be the member of Legal Compliance Committee
and Mr. Li Kin Ping was appointed as the member of Legal
Compliance Committee. As at the date of this report, the Legal
Compliance Committee consists of three members, namely Mr. Ng
Ka Ho (Chairman), Mr. Li Kin Ping and Mr. Leung Tze Wai, the
Company Secretary and Chief Financial Officer of the Company.
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DIVERSITY OF THE BOARD
The Group has adopted policy in relation to the diversity of the
members of the Board and the summary of the policy is as follows:

(1) selection of Board members will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, which would include but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and education background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service; and

(2)  the Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of
the diversity policy from time to time to ensure the
effectiveness of the diversity policy.

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE DIRECTORS
In compliance with the code provision A.6.5 of the Code, all
Directors, namely Mr. Ng Ka Ho, Mr. Li Kin Ping, Mr. Ng Kai Shing and
Mr. Ma Chi Ming had participated in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. The Directors had provided the relevant record to the
Company for the Year.

The Company is committed in arranging and funding suitable training
to all Directors for their continuous professional development. Each
Director is briefed and updated from time to time to ensure that he/
she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities under the GEM Listing
Rules and applicable legal and regulatory requirements and the
governance policies of the Group. All the Directors also understand
the importance of continuous professional development and are
committed to participate in any suitable training to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Board had appointed Mr. Leung Tze Wai as Company Secretary
and an authorised representative of the Company on 16 May 2016
and 16 December 2016 respectively. Mr. Leung is also the Chief
Financial Officer of the Group and a member of the Legal Compliance
Ccommittee of the Company.
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All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary. The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman on board
governance matters, and is responsible for ensuring that board
procedures are followed and facilitating communications among
Directors as well as with Shareholders and management.

The Company Secretary’s biographies are set out in the section
headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” of this
annual report.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION
The Senior Management’s remuneration payment of the Group in the
Year falls within the following band:
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HK$1,000,000 or below 1,000,000 7T A T~ 7
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 /% 7T & 1,500,000 /%8 7T 0
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7 7T 2 2,000,000 7% 7T 0

DIRECTORS’' RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for each financial period to give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the
results and cash flows for that period in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. The statement by
auditors of the Company about their responsibilities for the financial
statements is set out in the independent auditors’ report contained
in this annual report. The Directors have adopted the going concern
approach in preparing the consolidated financial statements and are
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern.
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The Company engaged Elite Partners CPA Limited as its external
auditors for the Year. There is no disagreement between the Board
and the Audit Committee on the selection, appointment, resignation
or dismissal of the external auditors. During the Year, the fee paid of
payable to Elite Partners CPA Limited in respect of its statutory audit
services provided to the Group was HK$900,000. Fees for non-audit
services for the same period were HK$50,000, consisting of services
provided in connection with the interim review and others.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for ensuring the effectiveness of the
Group's risk management and internal control systems. The risk
management and internal control systems are designed to meet the
Group's particular needs and the risks to which they are exposed.
The Group reviews the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems on an annual basis to mitigate risk and safe
guard the interests of shareholders and the Group’s assets.

The Board has developed system of internal control and risk
management for reviewing and maintaining an adequate internal
control system to safeguard the interests of the shareholders and
the assets of the Company. The Company has not established a
separate internal audit department; instead, an external consultant
was engaged to review the Group’s internal control and risk
management system and support the Board in assessing the
effectiveness of such system annually. The Board has conducted a
review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group with the support of external consultant,
and is satisfied that the Group has fully complied with the Code in
respect of risk management and internal control during the Year.

GENERAL MEETING WITH SHAREHOLDERS

During the Year, the Company held two extraordinary general
meeting on 22 June 2016 and 15 November 2016, and an annual
general meeting on 28 October 2016.

Save as disclosed above, no general meeting had been held and the
Company'’s forthcoming annual general meeting will be held on 25
January 2018.
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THE SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS TO CONVENE AN
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the articles of association of the Company,
extraordinary general meetings shall be convened on the written
requisition of any two or more shareholders’ holding, at the date of
deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company having the right of voting at general
meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or
the Company Secretary of the Company for the purpose of requiring
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such
meeting shall be held within 3 months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

In order to keep shareholders well informed of the business activities
and direction of the Group, information about the Group has been
provided to the shareholders through financial reports and
announcements. The Company has established its own corporate
website (www.Ina.com.hk) as a channel to facilitate effective
communication with its shareholders and the public. The Company
will continue to enhance communications and relationships with its
shareholders and investors. A shareholders communication policy
was adopted on 10 October 2014 to comply with code provision E.1.4
of the Code.

Shareholders, investors and interested parties can make
enquiries directly to the Company through the following e-mail:
info@lna.com.hk
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PROCEDURES FOR DIRECTING SHAREHOLDERS’
ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to
the Board in writing. Contact details are as follows:

L & A International Holdings Limited

Address: Flat 1, Block C, 11/F, Hong Kong Spinner Industrial Building,
Phase 5, 762 Cheung Sha Wan Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Tel: 3793 9000

Fax: 3793 9002

E-mail: info@Ina.com.hk

Shareholders’ enquiries and concerns will be forwarded to the Board
and/or relevant Board Committees of the Company, where
appropriate, to answer the shareholders’ questions.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS AT GENERAL MEETINGS BY
SHAREHOLDERS

Pursuant to Article 16.4 of the articles of association of the Company,
no person (other than a retiring Director) shall be eligible for election
to the office of Director at any general meeting unless a notice in
writing of the intention to propose that person for election as a
Director and notice in writing by that person of his willingness to be
elected shall have been given to the Company Secretary no earlier
than the day after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting
appointed for such election and end no later than 7 days prior to the
date of such general meeting and the minimum length of the period
during which such notices to the Company may be given will be at
least 7 days. The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person
for election as a Director is posted on the website of the Company.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

There had been no significant changes in the constitutional
documents of the Company during the Year.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
BB AR S

)

TO THE MEMBERS OF L & A INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

BT A& B3t BRI IR )
ELITE PARTNERS CPA LIMITED

Certified Public Accountants

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of L & A
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 69 to 175,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 March 2017, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2017 and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAS") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

BBTEBRERARARRR
(RESHETMEK L FERLA)

=R
BMBEBEREOEZE 175 B LD RBRIER
ERAR(ERAR D REMBAR (KE[EE
B mERa M EHRER P EER T —+F=
A=t BNGEAMBHARRUARBEZR LF
ERFeEa kA AKER  SeERE
REFEBATRER  UWREEMERERME
BRIEZSTBEME -

BPRR  GEVBRRERBET LGNS
([BREGEAE ) BEMOEEYBRELER
(BRMBHREEYN DEEMP SRR EXE
R-E—tF=A=1+—BNGEaBRARE
EZRALFENGAMBRANGEARERE
YEEREEARRIINEEREZL RBHE -

RRNER

HPEREEESHEI A RGN EEEALER
([BREER ) EITES - WAEZFE]T
AENEECDERMNRE [ ZBEREFEE
MEBMERAENEE]| SO PIEE— PR - R
BREEMAGSHEMNEXSMBR T
(=R - HPIBLR EEE - FLEETTA
FEEMBEREESE o BMERE - ROIPTES
WETRERETE MNEEMARMNERIRHE

-
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
B A EE RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2017. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.

BARENSE
PAREHFERRERMNBLAL - REHE
E-E—tFZAS+-BULFENGAHBR
RNBHBREENER - BLERERMYE
EHMBRARBETRNLFAERNER T #
17838 - R EELERRHEBER

1. Business combination and impairment
assessment of goodwill and intangible assets

Key audit matters

BRETER

1. EBOGIRBEREREEQH
ERP

How the matter was addressed in our audit
HMPWESTMAEEZSEE

During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group
acquired 55.56% equity interests in Aji On Worldwide
Holdings Limited (“AJl ON") at cash consideration of
HK$13 million (see Note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements). Goodwill of approximately
HK$7.9 million and intangible assets relating to
“Trademark” and “Management Service Contract” of
approximately HK$9.5 million and HK$2.9 million
respectively were recognised under business
combination in accordance with HKFRS 3.
HEZT—tF=-A=1T—RHLFE BEEEBEUR
£ X8 13,000,000 7T U B8 Aji On Worldwide Holdings
Limited ([AJl ONJ) 55.56% & ( R47 & B 5 3R 2= i 5%
34) o BE497,900,0008 7T R B [ iR ] & [ B2 RS
SR BEHENETEEE S B 49500000 7T &
2,900,000 % 7T B IR IE B B B 5 3R 5 2RI B 39 75
APIE TR ©

Goodwill and the intangible assets were allocated to
the cash generating unit for retail business segment
("Retail CGU"). During the year ended 31 March 2017,
the Group had recognised impairment loss of
intangible assets service contract amounting to
HK$1.9 million arising from the acquisition of AJl ON.
HMERBNEEIRESEEB TR EEEEN
(ZEREELEMN]) - BE_T—+F=A=1+—
AIEFE X BESERABBEAIONEENEREE
K AR75E #0R E E518 1,900,000 4 7T

Our major audit procedures in relation to these matters
included the following:
BRI EIR ERFTIEFEE NIFIE

—  We tested the purchase price allocations in which
we focused on the valuation of the intangible
assets (i.e. Trademark and Management Service
Contract” of AJl ON and the related fair value
adjustments;

— BMEAABEEE ERER HPRMEER
AIIONEFEE (BIMERERRES ) EE
MBI A T EAR

—  We discussed with management as to whether
there was any indicator of impairment;
— FHMEERENREEBEMRETR

—  We obtained cash flow forecasts for the Retail
CGU relating to the impairment assessment
prepared by management and approved by the
directors of the Company;

— BMISEREMRREER BSARESAHER
BEffEEENZEReELSUREREEA
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

B A BEN RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

1.

Business combination and impairment

assessment of goodwill and intangible assets

(Continued)

Key audit matters

HREEEE

For the purpose of the initial recognition and
impairment assessment of goodwill and intangible
assets, the Group appointed an independent external
valuer to assess the fair value of the intangible assets
of AJl ON at initial recognition and the recoverable
amount of the Retail CGU at the end of the reporting
period.
EXERAERB EEN A ERRENERE
— BB HNERERD - LARTE R PR AJl ON BT
BENAFEERRRERRTERELES MR AT
E$FE °

We had identified business combination and
impairment assessment of goodwill and intangible
assets as key audit matters because significant
management judgement was required to determine
the key assumptions including estimated future
income, operating margins and discount rate, etc. and
the amounts involved were significant.

BB MRS OFA KR E KB E ERRERT A3
Rl RERETEE  REABTEEANRR (BIEMET
RAEWA - EEFERREE) RS RERSTHE
REEZEERBEHERHE -

— BMREEER

BARETERE)
1. EBEHURBERERLEENR
EFHE 4

How the matter was addressed in our audit
KN ET N MEERZEE

—  We discussed with management and independent

external valuer engaged by the Company and
assessed the methodology and assumptions used
in arriving at the forecasts (e.g. estimated sales
growth rate and discount rate etc.) to see
whether the methodology and assumptions
applied in valuing the intangible assets and
impairment assessments were reasonable;

B AT ZRIESE L HNE i ERD
= m M Rl i BT R B AR 5 & IR R 3R (B &t 85
ENRERMREE)  URGEVEEETH
BFRAAERBRRBENERESEE

—  We checked, on a sample basis, the accuracy and

reliance of the input data used; and

— HfmERERMABABERNERERA]ER

B R

—  We evaluated the competency and capabilities of

the independent external valuer taking into
account of their experience and qualifications.

—  BPE BN ERM LS R B AR E

AREMBEN o
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
B A EE RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) BRETSEE)
2. Impairment assessment of loan receivables 2. P& W & TR YR (B R A

Key audit matters

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BRETEER

As at 31 March 2017, the Group has loan receivables
of approximately HK$88.6 million relating to the
money lending segment for providing property
mortgage loans and personal loans in Hong Kong (see
note 21 to the consolidated financial statements).

RZE—+tF=A=+—0  E5EBEKERD
88,600,000/ 7T « R BB MM ERBERRZMEA
ERORESDER(RGEMBmEMT21) -

All the loan receivables were secured by collaterals,
bearing interests and repayable within fixed terms
agreed with the borrowers.

FTE R E SR AR mEER - 5T B RBREERA
185 B B FE £ B ER -

We had identified the impairment assessment of loan
receivables as a key audit matter because the
impairment assessment was subjective and significant
management judgment was required taking into
account customer credit risk and the fair value of
collaterals, if any.

BB HERERARE G RERERTFE
RAABETHBEEMEREREFEERR ZER
mATEE)KRFEZEREEDERAE -

BANETNNEEZSEE

Our major audit procedures in relation to this matter
included the following:
BRI EIR ERFTIEFEE NIFIE -

— We obtained the list of loans and interest
receivables outstanding as at 31 March 2017 and
read the terms of the related loan agreements;,

— HEMESR-E—tF=-A=1+—HHKEEN
FE W& 7 B A 505 B8 0 B4 5 AR B B K 10 s A 1

Eo
A

— We had sent confirmations to the borrowers to
confirm the balances as at 31 March 2017,

— BMERERFTELEREUERN S —LF
= A=+T—HM#H

— We discussed with management about the
procedures for approval and monitoring of loan
receivables. We performed tests of controls by
reviewing of credit files of borrowers on a sample
basis; and

— BMETEENwmIZREZEEVGRIENIET
BB B ERERT N EERERETIEGA
&

—  We discussed with the management on the
impairment policy of loan receivable (i.e. when
and how impairment was determined) and
assessed whether sufficient impairment losses
were being provided. Particularly, we focused on
outstanding balances that were past due, related
subsequent settlement and assessed whether
the collaterals were sufficient to cover the
outstanding balances.

— BMEEEEIREREROREBE (BMIR
K i E R E) KA R B EFT IR R RER
B AREME  RMFBEINCBBNREES
t% - HREAGEERTEERLES BAZAE
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B A BEN RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

3.

Impairment assessment of an associate

Key audit matters

As at 31 March 2017, the Group has interest in an
associate of approximately HK$284 million
representing 47.63% equity interests in Red 5 Studios
Inc. (see note 20 of the consolidated financial
statements). During the year ended 31 March 2017,
the Group recognised an impairment loss of
approximately HK$156.4 million for the interest in an
associate.

RZEB—tEF=A=+—H  BESER—HABLEA
A By R &= 4 £A284,000,000% st - #H & HRed 5
Studios, Inc.#947.63% A% # ( R 47 & B 7 | &K M 5%
20  RBEZZE—tF=-A=1+—HIEEFE " &
SERN —HBEAANERERREEELD
156,400,000,8 7T °

For the purpose of assessing impairment of interest
in an associate, the Group appointed an independent
external valuer to assess the recoverable amount
based on value-in-use calculations.

EEECRAER —HBERRNERNRERE
— R\ INEHER - REREBEFET G

T e

We had identified the impairment assessment of
interest in an associate as a key audit matter because
significant management judgement was required to
determine whether there was an impairment
indicator and to estimate the value in use of the
interest in an associate.

HZME SR —MEEE AR NERARENHER A
HRESEE REABERSFERBEDNR KT
ERBERARNERNTRAEERTEEEEERED
EARHER -

BARETERE)
3. BEQTREERTMG

How the matter was addressed in our audit
HMPWESTNAREZEE

Our major audit procedures to address this matter
included the following:
BRI EIR L ERENIEFEE NIFIE

We obtained financial information of the
associate and assessed whether the accounting
policy of the associate was consistent with the
Group, if different, adjustments were provided to
uniform with the Group’s accounting policy;,
BB BUSEE A RN S E K KT h L A 7
MNEHTBRELRE E£BE/M % WA=
2 AELHRABRUBEREIHERE S5ES
STECREf—3

We discussed with management whether any
impairment indicator exists and basis for the
impairment recognised;

BB HEREN SRR FEERDRETR &
TR EER

We obtained and assessed the value in use
calculations methodology provided by the
management including but not limited to the
reasonableness of key assumptions applied (e.g.
operating margins, terminal growth rates and
discount rates), the accuracy and reliance of the
input data used; and
BMERGERIHEREMEREAEERE
% BIEETRNFTEREANRR (FlanEE T
o BRI RERMIRE) URFTARASE
EHMERAIERE &

We evaluated the competency of the
independent external valuer taking account its
experience and qualifications.

BAIET K T8 3L HNEE A (B B A A8 5 2 B A8 DART A H

ok
BE °
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
B B AR S

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2016 were audited by another auditor who
expressed an unmodified opinion on those statement on 23 June
2016.

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

HiE1H

EEEEE T "FZA=T—HLEFENHR
EUBHmERB S U RBEERR  ZREER
E-REANA-T=ZBARRERRERERER

o

R

REVBBRRRZBERE A 2ER

EXAHEMENEE - RENERTIERE
BHER  ETBREGEVBRR REFINZE
HE T

BAHGEMBHRRIFLNELYBRELME
£ MEMIEHEMERERTATANZE

LA
%u af °©

HBEPIGERE P BRROETME - HANWEE
REBEEMER - Wit ZEEEME R BT RER
EUBBRIBAMEERLREAT —BUF
o HHIBEAERERAL - MERBPIENTZ
TR AR AEMER HREXBRRML -
BMFRREZEE - ALt mE - R EEMA

W& -

EENEEERAERGRSUBERRA
EAENEE

EXAARARTESTMASRANFTENE
BELEREBRAHEPINRERTE - SRR
BEEMAFNEAVBEREK  THETRA/RE
RAMBHRRNER I FERRRFXERME
HHBRBRRAFAFAABEHEE -

ERBFAVBHRAE EFASNE E5HE
FEQEMEEN  YHEERBR M RERFEL
LERNER UARERFELERSTER
BRIFEEEER BEREBRAIEFLLE K5
BHMERIBEATR -

BREAARAREE BESENUKHRERE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
BB AR S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of
engagement and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

REMR B RSN BERREAENEL

BN EREHRAMBBRRERRES T FER
REFFRERMERNERBRBARGE R
& WHABRHRMNEROREBEI RS - KK
ENRBEREBHEGR - ER BT (FRER)
MREL RILASNRIEE M B &Y  BPIBE T AR
SRR MEMEMALTEESE FRE - 5K
ERBKFHRE  BETRERELRBEEETE
APETTHRE  EX - EXERUAFER G5
B3R o SHARBUR AT A RS ERRR S - IR A
BERPHEERXAF AT ERAVBRRER
ERBEAMBRRAMELNRERTE - AIEH
FRRRPRI AR EE R ©

EREEAETEETET ZBET - HIE
MR - RISFEXEREEE - BT

o RRIMFFEARRFRERMERSEEM
BHRRFEEABRERL 2 AR - Rt R
WITE T ARE LSRR - U RER
ARMEE 2ETRE  FARMANER
Eift - HNBFFAIRE S RBR BE &
BAER - EREL - SORBERABESZ
£ Rt REEZERRMEFER 2 EAH
ARBR A 2 LR = 7 AR BE B IR R £ AR 1 B B
ZERERRA R o

o THRERHEBIAMES - URFTEE
ZEEF BENYIEY BEEERNE
THRIZAMMERER -

s HEEEMRASHERRZREERELY
BEHEFTAERERE 2SR -
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B B AR S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
BB AR S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements for
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse
conseqguences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Siu Jimmy with Practising Certificate number
P05898.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

10/F, 8 Observatory Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon,

Hong Kong

28 June 2017

REMRETREMBRRAENEL
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meEakEtEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE-T—tF=A=1T—HIFE

Notes
KtaF

Revenue Wz 5
Cost of sales HER A
Gross (loss)/profit (£8)/EF
Other income HAb A 6
Other gains and losses Hoth Yz & E5 18 7
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEMAX
Administrative expenses TERRX
Finance costs R30I 8
Share result of associate pakay: NGB 20
Loss before taxation MR BB R
Income tax credit (expenses) PRS2 (Fs2) 9
Loss for the year FRNEE 10
Other comprehensive expense Hih2HEEX
Item that may be reclassified subsequently — E{&rJaeE#HH A

to profit or loss: EEEMIER ¢

Exchange difference arising on translation BREBINETSEER

of foreign operations PEH ZE%E

Release of translation reserve arising on HE—HENBAREL

disposal of a subsidiary B H R E R
Other comprehensive expense for the year — E£RHEMEEMAX
Total comprehensive expense for the year FREAEMZ B
Profit/(Loss) for the year attributable to: THALELEFER

swmL(E18) |

Owners of the Company AAREEA

Non-controlling interests FEVEARE 2
Total comprehensive expense attributable to: T3 A TEEZEM X

4EE

Owners of the Company KABIEB A

Non-controlling interests e AR R
Loss per share TR EEB

Basic and diluted (HK cents) EAR R H#E (B 13

2017

S
HK$'000
TR

60,830
(67,266)

(6,436)
434
(158,729)
(5,345)
(95,196)
(879)
(32,051)

(298,202)
1,186

(297,016)

(1,843)

(298,859)

(294,298)
(2,718)

(297,016)

(296,145)
(2,714)

(298,859)

(1.24)

2016
—E—RF
HK$'000
FHBT

210,354
(189,978)

20,376
6,142
6,197

(11,498)
(44,899)
(2,425)

(26,107)
(3,195)

(29,302)

(2,305)

(3,248)

(5,553)

(34,855)

(29,302)

(29,302)

(34,855)

(34,855)

(0.15)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e PR R
At 31 March 2017
WZB—+F=A=+—H

Notes
HiteF
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - BE &R 14
Investment property REYHE 15
Prepaid lease payments AR ERIE 16
Goodwill 5k 18
Intangible assets EmEE 17
Interest in an associate N RN e 20
Rental Deposits HEZRS
Deferred tax assets EERIBEE 27
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories FE 22
Trade and other receivables B 5 Rk H A FEWGRIAR 23
Loan receivables FEUE X 21
Prepaid lease payments B EERIE 16
Pledged bank deposits BEHEFRITIFR 24
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR LIRS 24
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade payables E SR IE 25
Other payables and accrued expenses H A pE TR R BRI 25
Tax payables FERTRRIE
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEER 26
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFRE
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHABERABAR

LIABILITIES

2017
—F—tF
HK$'000
TR

14,154
2,780
3,249
7,919
7,630

283,946
296
12

319,986

9,485
5,570
88,586
90

3,703

107,434

410,631

2016
—E—F
HK$'000
T

24,166

51,948
42,566

96
14,418
16,938

125,966

14,105
10,113

3,092
29,037

56,347

69,619

93,785
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e AR &R
At 31 March 2017
WZB—+F=A=+—H

2017 2016
—E—+t5 —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET THBT

FRBEE

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

27 1,922

1,922

408,709

Deferred tax liabilities BELERIBEE
NET ASSETS EEFE
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EREFE
Share capital [N
Reserves ]

28 51,200
356,159

Equity attributable to owners of the Company Zx2 A1 H A E(EHEz
Non-controlling interest IR R

407,359
1,350

Total equity R R

408,709

The consolidated financial statements on pages 69 to 175 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Director on 28
June 2017 and are signed on its behalf by:

Ng Ka Ho
KRR
Director

=

FOBEFIEMGEUBEREN - —F
NAZTNBESESHEREETZE  WHMN
TEERERESE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

mERERBER

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE-T—tF=A=1T—HIEFE

Share
capital

RA

Share
premium

RiEE

Share
option
reserve

RRERE

Translation
reserve

BB

Special
reserve

KGR

Other
reserve

it
HKS

Retained
profits/
(accumulated

Total

Non-
controlling
interest

FERER

At1 April 2015 RZF-15MA-A 40,000 YARYA] - 8921 28431 4327 23109 128617 - 128617
Loss for the year ERER = = = = = = (29,300) (29,300) = (29.300)
Bxchange differences arisingonthe  #EFNEREE
fransation of foreign operations 9EREE = > = (2.305) - - - (2.305) - 2303
Release of ranslation resenve arising & —FEHBAREE
on disposal of  subsidiary HEXRERD - - - (3218 = = - (3248) - (3248)
Total comprehensive expense FREERREE
forthe year - - - (5559 - - (29302 (34,859) = (34,855)
At31 March 2016 RZF-RE
=A=1-H 40,000 YARYA] - 3374 28431 437 (6,193) 93762 - 93,762

Loss for the year EREE (294,298) (294,298) (297,016)
Bxchange differences arising on BERNEREL

ihe translation of foreign NELZE

operations (1.847) (1.847) (1:843)
Total comprehensive expenses FRRERTEE

forthe year (1,847) (294,298) (296,145) (2,714) (298,859)
Acquistion of associate through FREAROIE
issuance of share BELNT 470127 472,387 472,387
Acquisition of a businss g - 8 4012
Placing of shares BERR 54,241 59,981 59,981
Transaction costs atiributable to EIRAEERARA
issUe of shares (600) (600) (600)
Recognition of equity-settied EANRELENRA A
share-hased payments- AT - 37,006 37,006 37,006
Evercise of share optons i 70,542 (32782) 40,960 40,960
At31 March 2017 RZZ-tF
i 51,200 618,133 4,224 1,535 28431 4327 (300,491) 407,359 408,709

Notes: HizF

RIS L & A Interholdings Inc. B9 % A & i 15
wEEERANDAREEESAMBITRAEE
ZEKZRE -

(i) Special reserve represented the difference between the nominal (i)
amount of the share capital and share premium of L & A Interholdings
Inc. and the nominal amount of the share capital issued by the
Company pursuant to a group reorganisation.

HitFEREAAR — R ERERNBEFER
REK

(i) Other reserve arose from the waiver of loan from a controlling (i)
shareholder of the Company in previous years.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

= N
mEEERER
For the year ended 31 March 2017
BE—Z—+tH=A=+—HLHFE

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Loss before tax

Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property,

plant and equipment

Depreciation of investment property
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments
Amortisation of intangible asset
Impairment of intangible assets
Impairment of interest in an associate

Finance cost
Bank interest income
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary

Loss/(Gain) on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Loss/(gain) on fair value changes in
pledged structured bank deposit

Share option expenses
(Reversal)/Allowance for inventories
Allowance for doubtful debts

Share of result of associate

REEE

BB R 18
FLNPITR B AETTRE -
ME - BERRETE

REWFEITE

BNAEFRIAEH

BN EEHH

B EERE

SN0k Fad
B

BATERR AR

HRITH S A

H & — R B QR
Yezs

HEME  BEK
KRR (W)
EHEMEBIERITER
MNFEESER
(ozs)

B

FE (Bm), &
R

DIEBE R B EE

2017

—E—+tF

Note HK$'000
Bt FExT

(298,202)

75
92
2,877
1,864

156,391
879
(18)

37,006
(3,793)

32,051

Operating cash flows before movements in
working capital

Decrease/(increase) in inventories

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other
receivables

Increase/(decrease) in loan receivables

(Decrease)/increase in trade payable

Decrease in other payables and
accrued expenses
Decrease in rental deposits

HEBSBBAIMLE
REmnE
FERD (8 m)
B 5 &k H th EIKRIAE
(38, mb
FEM B g i, CRid)
B o RN RIECRL),/
&N

B 1 3R R
GESEC)
BEREHD

(68,395)
46,256

36,995
(88,586)

(11,107)

(5,192)
(96)

2016
—E—RF
HK$'000
TABTT

(26,107)

23

14,946
257

(9,295)
17,588

(8,330)

7,642

(4,636)
620
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

RERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE_Z—+F=A=+—HILFE

2017

—E—+tHF

Note HK$'000
k=3 FET

90,125
(879)

(91,004)

Cash (used in)/generated from operations e (FR) /sl e

Income tax paid BARATEH

NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED BeSEE (FrA), /e
FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES HeFE

INVESTING ACTIVITIES BRETE

Net cash outflow from acquisition of WEEN B A RIMIRE
subsidiary (Note 34) T FRE (M 3E34)

Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Interest received

Disposal of a subsidiary

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

HEME - BE L&A
BTSSR IR

BEHFE

HE—HHBERF]

NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED FROM #&& ;%% (FTA), Fiis

(12,395)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES RE&FHE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REEE
Repayment of bank and other borrowings BERITREMEE
Interest paid ERFLE

Repayment of obligations under finance lease {EE &M EER

New bank and other borrowings raised
Net proceed from exercise of share option

Repayment to directors
Net Proceeds from placing of share
Advance from directors

ERTREMER

TR AR R PT IS IR
pt=E ]

DEEFE

B & B An Y PR 1S 5RO 88

KEEFHBHK

(16,619)
(711)

7,700

40,960
(13,300)
59,381
13,400

NET CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

BMEFHRE(FTA)
REFHE

2016
—E—RF
HK$'000
:F/EE

3,589
(935)

2,654

11,840

(150)

(215)

11,481

(149,711)
(2,425)
(208)
140,113

(12,231)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE_T—tF=A=1+—RHLLFE

2017
—E—tF

HK$'000
FTHET

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND R& R IR&EEY

CASH EQUIVALENTS (Ra), /EhnEE
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FENRERESEEY

BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE INEPE KB R E
CHANGES

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT EXRBLRESZEY
END OF THE YEAR,
Bank balances and cash 25| ARITEBRNIRS

2016
—ET—RF
HK$'000
T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BEZT—tF=A=1+—HILFE)

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

L & A International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability and its shares are listed on the Growth
Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). Pursuant to the enforcement of the
Share Charge on 11 May 2016 which reduced the shareholding
interests of Yang's Holdings Capital Limited, a private limited
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, from 51.02%
to 30.02%, Yang's Holdings Capital Limited ceased to be the
immediate holding company. Accordingly, the holding
company of Yang's Holding Capital Limited, YWH Investment
Holding Limited, a private limited company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands and Mr. Yang Wan Ho who controls YWH
Investment Holding Limited, also ceased to be the ultimate
holding company and ultimate controlling shareholder on 11
May 2016, respectively.

The addresses of the registered office and the principal place
of business of the Company are P.O. Box 309, Ugland House,
Grand Cayman, KY-1104 Cayman Islands and Flat 1, Block C,
11/F, Hong Kong Spinner Industrial Building, Phase 5, 762
Cheung Sha Wan Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong, respectively.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
principally engaged in the manufacturing, sales and retailing of
garment products and provision of loan and other financial
services.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars ("HK$"), which is different from the functional
currency of the Company, United States dollars (“US$"). The
directors consider that presenting the consolidated financial
statements in HK$ is preferable when controlling and
monitoring the performance and financial position of the
Group.

—REHR

SOHAFERERAR([AAR])EHS
HEFMAZRERRERAR - HRMHD
MREBBESRXZAAR AR (B A
¥REm - RER=_ZT—A"FRAT—H
ETORMDFR  ERBRZHSFMAK
S HFLABBR AR Yang's Holdings Capital
Limited &9 A% # B4 51.02% 8 230.02% *
Yang's Holdings Capital Limited N5 /& B 4%
&~ Al It + Yang's Holdings Capital
Limited B9 ¥ A% A 7] ~ 75 8 BR &0 B & = i
B 32 B9 FL A B BR A & YWH Investment
Holding Limited &2 % Il YWH Investment
Holding Limited 945 X SSEER = — R F
EAT+T—HYRTBAREIERARRE
IR RRARER ©

RATMFMREEREZEENE SR
£ P.0. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand
Cayman, KY-1104 Cayman Islands & &5 1L
ERAVEBIQFREAYBIERNEFH
Hi11ECRE1E o

AARRREERRAR - AEBETERE
SUE HERTEREKER  UREHE
IR S E & BRARTS

FEMBHRERIDAET(ET)Z2S A
AMRARBEERET((XT)) - &EF
RA - BEH REEREENRIR TG
ARRME - NBT2IERE M BERERRIE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BEZZT—tF=A=1+—HILFE)

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2,

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSs")

(@) Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
The Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") for the first time in the
current year:

Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests
in Joint Operations

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative

Amendments to HKAS 16 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of

and HKAS 38 Depreciation and Amortisation
Amendments to HKAS 16 Agriculture: Bearer Plants
and HKAS 41

Amendments to HKFRS 10,  Investment Entities: Applying the
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28 Consolidation Exception

HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts
Amendments to HKAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial
Statements

Amendments to HKFRSS Annual Improvements to HKFRSS
2012-2014 Cycle

Except as described below, the application of the
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group's financial performance
and positions for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

FERAFIREETEEMBRESE
RI(TEBMBREERA )

(@) RAFEBRHEMNERME

WEEABET AR
RAGERE - ANEEE ERER T
EAGHMAE ((BEGANAE])

B BB ERELANERTA :

EAMBREEAFE R WA ERHER
CHEY) ERpEE

BREEAZ 1R (BIA) REE

BEGTENS6RREE HANEREHN
SHEAERF(ETL)  ARRIA

BEESENS6KREE BX:ELRED
SHEAFENF(BAE)

FRMBREENE 0% RERR: ER
FRMBRELARZ RN HER AR
BRGHEFBH R
CHEY)

EEMBREEAZ U  EEETRA

BRGHENS R (BAAK) BUMBHRY

ERE
BEMBRERER(BIA) BRUBREES
ZZ2-IfF
—E-MEEH
MEEYE

BRTXHAEN  REAFERABEE
MBS EANET AL EEANEE R
BRI RBEFENTBRIR MR
R/ S %SGR REAEREE
HEREARTE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BEZT—tF=A=1+—HILFE)

2,

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (continued)

(@) Amendments to HKFRSs that are

mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative

The Group has applied the amendments to HKAS 1
Disclosure Initiative for the first time in the current year.
The amendments to HKAS 1 clarify that an entity need
not provide a specific disclosure required by an HKFRS if
the information resulting from the disclosure is not
material, and give guidance on the bases of aggregating
and disaggregating information. However, the
amendment reiterate that an entity should consider
providing addition disclosures when compliance with the
specific requirements in HKFRS is insufficient to enable
users of financial statements to understand the impact of
particular transactions, events and conditions on the
entity’s financial position and financial performance.
Furthermore, the amendments require that an entity’s
share of the other comprehensive income of associates
and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method
should be presented separately from those arising from
the Group, and should be separated into the share of
items that, in accordance with other HKFRSs: (i) will not
be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss; and (i) will
be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when
specific conditions are met.

As required by the amendments, the share of other
comprehensive income of associates had been
separately presented and had been separated into (i) will
not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss; and (ii)
will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when
specific conditions are met. Other than such a change in
presentation, the application of the amendments to HKAS
1 has not resulted in any impact on the financial
performance or financial position of the Group in these
consolidated financial statements.

2. BRAFTREEITEBMBREE
RI(TEBMIREZER ) (40)

(a)

AR B 3 A SR RO B B A B
FERBEITA © ()

BBETHERE 1K (BT
BEata]
AEERAFRERERETLGHE
RIS 158 TREERT 8] (BRI ) - B8
SRIEAF1RUETA)ES - WK
BEMYTEAN  ERHARRELS
S ER MR EEL R RIREE -
WHLE GF K 7 DI E K o045 B A e e it
5l - A - RFEFTER - HWIKE
BRUHREERNT EEREHNT
BTRARVBHRRERERBRSE
X5 B RGEHFHERM SRR
MBRENTE  ABEREZEHE
TRER o BEON - RFEFTARER
RAESAEANRNERBDIEBZ R R
BECENEMEERERAREEE
AMEMEEKRESFES  WRE
HibBBMBRELNBIL25 016
BOERTEEHR SO BEBRMNA
B R)E AR ERERERK
BN BEEEEMNEAER -

]

R EERIABRE » DhEE QA
WEMEEREEBIZY] K52
IIRONERTEEFR D BERAMNA
B R)VEN AR ERTRERSK
EFOBRERENER - BRERZET
N EREESAENE1RUE
AR A EHZERAMBRRTA
KB BRBR R BSIRER A

=271
FE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BEZZT—tF=A=1+—HILFE)

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSs") (continued)

(b) New and revised standards and
interpretations issued but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments?

HKFRS 15 and clarifications  Revenue from Contracts with Customers?

to HKFRS 15

HKFRS 16 Lease’

HK (IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advanced Consideration?

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based
Payment Transactions?

Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with
HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an

and HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture*

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative'

Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for
Unrealised Losses'

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfer of Investment Properties?

Amendments to HKFRSS Annual Improvements to HKFRSS 2014-2016
Cycle?

L Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1

January 2017, with earlier application permitted.
2 Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1

January 2018, with earlier application permitted.

g Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2019, with earlier application permitted.

9 Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after a
date to be determined.

5 Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2017 or 1 January 2018, as appropriate.

FERAFIREETEEMBRESE
RI(TEBMIEREZER ) (40

(b) EEMERERNHET REE

R ER KRR

AEE W EB R A THIEB/MER
EREHFR] RRERTRAN B MESE
Al

BENBREEANEIR SRIA?
ERHBRLENF15% REANKR
REBHBEL LR

BISHEE

BANBREENE 165 AES

B (AREHRERE NERFRBEARE?
ZES)-RRENY
EANBREENE S URHARRAZZS

(BATE) LB RGHE?
BEMBAERARLR ERERMHREED
(BATE) FARRBAN] B
—HHERERMHR
HEAZEON 2/
TAP
BENBAEEAR 0% RAZEABENT
REBGHENZERE RABRAHEE
(BATE) HELIA
BEETHENETR BEEE
(BATE)
BEESENE NS  HARABERIEL
(BATE) HRAE'
FRGHENFOR  BBREDE
(BATE)
BBAEREE BEMBHEREY_F
(BATE) —MEE-B-RE
BEFEE

! N_T—tF— A A Z&HA
EETEIRAER - AJREEM -

z WZE—N\F—-A Bz &K
METHIRAER - AJREEM -

? NZT—NF—A—-BAx &R
VERTHRAR  AIRREEA -

¢ NERFEENR MK ZRFAGNR
FTEARIAERL -

s R_FB—tF—A—Bx _F-N\
F—A—BER) k2 &ERBE
BAHEARAER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BEZT—tF=A=1+—HILFE)

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSs") (continued)

(b) New and revised standards and
interpretations issued but not yet
effective (continued)

The directors anticipate that the application of the above
new and revised HKFRSs will have no material impact on

the consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduced new requirements for
the classification and measurement of financial assets.
HKFRS 9 was subsequently amended in 2010 to include
requirements for the classification and measurement of
financial liabilities and for derecognition, and in 2013 to
include the new requirements for general hedge
accounting. Another revised version of HKFRS 9 was
issued in 2014 mainly to include (a) impairment
requirements for financial assets and (b) limited
amendments to the classification and measurement
requirements by introducing a ‘fair value through other
comprehensive income’ (FVTOCI) measurement category

for certain simple debt instruments.

2.

FERAFIREETEBMBRESE
RI(TEBMIREZER ) (40)

(b)

C BB R E MBI HET REB
R R R (2)

EETRHER LA REEFTEE
P/ EL BTG YGRS BIRE
BKEATE -

ERVMBHBEEAFIR( @
TA]
R-ZBTNFRHOBTEHBREE
AEIRIIATREEDBLFTEN
HRE - RN -_ZE—ZFEITNE
AU BRELNEORHASREE
DRRRFERARKIERORE - A
ER-ZF—=FMA—RE TS
FRE - R T —OFRMOFEH
BRELERNE IR 5 —ALIERT IR
AREZNA (8) & BEERNRERTE
LO#ERETHERBTASIAIR
AFEFAEMEEEE] FFER
A BOoBRAEREFRLERE
Al e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR RR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(Bz2=—Z2—+tF=A=1+—HLHFE)

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (continued)

2,

(b)

New and revised standards and
interpretations issued but not yet
effective (continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (Continued)

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 are described below:

All recognised financial assets that are within the
scope of HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement” are required to be
subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair
value. Specifically, debt investments that are held
within a business model whose objective is to
collect the contractual cash flows, and that have
contractual cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal outstanding
are generally measured at amortised cost at the
end of subsequent accounting periods. Debt
instruments that are held within a business model
whose objective is achieved both by collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets,
and that have contractual terms of the financial
asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding, are measured at
FVTOCI. All other debt investments and equity
investments are measured at their fair value at the
end of subsequent accounting periods. In addition,
under HKFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable
election to present subsequent changes in the fair
value of an equity investment (that is not held for
trading) in other comprehensive income, with only
dividend income generally recognised in profit or
loss.

2.

FERAFIREETEEMBRESE
RI(TEBMIEREZER ) (40

(b) EEMERERNHET REE

HEL &SI
BEREMBREENFIN M
TRI#
BEEVBREENEIRNEIERE
ESUS NN

— REESFEUFIR[EMTA:
BRNTE] BEANMACHEREZR
BE - HEAREHEKARAFER
B HHRE  MKBEHNRESRER
B EBRABENEHRE &
ABERRI A RAREEREH
ERMANRERENEHRE  —K
RER ST HRIZBHERANGTE - 1
BRERKEENRSREREE
TRMEENEBRAPHENELT
B UREREEADBRRSTIREE
RHELMARAINAS RAREER
SHENRERENEE LA - JhiZ
RNFEFARMEEKEE - IE
HiEHRERBREREONERS
SRR A FERE - I RIEFE
BPBMEERNE O - BEAIMEH
TRHEEER  REMEEKEE
YIFEREENEREEAHENE
B2 —RENBREIRIK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BEZT—tF=A=1+—HILFE)

2,

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (continued)

(b) New and revised standards and

interpretations issued but not yet
effective (Continued)
HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (Continued)

— In relation to the impairment of financial assets,
HKFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model, as
opposed to an incurred credit loss model under
HKAS 39. The expected credit loss model requires
an entity to account for expected credit losses and
changes in those expected credit losses at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition. In other words, it is no longer
necessary for a credit event to have occurred
before credit losses are recognised.

The directors are currently assessing the impact which
the application of HKFRS 9 in the future may have on the
amounts reported in respect of the Group's financial
assets and financial liabilities. However, it is not
practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect
of HKFRS 9 until the Group performs a detailed review.

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers”

HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single
comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting
for revenue arising from contracts with customers.
HKFRS 15 will supersede the current revenue recognition
guidance including HKAS 18 “Revenue”, HKAS 11
“Construction Contracts” and the related interpretations
when it becomes effective.

2.

FERAFIREETEBMBRESE
RI(TEBMIREZER ) (40)

(b) SHEMERERNHFTREE
FTERIRZRE®)

ERVMEBREERNEIRI£R

IR|#)

— HeREENRENES B2E
BEFERIFEI9RIB NIREE
AEEEBEXGERAR - &
B R EERFIRAE TR
TEHEEBEENE - B
EEBBEARTERNESR
EHHEEREEBERED
AR AR {EERBR BV

RUARK)EE) - B2 B
BRGERECEBESHIRERE
BEE -

EXHAEHMERREREEVBHREE
AFIORHAKESREERSRARD
ERTHEAERBRNZE - Al N&EH
REKFAEM B LA EGMETENS
HREEAEIROTE -

ERMBBRELAEISKIFTFEN
Wz |
BRMBRELNFE ISR TE-—RE—2
EEARERAAEES & OREE RS
AR - BAEMBREERNE S|PV LR
HERABRBHENEFE S ERF 185 [
®m BREEAENENRIRESH]I R
HERE W RERES] -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR RR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)

(BE=—Z—tF=A=+—HLHFE)

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSs") (continued)

(b) New and revised standards and
interpretations issued but not yet
effective (continued)

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers” (Continued)

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to
be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.
Specifically, the standard introduces a 5-step approach
to revenue recognition:

2,

e Step1:

e Step 2:

e Step3:

e Step4:

e Steps:

Identify the contract(s) with a customer
Identify the performance obligations in
the contract

Determine the transaction price

Allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract

Recognise revenue when (or as) the
entity satisfies a performance obligation

2.

FERAFIREETEEMBRESE
RI(TEBMIEREZER ) (40

(b) SHEMERERNOHFTIREE
FTERIREE B

BRMBREENEISHRIER
ek l(#)

BREV B MEERE15RAZLR
ARERBNERHL M TP EEAE
Bl R A IR Ry - S RRAE AL AR
ZERBMRRBRZEERIREAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BEZT—tF=A=1+—HILFE)

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSs") (continued)
(b) New and revised standards and

interpretations issued but not yet
effective (continued)

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers” (Continued)

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or
as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
‘control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the
customer. Far more prescriptive guidance has been
added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios.
Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by
HKFRS 15.

In 2016, the HKICPA issued Clarification to HKFRS 15 in
relation to the identification of performance obligations,
principal versus agent considerations as well as licensing
application guidance.

The directors anticipate that the application of HKFRS 15
in the future may have a material impact on the amounts
reported and disclosures made in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements. However, it is not
practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect
of HKFRS 15 until the Group performs a detailed review.

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BEZZT—tF=A=1+—HILFE)

2,

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (continued)

(b) New and revised standards and

interpretations issued but not yet
effective (continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting
treatments for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will
supersede the current lease guidance including HKAS 17
Leases and the related interpretations when it becomes
effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes leases and service contracts on
the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by a
customer. Distinctions of operating leases (off balance
sheet) and finance leases (on balance sheet) are removed
for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model where
a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability have to
be recognized for all leases by lessees (i.e. all on balance
sheet) except for short-term leases and leases of low
value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain
exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of
the lease liability. The lease liability is initially measured
at the present value of the lease payments that are not
paid at that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is
adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well as the
impact of lease modifications, amongst others.
Furthermore, the classification of cash flows will also be
affected as operating lease payments under HKAS 17 are
presented as operating cash flows; whereas under the
HKFRS 16 model, the lease payments will be split into a
principal and an interest portion which will be presented
as financing and operating cash flows respectively.

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BEZT—tF=A=1+—HILFE)

2,

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (continued)

(b) New and revised standards and

interpretations issued but not yet
effective (continued)
HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

Under HKAS 17, the Group has already recognized an
asset and a related finance lease liability for finance lease
arrangement and prepaid lease payments for leasehold
lands where the Group is a lessee. The application of
HKFRS 16 may result in potential changes in classification
of these assets depending on whether the Group
presents right-of-use assets separately or within the
same line item at which the corresponding underlying
assets would be presented if they were owned.

In contrast to lessee accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially
carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in
HKAS 17, and continues to require a lessor to classify a
lease either as an operating lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by
HKFRS 16.

A preliminary assessment indicates that these
arrangements will meet the definition of a lease under
HKFRS 16, and hence the Group will recognize a right-of-
use asset and a corresponding liability in respect of all
these leases unless they qualify for low value or short-
term leases upon the application of HKFRS 16. The new
requirement to recognize a right-of-use asset and a
related lease liability is expected to have a significant
impact on the amounts recognized in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements and the directors of
the Company are currently assessing its potential impact.
It is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of
the financial effect until the directors complete the
review.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR RR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BEZZT—tF=A=1+—HILFE)

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Statement of Compliance and Basis of
Preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM Listing Rules”) and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (“CQO").

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristic of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in the consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that are
within the scope of HKAS 17 “Leases”, and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use
in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BEZT—tF=A=1+—HILFE)

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Statement of Compliance and Basis of
Preparation (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purpose, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies adopted are as follows:

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Ccompany:

° has power over the investee;

o Is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassess whether or not it controls an investee if

facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR RR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BEZZT—tF=A=1+—HILFE)

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary. Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Merger accounting for business combination
involving entities under common control

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements items of the combining entities or businesses in
which the common control combination occurs as if they had
been combined from the earliest date presented.

The net assets of the combining entities or businesses are
consolidated using the existing book values from the
controlling party’s perspective. No amount is recognised in
respect of goodwill or excess of acquirer’s interest in the net
fair value of acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities over cost at the time of common control
combination, to the extent of the continuation of the controlling
party’s interest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)

(BE-%—

3.

+tFE=A=+—BItFE)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Merger accounting for business combination
involving entities under common control
(Continued)

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income include the results of each of the
combining entities or businesses from the earliest date
presented, regardless of the date of the common control
combination.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial
statements are presented as if the entities or businesses had
been combined at the end of the previous reporting period.

Business combination

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the
assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the
acquisition date, except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets
related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 12
Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits
respectively;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR RR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BEZZT—tF=A=1+—HILFE)

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combination (continued)

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment transactions of the acquiree or the replacement
of an acquiree’s share-based payment transactions with
share-based payment transactions of the Group are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment at the acquisition date; and

° assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured
in accordance with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirers
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date.

Non-controlling interest that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the
relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation may
be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of
measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction
basis.

When the consideration transferred by the Grcoup in a
business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and
included as part of the consideration transferred in a business
combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively, with the corresponding
adjustments made against goodwill. Measurement period
adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the “measurement period”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BEZT—tF=A=1+—HILFE)

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Business combination (continued)

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration
that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments
depends on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is
remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with
the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss.

Goodwiill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
(see the accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes
and not larger that an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently when there is an indication that
the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a reporting period, the cash generated unit (or group of
cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period.
If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or
group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination
of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR RR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BEZZT—tF=A=1+—HILFE)

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, an
investment in an associate is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of the associates.
When the Group'’s share of losses of an associate exceeds the
Group's interest in that associate (which includes any long-
term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group'’s net
investment in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any
excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group's
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment,
is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in
which the investment is acquired.
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3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Ccontinued)
Investments in associates (continued)

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether
it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect
to the Group's investment in an associate. When necessary,
the entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36
“Impairment of Assets” as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable
amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with its associate, profits and
losses resulting from the transactions with the associate are
recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements
only to the extent of interests in the associate that are not
related to the Group.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods sold in the normal course of business, net of discounts
and sales related taxes.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods
are delivered and titles have passed, at which time all the
following conditions are satisfied:

. the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant
risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

o the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with

ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

o the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;,
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

o it is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the transaction will flow to the Group; and

° the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and
the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest
income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which
is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessor
Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leasing (Continued)

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of
the Group at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if
lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments.
The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the
consolidated statement of financial position as obligations
under finance leases. Lease payments are apportioned
between finance expenses and reduction of the lease
obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses are
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless they are
directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are
capitalised in accordance with the Group's general policy on
borrowing costs (see the accounting policy below). Operating
lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in
which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are
recognised as an expense in the period in which they are
incurred.

Prepaid lease payments

Interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an operating
lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the
consolidated statement of financial position and is amortised
over the lease term on a straight-line basis.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at
the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s entities are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e.
Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the end
of each reporting period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation), all of the
exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

On disposal of a group entity that is not a foreign operation, the
exchange differences accumulated in equity relating to
translation of assets and liabilities of that group entity into
presentation currency of the Group are transferred to retained
profits.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned
on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalization.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
year in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and PRC
state-managed retirement benefits schemes are charged as an
expense when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit
in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date. The fair value determined
at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group's estimate of equity instruments that will
eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest.
The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense
reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment
to share options reserve.

For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant,
the fair value of the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be
transferred to retained earnings.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Ccontinued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before taxation” as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income because of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rate (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or 10ss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use
in the production or supply of goods, or for administrative
purposes (other than construction in progress as described
below) are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continuead)
Construction in progress including property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production, supply
or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any
recognised impairment loss. Costs include professional fees
and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Such
properties are classified to the appropriate categories of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for
intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis
as other property assets, commences when the assets are
ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment (other than construction in
progress) less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their
expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets.
However, when there is no reasonable certainty that ownership
will be obtained by the end of the lease term, assets are
depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful
lives.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised so as to write
off the cost of investment properties over their estimated
useful lives and after taking into account of their estimated
residual value, using the straight-line method.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use
and no future economic benefits are expected from its
disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in
profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as
their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in
a business combination with finite useful lives are reported at
cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that
are acquired separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of tangible assets and intangible
assets other than goodwill (see the
accounting policy in respect of goodwill
above)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible assets and intangible assets
with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment 10ss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated
to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for
which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible
assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at
least annually, and whenever there is an indication that they
may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset
for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of tangible assets and intangible
assets other than goodwill (see the
accounting policy in respect of goodwill
above) (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and
then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit. The carrying amount
of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss
that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is
allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on weighted
average cost method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs
of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held
at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)

(BE-%—

3.

+tFE=A=+—BItFE)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Ccontinued)
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation,
and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at
the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks
and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision
is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of
those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money
is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a
provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received and the amount of the
receivable can be measured reliably.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

Financial assets are mainly classified into and loans and
receivables. The classification depends on the nature and
purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of
initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments other than those financial assets classified as
at fair value through profit or loss.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and
receivables (including trade and other receivables, loan
receivables, pledged bank deposits and bank balances and
cash) are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any identified impairment losses (see
accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets
below).

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate, except for short-term receivables where the recognition
of interest would be immaterial.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Ccontinued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for
indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period.
Financial assets are considered to be impaired where there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been
affected.

Objective evidence of impairment of financial assets could
include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

o breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

. it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
receivables that are assessed not to be impaired individually
are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis.
Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables
could include the Group's past experience of collecting
payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in
the portfolio past the respective credit period, observable
changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate
with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of
the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in
the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised
in profit or loss. When a trade receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the
investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified either as financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition. Interest expense is
recognised on an effective interest basis.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables, and
bank and other borrowings) are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Derecognition

The Group derecognised a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the assets expire or,
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset's carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognised financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liabilities derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Contingent assets and liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the Group. It can also
be a present obligation arising from past events that is not
recognised because it is not probable that outflow of economic
resources will be required or the amount of obligation cannot
be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements. When a change
in the probability of an outflow occurs so that the outflow is
probable, it will then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past
events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the Group. A contingent
asset is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements when an inflow of economic
benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually certain, an asset is
recognised.

Segment information

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services and the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Related parties
For the purposes of these financial statements, related parties
include a person and entity as defined below:

@

(o)

A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

0]

(i

(iif)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group; or

An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity) if any
of the following conditions applies:

(i)

(iii)

(V)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third entity;,

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group. If the reporting entity is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are
also related to the plan;
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Related parties (Continued)

(o)

(Continued)
(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(viiy a person identified in (a)(i) has significant voting
power in the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a Group of which it is
a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

A transaction is considered to be a related party
transaction when there is a transfer of resources or
obligations between related parties.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity
and include:

() that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner,

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(i)  dependents of that person or that person’s spouse
or domestic partner.
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+tFE=A=+—BItFE)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors are required to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated allowance for inventories
Management of the Group reviews its inventories at the end of
the reporting period and makes allowance for obsolete and
slow-moving inventory items identified that are no longer
suitable for use in production. Management estimates the net
realisable value for such items primarily based on the latest
invoice prices and current market conditions. The Group
carries out an inventory review by making use of the aging
analysis at the end of the reporting period and make allowance
for obsolete items.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Estimated impairment of trade receivables
When there is objective evidence of impairment loss, the
Group takes into consideration the estimated future cash
flows. The amount of the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future
credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition). Where the actual
future cash flows are less than expected, a material
impairment loss may arise.

Impairment for goodwill and intangible
assets

Determining whether goodwill and intangible assets is impaired
requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-
generating units to which goodwill has been allocated. The
value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the
future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating
unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value.

Impairment of interest in an associate
Management determines whether interest in an associate have
suffered any impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable, according to their recoverable amount
determined by the cash-generating unit based on value in use
calculation. The value in use calculation requires the Group to
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the
cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value. The value in use calculation also
involves the inputs of subjective assumptions and estimates.
Any changes in these assumptions and estimates can
significantly affect the estimate of the fair value of the interest
in an associate and the impairment loss thereon.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Valuation of intangible assets and useful lives
The Group has made estimations and assumptions in relation
to the potential future cash flows of identifiable intangible
assets acquired as part of business combinations. This
assessment involves estimations and assumptions relating to
potential future revenues, appropriate discount rates and the
useful lives of such assets. These estimations and assumptions
impact the profit or loss over the useful life of the intangible
asset.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group's operating segments are determined based on
information reported to the chief operating decision maker of
the Group (the executive directors of the Company who are
also directors of certain major operating subsidiaries), for the
purpose of resource allocation and performance assessment.
These executive directors regularly review revenue and results
analysis by (i) OEM Business, (i) Retail Business and (i) money
lending. No analysis of segment assets or segment liabilities is
presented as such information is not regularly provided to
these executive directors.

(i) OEM Business: manufacturing and sales of OEM garment
products.

(i) Retail Business: retailing of garment products under the
Group's own brand.

(i) Money Lending: Provision of loan services and other
financial services.
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AR ETEENBERRASREIFD
Bt RBRER - ARG REREESRRE
REW e - AERR X KA/ FHHH
M REBR - ZFhEFREREETE
ERERFHANERBRTE -

Wz K 7 BB E

AEENEED R IREBEAAEEEIZL
BRRE (ARARWTES  WEN/ET
IBLEMBRARANER)MERDERE
AAAME2RNERETE - RFHTES
() RREEIERETS © ()T EEH R (i) R
BEEMEFMREREEDN - HRZEFH
TEEREEHRESFEEXDBAR
AR MAE25)E@IHT -

() REBEEXT  WEREERERE
%i@tﬂﬁ Euu"

(ih ZTEXR: EAKEEARETEE
BRECE S

@iy  HE REERRSE K E M SRR
& o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BEZZ—+tF=RA=T—RHILFE)

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WakoHBERE)
(Continued)
Segment revenue and results BH&E&%E
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results ‘|‘§IJ7%$’E Bz E D HE D W R EF
by operating segments. BEAHT
For the year ended 31 March 2017 BE-Z—tH&=A=1+—HILEE

OEM Retail Money  Segment
Business Business Lending total Eliminations Total
R

RERE FEXE BE  AEs HiH act
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TRR TR TRR TR TR TER

Revenue Wz

External sales HIMEE b b b 60,830
Inter-segment DEPEHE *
sales* : 3,159 (3,159)

Total segment revenue 429 #URas ) : b 63,989 (3,159)
Results E3
Segment results NEER (41,985) (10,537) 5 (47,105) (47,105)
Share result of associate A& A RIEE (32,051)
Impairment of investment 7 — B4 A 718

in an associate ERRE (156,391)
Corporate expenses TERAY (61,736)
Finance costs B A (879)
Other income, and other  E- A A LA K2 Eofe

gains and losses Wz B (40)
Loss before taxation BRI R (298,202)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BEZZ—+F=A=T—RHILFE)

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WEkosHERE)
(Continued)
Segment revenue and results (continued) ’“‘BH&Z&&EZ%F (%)
For the year ended 31 March 2016 BE-Z—RE=HA=+—HLEFE

OEM Retalil Segment
Business Business total  Eliminations Total
JR &N

BUERT TEXH 7R KRRt bafis wat
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TR TR THET TR

Revenue Yz

External sales HIMEE 184,161 26,193 210,354 - 210,354

Inter-segment sales* DEPREISHE * 11,608 - 11,608 (11,608) -
Total segment revenue BoEW 195,769 26,193 221,962 (11,608) 210,354
Results E
Segment results DEBEE (16,241) (8,700) (24,941) - (24,941)
Corporate expenses ERY (11,080)
Finance costs BIFSRKAR (2,425)
Fair value change inpledged 2 EME&RBILRITER

structured bank deposit WATEEE) 23)
Other income, and other H AR ASA R E At

gains and losses W3k iR 9,058
Gain on disposal of HE—fMHERR

a subsidiary ek % 3,304
Loss before tax FREiATES 1R (26,107)
& Inter-segment revenue is charged at prevailing market rates. & D E I EIRR TS BB AR -
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the EED AR FT IR MM I A AR &
same as the Group's accounting policies described in note 3. EaBRER - D HERESHEME
Segment results represents profit/loss incurred from each EmF R BYRDBREMKA - H
segment without allocation of other income, other gains and HlEREE ETOERST - BE—H
losses, certain corporate expenses, gain on disposal of a B ARk - BIRPEBERITER
subsidiary, fair value change in pledged structured bank HAFEZE - Lmﬁﬂiu&ﬁﬁ%}iz&
deposit, listing expenses and finance costs. This is the measure I RASBEFELERREZRUS
reported to the chief operating decision maker of the Group for BRMHERBWETERE ©
the purpose of resource allocation and performance
assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
" _\ézﬁ\jﬁﬁ% Bﬂ-%I

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BE2—ZT—tF=A=1T—HILFE)

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. W&EkoIPER(#)
(Continued)
Other segment information Hity o BER
Year ended 31 March 2017 BE-_Z—tH&E=A=1+—HLEE

OEM GIE] Money
Business Business Lending Total
R&E

RERK DEXK HE Azt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET T T TET

Amounts included in the SEDHEERTA
measure of segment results: ojea
Depreciation of property, mE - BEREETE
plant and equipment 1,880 1,909
Depreciation of an investment —EREMENE
property 75 75
Release of prepaid lease payments 2k a8 & 308 92 92
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE - WiFE KR
plant and equipment HEE (474) (474)
(Reversal) Allowance for TR (BD)&E
inventories (4,069) (3,793)
Additions to non-current assets  SREBIEREEE 330
Year ended 31 March 2016 BE-Z—RE=A=+—HLEFE
O]=\Y/ Retail
Business Business Total
R &
RUE TS TEE FEET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHIT F&T
Amounts included in the AFESEEERFTA
measure of segment results: e :
Depreciation of property, V¥ - BREMERETE
plant and equipment 4,609 599 5,208
Depreciation of an —IBIREETE
investment property 79 = 79
Release of prepaid lease payments k78t & 208 109 = 109
Gain on disposal of property, HEME - BE KRB
plant and equipment HyUk 25 2,925 = 2,925
Allowance for inventories TFE R 14,176 770 14,946
Additions to non-current assets ANEFERBEE 17 198 215
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BEZT—tF=A=1+—HILFE)

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Geographical information

The Group's operations are located in Hong Kong, the United

States of America ("USA"), Europe and the PRC.

Information about the Group’s revenue from external
customers is presented based on the geographical location of
the customers, irrespective of the origin of the goods, is

detailed below:

USA
Hong Kong
PRC
Europe
Others

%M@
B
-
B
At

W & o RRE R (#)

i & &

AEENEBLEUNETE  EMNBAR

B([<E]) - B kR -

ERAAREERBINDELPH MG ERIRE

BEEMEM(TERE RS

2017
—E—tF
HK$'000

TET

45,009
13,738
1,137
946

60,830

Information about the Group’s non-current assets (excluding
deferred tax assets) is presented based on the geographical

location of the assets is detailed below:

USA
PRC
Hong Kong

&
8

IRH)FFIAT -

2016
—ET—RF
HK$'000
F& 7T

183,311
26,382
477

184

210,354

ERAKBEIRDEE (TRERLEREE
E)NERRBEEMERFTINT

2017
—E—tF
HK$'000
FExT

283,946
34,603
1,424

319,973

2016
NS
HK$'000
FHETT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BEZZ—+tF=A=+—HILFE)

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WEEkoHERE)
(Continued)
Information about major customers FEEFEHR
Revenue from customers of corresponding years contributing HEFERBEPEASEE KB 10%
over 10% of the Group'’s revenue are as follows: B E T

2017 2016
—E—+tF ZE—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000

Fi# FBT

Customer A* 41,967 160,656

@ Revenue from OEM business G KRB RBBREF B R

6. OTHER INCOME H g A

e

2017 2016
—B—tF —T—REF
HK$°000 HK$'000

T8 FBTT

Claim received from customers for PR FBUSET EUE
cancelled order HZ=E

Rental income WA

Bank interest income RITH B A

Others Eth
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BE2—Z—tF=A=1T—HILFE)

7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 7. HtthsEKRESE

2017 2016
—E—+tF ZEAF

HK$'000 HK$'000
FBT T

(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, HEWE  BENMKRE

plant and equipment 7 (E518), Wz (474)
Impairment of interest in an associate A E N B R E (156,391)
Impairment of intangible assets m A ERE (1,864)
Fair value change in pledged structured BIRIREEMRITTERN

bank deposit N EEE)

Gain on disposal of subsidiary HE B AR /R
Others Efth
(158,729)
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MEEAAE

2017 2016
—E—+tF T—REF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET

Interest on: THEBEHNF S

Bank borrowings IRITIEE
Obligations under finance leases BMEREEY
Other borrowings HigE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BEZZ—+tF=A=+—HILFE)

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) 9. FBFHMA%X (ER)

2017 2016
—E & —E—REF

HK$°000 HK$'000
TR TAT

Hong Kong Profits Tax BBNEH

— current year — REFE

— overprovision in prior years — BAFEBEEE
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") A B TSR

(TEFEH)

— current year — REE -
Deferred tax FIEFH B (1,190)
Income tax expenses (credit) Frisfim s (E%) (1,186)
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated EEFER TR BEMREFE O ER
assessable profit for both years. FREMA16.5%1& -
PRC EIT is calculated based on the statutory rate of 25% of the R D B FTIS AR T 3% 5% S 5 R B Ak AL 9 B
assessable profit for those subsidiaries established in the PRC, B2 B R v F 25% KA E R KA E -
as determined in accordance with the relevant income tax BT R TH R R B4R B PR S B AR ) I A&
rules and regulations in the PRC. PIEEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BE2—Z—tF=A=1T—HILFE)

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CREDIT) (Continued) 9. FBHEAX(ER)@)
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the RAFE iSRS EGEBE R EM
loss before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or ZHERWHFROBRBRIEEEROT

loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2017 2016
—E—+tH —T—RF

HK$°000 HK$'000
Tz TAT

Loss before taxation

BB A R 18 (298,202)

Tax at Hong Kong Profits tax rate of 16.5% REBNEHTE16.5%

(Note) TEEBIE (M) (49,203) (4,308)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for DAHB R OB G2

tax purpose 38,926 3,653
Tax effect of income not taxable for BERBIMADBEZE

tax purpose (747) (964)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries R E A RARE R A8 & KO B B

operating in other jurisdictions ARATRBENTE (811) (205)
Tax effect of temporary differences AEREREBARGETE

not recognized 4,907 2,339
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised REROHBEBENH G E 5,762
Overprovision in respect of prior years BT FEBERE (20)
Income tax expense for the year FEERTEHRIY (1,186)
Note: The income tax rate in the jurisdiction where the operations of Bt - ERANE B RS EERIE AEE R A FT

the Group substantially based is use. BRBIE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI
(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BE2—ZT—tF=A=1T—HILFE)

10. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

10.

Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging (crediting):

Director’s remuneration

Other Staff salaries and allowances

Retirement benefit scheme contributions,
excluding those of directors

EEHM

HBTTERE

RIRRERIFH B
(BZFRIN)

FEFE
FRBRAB GO LT & BEEE1E
o) ¢

2017 2016

—E—tF —EREF
HK$'000

HK$'000

FHET TAET

2,969
27,332

728

Total employee benefits expenses
Auditor’s remuneration
(including non-audit services)
Cost of inventories recognized as an expense
(Note)
Depreciation of an investment property
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments
(Reversal)/Allowance for inventories
Allowance for doubtful debts
Net exchange l0ss
Rental income from an investment property

Share-based payment expenses

BERMAX A

31,029 52,906

T B R 5 A

(BIEFFREURT) 900 1,671
ERRARINEERE

(Kt5%) 42,353 164,493
—IBREMENE 75 79
mE - BEREETE 1,909 5,208
TE FE & SR IE 8 92 109
FE(ER) i (3,793) 14,946
REEHE =
[E 5 E18 55 864

KB —BEREVENEER

WA

VAR 7 A EE R 9 < 3K

(7)
37,006

Note: Cost of sales included cost of inventories, allowance for
inventories and other direct operating cost of retail business

such as rental of retail shops.

Mt - HERABRBEFERS  FERERTE
EBOEMBERELEKA T EEHE

anmpEERERAT /201788 125



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BE2—Z—tF=A=1T—HILFE)

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

1. B FETBRAEREEME

emoluments

Details of the emoluments paid or payable to the
directors and the chief executive of the Company are as

follows:

11a. Directors’ and the chief executive’s

For year ended 31 March 2017

Name of director

Executive directors HTES
Mr. Ng Ka Ho' RRFAAE i
Mr. Yang Wan Ho? BXR%EE? fi
Mr. Yang Si Hang? BerlEss? fi
Mr. Yang Si Kit Kenny* Btk v
Non-executive directors FHTES
Ms. Rubby Chaus BEHLLS v
Mr. Wong Chiu Po¢ ERBLE vi
Independent non-executive  BiuFHTES
directors
Mr. Chan Chi Keung Alan’ BREs AT vii
Mr. Kwong Lun Kei Victor® BPREE e vili
Ms. Cheung Marn Kay® EEHLL? X
Mr. Ma Chi Ming™ BERFE X
Mr. Chan Ming Sun Jonathan' PBRERLE AT Xi
Mr. Ng Kai Shing™2 REB L Xii
Mr. Li Kin Ping™3 FRYEED Xiii

Ma.EERFETHAEME

ENRENARREEREETHRA
BB FBOT

BE=-ZE—tHF=A=+—HL
E£E

Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme
Fee allowances contributions Total
IER RIKER
e H 2Rk TR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET THEx
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BEZZT—tF=A=1+—HILFE)

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 1" EE - FETHAEREEMS
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued) (&)
11a. Directors’ and the chief executive's Ma.ESRFETBRAEME (®)
emoluments (continued)
For year ended 31 March 2016 BE-ZE—ARE=A=+—8H1
FE

Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme
Name of director Fee allowances  contributions Total

I8k BIRET
ik Hfth 28 sHEIftER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TER TAT

Executive directors HiTES

Mr. Ng Ka Ho REREE i 528 90 17 635
Mr. Yang Wan Ho BXRRE i 878 - - 878
Mr. Yang Si Hang HEkE i 2,000 480 18 2,498
Mr. Yang SiKit Kenny BRnE v 2,000 528 18 2,546
Non-executive directors EHITES

Ms. Rubby Chau BABBLT v 127 - - 127
Mr. Wong Chiu Po BERERE vi 13 = = 13

Independent non-executive BIFHTES

directors
Mr. Chan Chi Keung Alan BREREAE vii 132 - - 132
Ms. Cheung Marn Kay EEHRtT ix 240 - - 240
Mr. Chan Ming Sun Jonathan WL E Xi 240 - - 240
Mr. Kwong Lun Kei Victor BBELAE vili 108 - - 108
Mr. Ma Chi Ming SEHEE X - - - -

6,366 1,098 53 7,517
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)

(BE_Z—+F=A=+—HIEE)

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
11a. Directors’ and the chief executive's

emoluments (Continued)
Notes:

(i) Mr. Ng Ka Ho was appointed as an executive director on
13 July 2015.

(i) Mr. Yang Wan Ho resigned as an executive director on 9
September 2015.

(i) Mr. Yang Si Hang resigned as a chief executive officer on
3 March 2017.

(iv)  Mr. Yang Si Kit Kenny resigned as an executive director on
22 April 2016.

(v)  Ms. Rubby Chau resigned as a non-executive director on
12 October 2015.

(vi)  Mr. Wong Chiu Po was appointed as a non-executive
director on 12 October 2015 and resigned as an
independent non-executive director on 26 April 2017.

(vi)  Mr. Chan Chi Keung Alan resigned as an independent
non-executive director on 19 October 2015.

(vii)  Mr. Kwong Lun Kei Victor was appointed as an
independent non-executive director on 19 October 2015
and resigned as an independent non-executive director
on 3 March 2017.

(ix)  Ms. Cheung Marn Kay resigned as an independent
nonexecutive director on 29 April 2016.

x) Mr. Ma Chi Ming was appointed as an independent
nonexecutive director on 29 April 2016.
(xi)  Mr. Chan Ming Sun Jonathan resigned as an independent

non-executive director on 3 March 2017.

(i) Mr. Ng Kai Shing was appointed as an independent non-
executive director on 20 March 2017.

(xiii)  Mr. Li Kin Ping was appointed as an independent non-
executive director on 20 April 2017.

et

0]

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

v)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

x)

(xi)

(Xif)

(xili)

1. B FETBRAEREEMS

Ma.EERFETHRAEME ©)

RESFEEN_ZE-—RFLA+T=
HEZEANTES -

BXZEER-_Z—RFAANR
BHIHITES -

BREAER-_T-—LF=ANA
BEARERTE -

BREEENR_ZT-R"FOA
—tHABERTES -

ABHZLIN _E—RF+TA+=
AEHERITES -

BEREEEN_ZT-—RFTA+Z
REZERINTESE BN -F
—tFEA = HRBREBLIFHR
TE= -

REBREEN—_ZE—RFTATI
HEHEBLIFNITES

BEEEER_T-—AFTA TN
HEZERBIUFNTES &R
T+ HF=R=HEEBIIEH
TESE -
EEHZITR_T—"FWMNA
T NABHEBMIFMITES -

SEAEER-_FT—RFHA
THNWREZRERBIFNITE
=o

RELFEER_T—+F==
BEHEE L IFNTES -

RRBEER-_FT—LF=A
T BERERBYIENITES

FRIPEER_Z—+FHEA
T EREERBUIFNTES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BEZZT—tF=A=1+—HILFE)

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
11a. Directors’ and the chief executive’'s

emoluments (Continued)

Mr. Yang Si Hang is also the chief executive of the Group and his
emoluments disclosed above include those for services
rendered by him as the chief executive. The executive directors’
fees and other emoluments (including salaries and other
allowance, and retirement benefit scheme contributions) shown
above were mainly for their services as directors of the
Company and services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the Company and the Group, respectively. The
non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly
for their services as directors of the Company. The independent
non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly
for their services as directors of the Company.

11b. Employees’ emoluments
The five highest paid individuals of the Group include 2
directors (2016: 4) of the Company for the years ended
31 March 2017. The emoluments of the remaining 3
individual (2016: 1 individuals) are as follows:

Salaries and other allowances

T& &H A ER,
Retirement benefit scheme contributions iR ki@ F 5T 2 ¢t 2

1. EE FETBRAEREEME

Ma.EERFETHRAEME ©)

BHELETBARENEEZTHASR
EXFREMEBEREERTIEITRAR
REBBEOME - EXPITRATERHE
REMME (BEITE REMRE AR
KRB EEFK) TEZRERRFRAEH
EBNREERARESE RIRHEER
%o EXFIRFBITEEMNEEERER
RRRERRUIRS - EXPARBELIEH
TEEME TR RERRRAEERHR
& o

11b.EEME

BE_Z—tH=A=1+—HLL#F
B -ARERERRFMALEEAR
RAIMBER(ZF—RF: 0%F) -
BT=ZEAL(CT—RF: —R)
MBS -

2017 2016
—E—+tF T—R"EF
HK$'000 HK$'000

FET TAET

3,337
56
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BEZT—tF=A=1+—HILFE)

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 1" ES FETHAEREEMS
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) (#&)
11b. Employees’ emoluments (Continued) 11b.EEME (&)
The emoluments of the employees were within the EEMNMENTUATEE :

following bands:

Number of employees
BEAH
2017 2016

—E—tF —T—RF

Up to HK$1,000,000 Z%1,000,00078 7T

HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 BT 2
1,500,000 7T
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 BT E
2,000,000/ 7T
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 BT E
2,500,000 7T
No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the AEEMEAAQRTEAIESHAE
directors of the Company or the chief executive of the BEXrETRAESEERSHFMAL
Group or the five highest paid individuals as an TAERBE - ARSI ENAREE
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as HERMARE B R H RE S E AR
compensation for loss of office. None of the directors of BHEE #E-T—tFR-F X
the Company or the chief executive of the Group waived FZA=ZT—RHLEFE ARAES
any emoluments during the years ended 31 March 2017 HAREE FEEITIHA BB E IR
and 2016. ERIEE -
12. DIVIDEND 12. BE
No dividend has been proposed for the current reporting RIRITREPAIEBREHARE - HEEER
period or since the end of the reporting period (2016: nil). FIREMRE(ZT—RF : &) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BEZZT—tF=A=1+—HILFE)

13. LOSS PER SHARE 13. BREE
The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to RATHEE ABRIEERERBEBIIZUT
owners of the Company is based on the following data: HIRETE

2017 2016
—B—tF T—RF
HK$°000 HK$'000

FET T

Loss for the year attributable to owners of the s EERREREIEFTA
company for the purpose of basic 10ss RAGHEE ABLEA
per share 518 (294,298)

Number of shares BAEE

Weighted average number of ordinary shares s+ & G EAREEFAR

for the purpose of basic loss per share LSRR NRE 8 23,687,578 20,000,000
The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the HEERERNEEMANTBRMNETS
purpose of basic loss per share has been adjusted for the HE BT EE 28 Frilt AR (D HRARVE L A% o

subdivision of shares as detailed in note 28.

For the year ended 31 March 2017, no dilute loss per share has HE_ZT—+tF=ZA=+—HLFE R
been presented as the assumed exercise of share option TEITEBERE(FEARBEERR) SEE
would result in a decrease in loss per share which is anti- BREBERD - 25| GREEEE
dilutive.

For the year ended 31 March 2016, no diluted loss per share HE-Z—XF=A=+—HLFE ' H
has been presented as the Company has no potential dilutive R AR R R ¥R 5 BR R N 4 BT AE SN Y
ordinary shares outstanding during both reporting periods. BEEE TR MR GREEES

B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BE2—Z—tF=A=1T—HILFE)

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. Y% BERRE

Plantand Furniture and Office  Leasehold Motor Construction
Buildings ~ machinery  equipment  equipment improvement vehicles in progress Total
BY RERHE GERRE HORE HENFRE HE HRIR @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
T Tin Thn Tin Thn T T
Cost KA
At 1 April 2015 RZE-RFNA—H 35,958 78854 1759 6,0% 6,001 2897 & 131272
Additions RE - - - 1Y) 173 - - 275
Transfer B - 4% - - - - (46) -
Disposals e (1,210 (53,708) (160) (176) (1322) (1,715) = (53.291)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—AHEAR (15753) (1616) (34) (180) = (175) - (17,758)
Exchange realignment i A% (1,366) (405) (40) 00 ) 2 ) (1,9%)
At 31 March 2016 WZE-A~F=A=1t—H 17,29 YANA 152 5692 4839 986 - 53442
Additions e - - 5 278 - - 330
Disposals HeE (805) (1,491) - - - (325 - (2621)
Exchange realignment X A% (989) (359 (50) (11 (10) (11 = (1619)
At 31 March 2017 RZE—tF=A=1-H 15,435 1327 1475 5,633 5012 650 - 49,532
DEPRECIATION ik
At 31 March 2015 R-E-T1F=R=1-H 6,399 64960 1,609 5,557 5317 21% - 86,040
Provided for the year EEEE 686 3,36 Y] 3 614 268 - 5208
Disposals HE 65) (46,379) (154) (176) (1322) (1,284) - 49.376)
Eliminated on disposal of HE-HHBRRKEHE
a subsidiary (3,059) (1572) (34) () - (179) - (501)
Exchange realignment A (263 (311) (39) 79 m) ) - (786)
At 31 March 2016 RZE—RE=ZA=1-H 3698 20,068 1424 5363 4,53 986 - 36,075
Provided for the year EERE 326 1129 30 162 26 - - 1,909
Disposals HE (172) (1,360 - - - (329) - (1.85)
Exchange realignment ERHZ (216) (266) 51 (100) (105) (1 = (719)
At 31 March 2017 RZE—+F=A=1-H 3,636 19,571 1,403 35,378
CARRYING VALUES EAE
At 31 March 2017 R-E—+&=A=1-H 1,799 14,154
At 31 March 2016 W=E-RE=A=1-H 13531 3103 101 39 303 - - 17,361
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(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BE=—Z—tF=A=+—HLHFE)

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
The above items of property, plant and equipment other than
construction in progress are depreciated on a straight-line

15.

basis as follows:

Buildings

Plant and machinery
Furniture and equipment
Office equipment
Leasehold improvement

Motor vehicles

Over the period of the relevant lease

10% per annum

20% per annum

20%-25% per annum

Over the period of the relevant lease
or 5 years, whichever is shorter

30% per annum

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

HK$'000
TET

14. ¥ - BERRE®)
L - BE KREEE (ERIZBRIN
DEEERTHIERTE

BF AR OHR
B Bt ez TF10%
R IA S 5% FF 20%

PR 4 20%-25%
BEWEEE  RAEABEELOHERSE
DB E A%
5 1S4 30%
15. REYXE

COST RN

At 1 April 2015 RZZE—RFMA—AR 4,049
Exchange adjustments Rk (167)
At 31 March 2016 RZE—RF=A=1+—H 3,888
Exchange adjustments VE WA (230)

At 31 March 2017

DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT

At 1 April 2015

Exchange adjustments

Provided for the year

IrE MRIE

R-_Z—hFEMA—H 809
[ S R (33)
FERE 79

At 31 March 2016
Exchange adjustment
Provided for the year

R-E—RF=A=+—H

BE i
FRERE

At 31 March 2017

R_E—+tF=A=+—H

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 March 2017

fRmEE

R-ZE—tF=A=+—H

At 31 March 2016

RZE—RE=A=1+—~H 3,033
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(BE-_Z—tF=A=+—HLFE)
16. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

17.

16. ENHEERIEA

2017
—E—tF
HK$'000

TR

Analysed for reporting purposes as: BE2WEFTEDT

Non-current assets ERBEE

Current assets MENEE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. BREE

Cost:
At 1 April 2015, 31 March 2016
and 1 April 2016

Additions through acquisition of
a subsidiary

Service
Contract Trademark

REEH [l

HK$'000
TAET

HK$'000
TET

B
RZZE—RAFMA—H

- F=ZA=t+—H

RZE—AR"FMHA—AH - -
BRWE—HEKBAR

NE 9,503 2,868

At 31 March 2017

RZE—tF=A=1+—H 2,868

Accumulated amortisation:
At 1 April 2015, 31 March 2016
and 1 April 2016

Provided for the year
Impairment for the year

Bt -
R-Z—RHEMA—A

—E-XF=A=1+—H

M=—Z—REMA—H = =
FERE 2,639 238
FERE 1,864 =

At 31 March 2017

R-ZE—tF=A=1+—H

Net carrying amount:
At 31 March 2017

RESE
R-ZB—t&HE=H=+—H

2016

—EF

=

HK$'000
TAT

Total
@t
HK$'000
FETT

12,371

12,371

2,877
1,864
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(BEZZT—tF=A=1+—HILFE)

17.

18.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 17.
Note:

During the year ended 31 March 2017, certain acquisitions of other
intangible assets with aggregate amount of HK$12,373,000 has been
acquired as set out in follow:

Acquired through business combination, represented a trademark of
“LABORON" and an employment service contract for a designer. The
useful life of the trademark and the employment service contract is 10
years and 3 years respectively.

GOODWILL 18.

At cost and carrying amount: BERARREE :

BVEE#)
At -

BHE_ZT—+HE=-A=+—ALLEE HFTHM
| EEMEEEASA12,373000% T ' B
BAT AU -

BIBEA GHUE - #E [LABORON] 1R K — %

REtENEVERARE AL - BRELERRBE HH
AERERARIRI0FRIEF -

]

g

2017
—E—tF

HK$°000
FE&xT

At 1 April 2015, 31 March 2016 and 1 April 2016 RZZE—RFMNA—H - ZZ2—X~F
—A=+—Brk-_ZT—XRFWNUA—H =
Acquisition of a subsidiary W — B AT 7,919

At 31 March 2017 R—ZE—+F=H=+—H

Pursuant to business acquisition of Aji On Worldwide Holdings
Limited and its subsidiaries, goodwill has been generated and
which represents the, revenue growth and future market
development of Aji On Worldwide Holdings Limited and its
subsidiaries.

B 1 Aji On Worldwide Holdings Limited &
HINBARMEBKE mELEEE
IF 45 Aji On Worldwide Holdings Limited X
HiB ARG R R ARTISERE o

an@mERERAs /20788 135



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M
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(BEZT—tF=A=1+—HILFE)

18. GOODWILL (Continued) 18. &HE @)
Aji On Worldwide Holdings Limited and its Aji On Worldwide Holdings
subsidiaries Limited R 2HKE A 7]

As at 31 March 2017, the Group determined the recoverable
amount of cash generating unit (“CGU") for high-end fashion
retail industry to be approximately HK$23,700,000. The
directors of the Company has hired independent external
valuer in deriving the value in use of the CGU. The valuation
had used cash flows projection based on financial budgets
approved by management which covered a 5 years period, and
incorporated therein, a discount rate of 25% in addition, those
expected cash flows beyond 5-year period contains a constant
growth rate of 3%. This growth rate is based on the specific
market.

The key assumptions used in value in use calculations for
advertising are as follows:

Budgeted market share and sales, average market share and
sales in the period immediately before the budget period is
expected to be unchanged over the budget period. The values
assigned to the assumptions reflect past experience, except
for the growth factor, which is consistent with management
plans for focusing operations in the industry. Management
believes the planned market share growth and budgeted sales
over the budget period is reasonably achievable.

Budgeted gross margin is constant over the budgeted period.

N_Z—+E=ZF=+—B AE@ET
EENESEEACEAEMN([HeEE
BRI AT B £ K849 423,700,000 7T ©
AABEECEEB LIS ERMT-HEI
CELEBMMNFEREEB - ZHERBUE
BEMIERSESFHNBBEE REE
IR METER - WA A25% R BLIE =
AN - SFEHZ B BEHRESRE RS 3%
METEERE - ZERETIAABTIE A
HAE o

AEESEREERRANEIERRNAT :

U TIBEEERHER  BRREAN
MR TS RS R R
ERHEHTE - ERRZSRRABER
BBEER(EERAERS) - LREE
Bt &R BT REE 5 FREA
& BEMOHENSEEEERRAS
HuBABTE -

BEENXRBEDRFRE T -
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(BEZZT—tF=A=1+—HILFE)

19. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL 19. BERENHA
Goodwill has been allocated for impairment testing purposes REKBBEASMEEESEZE TYS4A
to the following groups of cash generating units: REEEEN
—  High-end fashion retail industry — SRt Tey
After recognition of impairment losses, the carrying amount of KERBEEER BENREEDSE
goodwill was allocated to cash generating units as follows: EREEEBMAOT
2017
—E—tF
HK$°000
THET
High-end fashion retail industry L T
High-end fashion retail industry EERRETEX
The recoverable amounts of this cash-generating units are REEFEEMHAIKESEIRIEECHE
determined based on a value in use calculation which uses EFETUERE WA ER AREERE
discounted cash flow projections based on financial budgets HERERLFHNPBAENERE SR
approved by management covering a five-year period. ETERREKE
In the opinion of the Directors, no impairment loss of goodwill EEZRA BANREBEE_ZT—tF=A
associated with high-end fashion retail industry was required St RS EESERETSEXEHAN
for the year ended 31 March 2017. PR ELREESE -
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20. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

Cost of investment in an associate

R—KEE R AR E KA

20. R—REEQRNER

2017
—E—+tF

HK$'000
FHET

472,388
(32,051)

Share of post-acquisition net assets R EER EEFE
Sub-total NeEF

Less: impairment loss L OREEE

(440,337)

(156,391)

283,946

Particulars of associate as at 31 March 2017 are as follows:

Place of
Incorporation/
Registration
and operation
SEM AR L, R
R AR i B

Full paid-up share/
registered

capital and
number of shares
BRBRAE EMER
RIRHEHE

Name of
company

AR

Red 5 Studios, Inc. United states 65,567,709
Common stock

of $US 0.01 each
and 10,180,553
Preferred Stock
(Series B)

of $US 0.01 each
65,567,709 IR =2 B%
HE0.01 X THEAE
B - % 10,180,553 f%
SREE0.01XTH

BER (BRI

EE]

Red 5 Studios, Inc.

R-BE—+F=A=+—0 BERAH

BT

Percentage

of equity
interests and
voting power
attributable to
the Company
AT EAGIRER
REENBE DL

47.63%

Principal
activities

Development of
innovative
entertainment
software and
online games

BRI IR SR I
R g A
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20. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 20. R—REE N RIER (&)
The associate is accounted for using the equity method in the BE AR DR A P REFEAERAA
consolidated financial statements. iR o
Summarised financial information of the material associate, ERETBRERELAE - WHRESH
adjusted for any differences in accounting policies, and BHRENEAEETHRNEERZE QA
reconciled to the carrying amount in the consolidated financial WS ERIEERBENT o

statements are disclosed below.

Gross amounts of the associate’s i NG O E ST

Non-current assets EMBEE 797,460
Current assets MENBEE 6,253
Non-current liabilities ERBAE 56,419
Current liabilities mEafE 506,871
Revenue WA 4,163
Loss for the period HNEs1E (67,292)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial  _Fuit BA 78 & RHE B B 32 42 4 B IS 3R &

information to the carrying amount of the interest 2 RN ELE LS A B ERERN

in an associate recognised in these consolidated HER -

financial statements:
Gross amounts of net assets of the associate BE N R EEFEER 240,423
Group's effective interest AEBERERS 47.63%
Group's share of net assets of the associate AEESEHMENREEFE 114,513
Goodwill [EES 325,824
Impairment NERIE] (156,391)
Carrying amount in the consolidated RERE Rz REE

financial statements 283,946
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(For the year ended 31 March 2017)

(BE-%—

20.

+tFE=A=+—BItFE)

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)

The above summarised financial information of Red 5 Studios,
Inc. is based on its unaudited financial information for the year
ended 31 March 2017 adjusted by the Group to account for an
intangible asset of Red 5 Studios, Inc..

0On 28 April 2016, the Group entered into a sales and purchase
agreement with independent-third parties pursuant to which
the Group conditionally agreed to purchase 47.63% of equity
interests in Red 5 Studios, Inc. (“Red 5), a limited liability
company incorporated in Delaware, the United States of
America.

Red 5 and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the
development of innovative entertainment software and online
games in the United States of America, Europe, the PRC and
Southeast Asia. The acquisition was completed on 20 June
2016. 226,022,723 shares of the Company were allotted and
issued to Vendors in proportion to numbers of shares sold by
each of the Vendor.Cost of investment in Red 5 and its
subsidiaries was approximately HK$472,387,000, which
represented the fair value of the ordinary shares of the
Company, determined using the published bid price available
at 20 June 2016.

As at the date of completion in respect of the acquisition of
47.63% interest by the Group, Red 5 has net assets of
approximately HK$114,513,000 which was not accounted for
by the Group as to its proportionate share of net assets.
Accordingly, the Group recognised goodwill of approximately
HK$325,824,000 which represents the consideration paid for
the acquisition of 47.63% equity interests in Red 5.

In the impairment assessment of the interest in an associate,
goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment in associate is not separately recognised. It is
therefore not tested for impairment separately by applying the
requirements for impairment testing on goodwill. Instead, the
entire carrying amount of the investment is tested for
impairment as a single asset, by comparing its recoverable
amount, being the higher of value in use and fair value less
costs to sell, with its carrying amount.

20.

R—XBE A RNER (&)

FifiRed 5 Studios, Inc. B BT 75 & RHBEE TY
ERBET—tF=-A=+—HLFE
X%%%&Eﬂ%éﬁﬂ C W AR E AR
LAABR B Red 5 Studios, Inc. Y2 B EE »

MRZZE—XREMA-+/\B  KEBHEB
VEZFIVEERS  BUEAEESAK
£ 7 & B A Red 5 Studios, Inc. ([Red 5]
MEFRE BRI EMNEMRIIN AR
N E)) K 47.63% B HE -

Red S R EMBAREZENEFRERE -
BUM - B RERmE R E R IR R
WEERAE -  WESER T —RFAX
A=+ B5K ° 226,022,723 AR 7 %15
BREAMELREL AR EREITTS
EJ7oRed SEMEBARMIREKRLN R
472,387,000/ T - Bl =T —<XF A
Z+HEEAMBEBMEEANA LT ER
BATE o

/

RB RN =B U 47.63% 25 M K A
Hi - Red 5#) & E JF B 49 /& 114,513,000 7
TC o+ MANEE BN AR A B R L I R (R B EF
BEAR - Bt *5EERBELD
325,824,000 7T+ X & Ht W Red 58
47.63% HEFT ST I RE o

FAIOBE & R B R ETTRE TGS - 8
RREE R BIHIR B REE —#D B
BYEEBER WA BEAYHEET
BRI RO AR 5E T BB TTRUEDRI - 48
k- BENEAEEEESE-—REEE
TTRERE - TR RKBE R W= 288 (A6E
REERAEAFERFEERNAZESE) R
HIRMEEEITHE -
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(BEZZT—tF=A=1+—HILFE)

20. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

21.

For the purpose of impairment testing, management
determined the budgeted profit based on past performance
and its expectation for market development. The discount
rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the
development of innovative entertainment software and online
games.

At 31 March 2017, the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (“CGU") of associate is determined taking into
account the valuation performed by an independent
professional valuer not connected to the Group, based on the
cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial
budgets for the next five years approved by the management
using the discount rate of 21% which reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risk specific
to the CGU. The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined
from value in use calculations.

Based on the results from the valuation, the recoverable
amount is lower than the carrying amount. Accordingly, an
impairment loss of approximately HK$156,391,000 was
recognised for the year ended 31 March 2017.

The major factors leading to a significant impairment loss
recognised for the year ended 31 March 2017 is mainly
attributed to a significant decrease in the future income
streams of the CGU resulting from the time expected to launch
the online game called “Firefall” in PRC is delayed.

LOAN RECEIVABLES

The exposure of the Group's fixed-rate loan receivables to
interest rate risks and their contractual maturity dates are as
follows:

Fixed-rate loan receivables:

Within one year —F R

20.

21.

R—RBE QR R (2)
RAREARN S  ERERATERRE
TS RARECEEET - MAKRES
BIATALI % - IR MAIR IR BT KB
BEMAEE RO ERR -

RZE—+F=ZA=+—H BEQAR
SEABEU(REELEM])MAIKE S
BOEEZRIEREEY BEENELE
EAEMETHR/RER  EXEEEEH]
ENRERAFROMBRENRESRER
B R BERIRIRES T 5 B £ HE
EReELEMFERBNMAE21%E
e ReELBMMAIKRESRIZERE
BEFFEEAMEE °

BRIBHELER  JREOSBEEAE@TE-
At 2T —+F=ZA=+—HBLF
- ERERBERIE 156,391,000 7T °

BYHE—T—LF=A=1+—HILFE
BRABREBENETERZDEEHARN
@ FE A BB LAY R RUA TR B AE 18 5 AR B
HH B A AR Firefall ] B 4848 228 M AR
B e

W E K
7 82 8 ] 5 ) 6 M B B 54 B 0 U
BREEARAIMHANT :

2017
—E—tF

HK$'000
THET

e B FE M R E K
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21. LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued) 21. BEHRER#E)
The ranges of effective interest rates on the Group’s loan FEBEREFNEEFEHENT
receivables are as follows:

Effective interest rate: BRI

Fixed-rate loan receivables FEWE E AR E R 12% to
18% p.a.
FFI=
12EZ18E
The collaterals of loan receivables included shares of a private BUREFHERRBE-—REELARA
company in Hong Kong and companies listed on the Stock REEAZ AT BT A RIS ©
Exchange.
22. INVENTORIES 22. 78

2017 2016
—g—tF -FA%E
HK$'000 HK$'000
T8 FBT

Raw materials 1,694
Work in progress TR 238
Finished goods BURK T 7,553

9.485
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. EFRHEMEBRRIEA

B 5 RMFR

Trade receivables, net of allowance for

doubtful debts (I0BR RER#EAE)
Prepayments TET IR
Deposits b7
Other receivable H b pE W kI
Consideration receivables JEU AR

2017 2016
—g—tF  —FX

HK$°000 HK$'000
Tz TAT

The Group allows credit period ranging from 30 days to 60 days
to customers from OEM Business. For Retail Business, its
revenue comprises of cash, credit card sales and
concessionaire sales through concession counters in
department stores. Trade receivables under credit card sales
and concessionaire sales are due within 7 days to 60 days.

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of
allowances for doubtful debts presented based on the invoice
date or the monthly statement received from department
stores at the end of the reporting period.

0-30 days 0Z30H

31-60 days 31E60HR
61-90 days 61E90H
Over 90 days 90 HLA L

AEERTREBEFARNEEBETPNEES
NFIIOREH - HRTEHER - EIA
BERe FRAFHEEREEERNESE
EITHHEEHEE - EANHERTEERHE
BTHESERRBEEANT7HZEW
E| o

AT ARHRERRIZEZTAHRRKEIRE
BERENEABRKREINE KA
CHER R B R ) HORRER D AT ©

2016
—E—RF
HK$'000
FHETT

21,412
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 23. EZRHEMBWRE )

Before accepting any new customer from OEM Business, the
Group assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and
defines credit limits by customer. Credit limits attributed to
customers and credit term granted to customers are reviewed
regularly. The majority of the trade receivables that are neither
past due nor impaired have no history of defaulting on
repayments.

Included in the Group's trade receivables balance are debtors
with aggregate carrying amount of HK$1,557,000 as at 31
March 2017 (2016: HK$2,007,000) which were past due at the
end of the reporting period for which the Group has not
provided for impairment loss as the Group considered such
balances could be recovered based on historical experience.
The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables which
are past due but not impaired at the end of the reporting
period:

RESZEMRRBREEBOREL 28
AEBEEHEECEEPNEEERREE
EFWMEER - EPAMGHEERRE
TEFPHNEEMTEREMN KRZBEEE
BETVERENE SRR EiERE
FRACER ©

AEENESRWRBEERBER -
—+tF=A=+—HHEEKEEESR1,557,000
BT (= —734F 1 2,007,000 7T ) B fE IR
R RERERBEHRERL - AR
SEYESIRBEBRES  HARASE
ERAERBAEKER ZSEARTRE -
REBMUERZSERIT A TMERR -

UTARREHREBREEBRENE S
FEWRIRRARER AT

2016
AN S

HK$'000
THETT

3110 60 days 31&E60H 307
61 to 90 days 61E90H 202
Over 90 days 908 AL 1,498

2,007
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23.

24.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
Trade and other receivables denominated in currencies other
than the functional currency of the relevant group entities are
set out below.

RMB
HKS BT

23.

B REMERRE @)
RS EEEANE TR EREE
BV 5 R AL MR UGRB#S T o

2017 2016
—E—tfF —T-REF
HK$'000 HK$'000

TR TET

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts

1 April mA—A

2017 2016
—E—tF —EREF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TAT

257 =

Impairment loss recognized on receivables B RE W SOE R E S B -

31 March =A=+—H

PLEDGED STRUCTURED BANK DEPOSIT/
PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES
AND CASH

Pledged bank deposits

Pledged bank deposits of the Group have been pledged to
secure short-term banking facilities granted to the Group.

The pledged bank deposits carry interest at the fixed rates
from 0.01% per annum as at 31 March 2016.

24.

EEFEBUERTER CEAR
TER RTEHRRRAS

CSIEFRTER
AEENERRRTEFRCEREL/LE
BEREHRITREMNER -

RIZB-—RF=ZA=+—H 2 &MWRT
FHIR0.01 BRI EEF KR -
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24. PLEDGED STRUCTURED BANK DEPOSIT/
PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES
AND CASH (continued)

Bank balances and cash

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and
short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three
months or less.

Bank balances carry interest at variable rates which range from
0.01% t0 0.5% per annum as at 31 March 2017 (2016: 0.01% to
0.5% per annum).

Pledged bank deposits and bank balances and cash
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency
of the relevant group entities are set out below:

HK$ BT

Renminbi (“"RMB") ARE(TARE])

24. EERLEBMBITER TEMR

TER BITEKRRE @)

RITERRRE
RITEHRALBEAEESEONRLK
REMAAZEAXTR=EAANEHE

T—+H=-A=1+—8  BITEHE
OEZ0SEMEHFNEFB(Z
T—RF  FRENT00MEZE0SE) »

Kl
o

A

HEAEEERAGESE NI N ERETE
M EERRITETRIASRITESH MRS H
ST

2016
—E—RF
HK$'000

T
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25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED 25. EZRHMENRIEUREGTHX
EXPENSES

2017 2016
—s—+5F —EF—RF

HK$'000 HK$'000
Fi# FBT

Trade payables B SR FRIA

Payable for social insurance FERT 2RI
Subcontracting fee payable NS BEER
Accrued staff salaries EETETHS
Accrued rental expenses EETEERY
Accrued expenses FEFT R

Other payables H b T 5RIE
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25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED 25. ESRHMENRBEUREEX

EXPENSES (Continued) (&)
The ageing analysis of the trade creditors presented based on REREHRREEHZEAR2IINE FEN
the invoice date at the end of the reporting period is as follows: R HIEREE DTSN T -

2017 2016
—E & —E—REF

HK$'000 HK$'000
FBT T

0- 60 days 0£260H 13,808

61 -90 days 61£290H

Over 90 days 90 HLAE

Trade and other payables denominated in currencies other HEEEEEANEE B AN EEEE
than the functional currency of the relevant group entities are WE S REAMENFIBRSWT o

set out below.

2017 2016
—E—+tF T—REF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET

HK$ BIT 4,031
Renminbi (“RMB") ARE(TARYE]) 895
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BEZZ—+tF=RA=T—RHILFE)

26. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 26. BRITRHEMEER

2017 2016
—g—tF  —FX
HK$'000 HK$'000

TR TET

Bank borrowings

— Variable rate trust receipt loans — ZEESWEBER
— Variable rate advance to manufacturer — MEEERERZE
loans B
Other borrowings HiEE
The bank borrowings of the Group are secured and repayable AREWMRITEEREERA  REEHH
within one year from the end of the reporting period based on AMMEEIEERY  AAWE AR
scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements. Al —FREE - -MARTEEHREAKE
the bank borrowings contain a repayable on demand clause, RIEEO G - Bt ZERERRBE
hence, the amounts are shown under current liabilities. &SR
As at 31 March 2017, the Group borrowed HK$5,806,000 with RZF—LF=A=+—0 FTEHEEA
interest of 12% per annum and repayable within one year. 5,806, 000/%7E BEME122EFE - AR
—FANEE -
As at 31 March 2016, the bank borrowings carry interests at RZF-—AF=ZA=F+—H0 KITBEER
Trade Finance Rate quoted by the lender plus 1.00% to 1.75% EEAMBME AN EMEFNE100E
per annum. The ranges of effective interest rates on E175EHE -RZF—tF=A=1—
borrowings are 2.01 % to 6.75 % per annum as at 31 March CBRENERFNENF201EZE6TS5
2017 (2016: 2.01% t0 6.75% per annum). E T—RF FRENF201EZE675
[E) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)

(BE=Z—tF=A=1+—HLEFE)

26. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)
Bank borrowings denominated in currencies other than the
functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set out
below:

HKS BT

6. RITRHEMEER (1)

2128 9 L 2 B AT 55 M LA 0 S M4
BRI ERTIT

2016
AN

HK$'000
TET

The borrowings as at 31 March 2016 were secured by:

° Undertakings of certain subsidiaries of the Company; and

o Pledged bank deposits of HK$14,418,000 as at 31 March
2016.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the Group could not
comply with certain bank covenants under the bank facilities,
which are primarily related to the consolidated tangible net
worth of the Group. On discovery of the breach, the directors
of the Company informed the lender and commenced a
renegotiation of the terms of the borrowings with the relevant
banker. As at 31 March 2016, the relevant bank borrowings
amounted to approximately HK$29,037,000. In addition, on 11
May 2016, the Group further breached another covenant
requirement of the bank borrowings as the Group could not
comply with the shareholding requirement upon the
enforcement of Share Charge. The relevant bank borrowings
were settled during the year ended 31 March 2017.

R-ZTE—RNE=ZA=+—BWEETAUT
P S BB

o  ARAETHEBABMARE Rk

. RIE—RFE=A=1+—HEH2EMN
SR1TIERN 14,418,000 78 7T ©

RBE-_Z—A"E=ZA=Z+—BLFE"
REEREEFRITMERETE TRITE
B ABRRERRASERE B FE
El - RBEBENR  ARAESHNEHE
BAWFREARRITENESEEIERK -
R-Z—ANE=ZA=+—8 HEARTHE
B #529,037,000 7T ° o AEEX
HERS —ZO[RTE REAAEERZ
T—XNFRA+—BREFAEETRMDI
ERRRER - FERTEEERERE
B+ HF=-A=+—HBILFEEE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI
(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BEZZT—tF=A=1+—HILFE)

27. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

Deferred tax liabilities
Deferred tax assets

EEHIAAE

27. EXEBIREE AfF
AT AR B HRE B aETRAEEN IR
BRI -

2017 2016

= —F—
HK$°000

HK$'000
TR TAT
1,922

(12)

1,910

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets)
recognised and movements thereon during the current and
prior years:

Intangible
asset

BYEE
HK$'000
TET

AT BN E RSB EFERERN L BIELT
BIRAE (BE) REEE

Provision for
long service
payments and

social welfare
RERES
RaEFEA
BiE

HK$'000

TAT

Accelerated
tax
depreciation

Total

InEBLIR
e
HK$'000

a7

st
HK$'000
TAT

At 1 April 2015 RZZE-—REMA—H - 97 (616) (519)
(Credit) charge to profit orloss ~ #8zs (GHA) 0k - 9) 616 525
At 31 March 2016 RZE—RE=A=+—H - 6 - 6
Acquisition of a subsidiary WEE—RHB AR 3,094 - - 3,094
(Credit) charge to profitor loss — WMER (GFA) 0% (1,186) 4 - (1,190)
At 31 March 2017 RZZ—tF=A=1+—-H 1,908 2 - 1,910
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BEZT—tF=A=1+—HILFE)

27. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES (Continued) 27. EEHREBEEE GBE#)

Under the EIT Law of PRC, starting from 1 January 2008, 10%
withholding income tax is imposed on dividends declared in
respect of profits earned by the subsidiaries established in the
PRC from the calendar year 2008 onwards to their foreign
shareholders. No deferred taxation has been provided in
respect of temporary differences attributable to the
undistributed profits of HKSNil (equivalent to approximately
RMBNIl) earned by the Group’s PRC subsidiaries as at 31 March
2017 (2016: HK$11,529,600 (equivalent to RMB8,966,000)),
because the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had unused tax losses of
approximately HK$29,782,000 (2016: HK$30,099,000). No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
unused tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams and the unused tax losses may be carried forward
indefinitely.

As at 31 March 2017, the Group has deductible temporary
differences on allowance for inventories of HK$11,578,000
(2016: HK$14,149,000). No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in relation to such deductible temporary difference
as it is not probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised.

BEFPBECEMSEE BT N\F—
A—Ri #EHRPREKZHARMRE =
T )\F B F R ERIA & I R H3F MR R
SIRMEEBW10% MBI ET - AR
REEEHEH TR EZHENBERME - m
BRERERAETGNARAARED - B
P ERAEBABEMNBARN - —+
FZA=ZT—BAERBRD KEFZET
(HERDARBEZ ) (ZT—R&E:
11,529,600 7% 7T (48 & 7 A K % 8,966,000
T0)) AR BV E R Z A HRIRE T IR A -

MN-_Z—+H&=ZA=+—H8 ' A£EAEX
BT IEE1E4)29,782,000/8 T (ZF— X
£+ 30,099,000 7T ) o F A A TE A R 3R
AR R A ABIEEE ] ERAE
B A kR B) A I B B R R
BEE -

RZE—tF=A=+—8 A&EE7T
& A B AT F0 R B 2= 511,578,000 7T
(ZZ—7X%F 114,149,000/ 70) ° AR
Tt a5 S A AT BE F LA 88 ] HURL BT RG22 5
WO LR E AR R R R RIR R
BEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BEZZT—tF=A=1+—HILFE)

28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. A

The Company

2NN

Number of
shares

RH#E

Amount
=8
HK$'000
TRT

Authorised: EE

— At 1 April 2015, ordinary share —RZE-RFNA—R"

of HK$0.10 each FREBE0E T LB 1,000,000,000 100,000
— Increase in authorized share, —EIEERE - B

ordinary share of HK$0.01 each EE001ATHLER (@ 9,000,000,000 -
— At 31 March, 2016, ordinary —RZE-~"F=ZA=1t—-8H"

shares of HK$0.01 each FREE.01 AT L B 10,000,000,000 100,000
— Effect of share subdivision to — R A FASREE

HK$0.002 each 00028 TR E () 40,000,000,000 =
— At 31 March 2017, ordinary —RZE—tF=A=1+—-8"

shares of HK$0.002 each FREE0.002E TR LA 50,000,000,000 100,000

Issued and fully paid: BRTRERE

— At 1 April 2015, ordinary shares —RZE-RFEA—R:

of HK$0.10 each SREE0I0ETHLER 400,000,000 40,000
— Share subdivision of HK$0.01 each — RS HFAEREETET (@ 3,600,000,000 -
— At 31 March 2016, ordinary —RZE-—R"F=A=1+—-8H"

shares of HK$0.01 each SREECOATHE AR 4,000,000,000 40,000
— Issue of shares upon acquisition —WE-RBE ARG

of an associate (b) 226,022,723 2,260
— Share subdivision of HK$0.002 each — R AFASREMBCNET (€ 16,904,090,892 =
— Issue of shares upon placing —EERBITRG @ 2,869,886,385 5,740
— Exercise of share options — TR RE () 1,600,000,000 3,200
— At 31 March 2017, ordinary —RIE—tF=A=1+—-R"

shares of HK$0.002 each SREE0.0028 LA LEE 25,600,000,000 51,200

LEDEBIZERERAT / 2017 £
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BEZT—tF=A=1+—HILFE)
28. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

The Company (continued)
Notes:

(@)

Pursuant to the resolutions of the shareholders passed at an
extraordinary general meeting of the Company on 20 April 2015,
every one issued and unissued ordinary share with a par value
of HK$0.10 each in the share capital of the Company be
subdivided into 10 ordinary shares with a par value of HK$0.01
each, such that the authorised share capital of the Company is
HK$100,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000 shares with a par
value of HK$0.01 each, the subdivided shares shall rank pari
passu in all aspects with each other in accordance with the

memorandum and articles of association of the Company.

On 20 June 2016, 226,022,723 ordinary shares of the Company
of HK$0.01 each were issued in relation to the acquisition of an

associate as disclosed in note 20.

Pursuant to the resolutions of the shareholders passed at an
extraordinary general meeting of the Company on 22 June 2016,
every one issued and unissued ordinary share with a par value
of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company was
subdivided into 5 ordinary shares with a par value of HK$0.002
each, such that the authorised share capital of the Company is
HK$100,000,000 divided into 50,000,000,000 shares with a par
value of HK$0.002 each, the subdivided shares shall rank pari
passu in all aspects with each other in accordance with the

memorandum and articles of association of the Company.

On 11 August 2016, 2,869,886,385 new shares of the Company
were placed at the placing price of HK$0.0209 per placing share.
For details, details of these are set out in the Company’s

announcement dated 11 August 2016.

During the current period, 1,600,000,000 ordinary shares of the
Company of HK$0.002 each were issued upon the exercise of

1,600,000,000 share options.

28. BA&(#)

v NNCIIE=)

it -

@)

BER-_Z—RFMA-THRITHER
AR RS BANBRIRAZRR - AR
AR AR G EE0.10 8 T & — RR B 2%
TRABTERRSHFAIORSTREE
0.01 BT EBA - BUEAQBLAERA
/100,000,0007% 7t ( % /4 10,000,000,000
R EREEO0IBITH G ) - MABREA
AREHBER KA LME - DIFBROHES
FEFEEERRSER

RZZT—NFANA-+AH - RMFE200
B U S — R D B 817 226,022,723 %
BRMEE00 B ITHAAR LR -

BERENR-_ZT—A~EA-+-RAET
WARRIREERIAS LRBRERE
B ARFRAFF—REEOEITH
BBEITRABITEBRSFAARETRE
{E0.002 7% LBy @AY + BUE AR BAYE
F M A A100,00000058 w( H A
50,000,000,000 P& & A% I & 4 0.002 7 T K
B&n) + RIRANR AR ERZ A M R 4R A -
AFEBRHDEER S HFEZH R SRS -

RZZE—ARFENA+—H - 2869,886,385
BRARQNRFBRGOIZEEESRIEESRMD
0.0209 8 TiRE - BEAFBHERA LT H
BHAEZZT—X"FNAT+—BHQMH -

RAEART -+ 1,600,000,000 A% A% 1 E.0.002
S TCRY AN A B B AR AL 1,600,000,000 17 B
REAEIETTIE RS B44T o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR RR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BEZZ—+tF=RA=T—RHILFE)

29. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 29. HE—BEKHEBARQA
On 10 March 2016, the Group completed the disposal of its RZE—A"F=A+8" ZKEEEJEX&%
entire equity interest in a subsidiary, Ganzhou Rise More ER—BNBARBEMNEABEBRA

Knitters Ltd (“Ganzhou Rise More”), at a consideration of (M EHA L) =P A - ﬁ{jgi?%}\ﬁ?ﬁ%
RMB11,800,000 (equivalent to HK$14,149,000). The net assets
of Ganzhou Rise More at the date of disposal were as follows:

11,800,000 7T (F8E 72 14,149,000 7T ) ° 35
NEEFAREE RSN EEFENT

2016
—E—RF
HK$'000
FHIT
Consideration received: 2WNRE:
Cash consideration received (Note) FEUIR & (B (K1) 14,149
Analysis of assets and liabilities over REEHENEEREBED T :
which control was lost:
Property, plant and equipment W - B MRS 12,747
Prepaid lease payments BREERIEA 437
Other receivables H o fEUR 2
Tax recoverable BIEEIr A 806
Bank balances and cash RITEBERS 25
Other payables and accrued expenses P B R ERT RIS, (49)
Net assets disposed of I EEEFE 13,968
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: o — R B B 2 R Y W3
Consideration RE 14,149
Net assets disposed of T EEEFE (13,968)
Cumulative exchange differences in respect of KEMB RN R ARENE
the net assets of the subsidiary reclassified BEFEHEREN “‘EET
from equity to profit or loss on loss of control M RHEN =58
of the subsidiary 3,248
3,429
Less: transaction costs B R B (125)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE B AR /RS 3,304
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEMELERESRHBE
Bank balances and cash disposed of it ERITHEHB RS (25)
Transaction costs R (125)
(150)

Note: The consideration receivable would be settled in cash by the Bt - ERRERNEE BB —FAHER
purchaser within one year from the date of disposal. LRSS ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BEZT—tF=A=1+—HILFE)

30. OPERATING LEASES 30. KEHEE
(@) The Group as lessor (@) =EEERAEHBEA
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had RIBEHR  REBERR—ERE
contracted with tenants amounted to HK$293,000 for the ) R BT RGN A AT S T A B A B {E
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable TS 1 20 /5 80293.000 5 71 B 78 B 2T
operating leases which fall due within one year. 4 o
(b) The Group as lessee (b) ZEBEEHEBAA

2017 2016
—E— & —TE—REF

HK$'000 HK$'000
Fi# FBT

Operating lease rentals during ERTE T ZIE M 48 &

the year in respect of: BEHS

Retail shops TEEM

Office premises WRAEYHE
Total #aEt
At the end of each reporting period, the Group had RERERR - AEBREN T5IH
commitments for future minimum lease payments under REE T A EEHEREEY
non-cancellable operating leases in respect of rented HEE A1A SR E N ERRE -

premises which fall due as follows:

2017 2016
—B—tF —EREF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T

With one year —&FER 1,104
In the second to fifth year inclusive  E£—-Fz=%F4

(BPREEEME) 1,122

2,226

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by LEHENTIEASERERAE
the Group for its office and retail shops. Leases are TEEREMSNES - BHNFHEM
negotiated for an average of two years. For certain of the ERER— o BAEEETFTEES
Group's retail shops, rentals are variable being calculated s Me2s  MREEESRE
at the higher of a pre-agreed percentage of sales EE N TEA T E S LRSS
generated at the rented shops or the minimum lease TN RERE NSRS EE -

payments specified in the lease agreement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR RR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BEZZT—tF=A=1+—HILFE)

31. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 31. RIAKBEFE

The Group participates in a defined contribution scheme which
is registered under the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“"MPF Scheme”) established under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Ordinance in December 2000. The assets of the scheme
are held separately from those of the Group, in funds under
the control of trustees.

For members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes at the
lower of HK$1,500 per month or 5% of relevant payroll costs
each month to the MPF Scheme, which contribution is
matched by the employee.

The employees in the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of the state-managed retirement benefit schemes
operated by the PRC government. Those subsidiaries are
required to contribute a specified percentage of their payroll
costs to the retirement benefit schemes to fund the benefits.

The only obligation of the Group with respect to these
retirement benefits schemes is to make the specified
contributions. During the reporting period, the total amounts
contributed by the Group to the schemes and cost charged to
the profit or loss represents contributions paid/payable to the
schemes by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the
schemes. The retirement benefits scheme contributions made
by the Group amounted to HK$759,000 for the year ended 31
March 2017 (2016: HK$1,084,000).

AEBES2 R -BREHREGE - BIRER
HIEABEHIR —ZZTZTF+ - AKIL
R E AR B ([REERFTE]) - &
FFEMEERASENEENHFA X
BHRXEARHNESRSA -

HeEeFTEKEME  AEEKEA
1,500 7Tk & A BB T E AR 5% (&
FEBEE) MBS TR - HfRREE
REHER -

AEEETENBARREANESREK
BERAERARBAFTEINKE - %t 8laH
BBATEE - ZEMBRARAERKETERK
AIETE B L RARKENFEIAERHE
F o AREEFNARESR -

REEHRZERANBAAEEENEETR
EEEE R - R|E M - AEERZ
FErEMER M ERBERNBENRAK
RIEAEBIZZE 2R AR TR E M
ZEECHN EAMHRR - BHEZT
—tF=ZA=+—BLFE XEEEH
3R PR 18 F 5 &I 58 A 759,000 8 0 (=&
—754F 1,084,000 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BEZT—tF=A=1+—HILFE)

32. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 32. BELEE
(@) Related party transactions (@) BESZRS
Saved as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated MR E R M TSRk E &0 5 P
financial statements, the Group entered into the following BEIN NEBEBEESEA IR
transactions with related parties: 5

Nature of
expenses paid/
Name of payable
related party Relationship of related party by the group
AEEEN BN

MESKE B8 ERRAET BAR MBI £
HK$’000
TR

Mr. Yang Wan Ho Shareholder of the Company and father of Rental
Mr. Yang Si Kit Kenny and Mr. Yang Si Hang

ARRBRFGFEREERGFELEE

HYSH
Kitwise Limited Kitwise A company owned by Mr.Yang Si Hang, Rental e
Limited Ms Yang Sze Man Salina and

Mr. Yang Wan Ho
BEFEEE  BHELLTREXREE

BAEMAR
Parkerson Trading Limited Parkerson A company owned by Mr.Yang Si Hang, Rental e
Trading Ms. Yang Sze Man Salina and
Limited Mr. Yang Wan Ho
BEFEEE  BHELLTREXREE
BAEMAR
Yang's Holdings Yang's A company controlled by Mr. Yang Wan Ho  Sales of car park #4512 E {7
Capital Limited Holdings and father of Mr. Yang Si Kit Kenny and and motor KiaE
Capital Mr. Yang Si Hang vehicles

Limited BRI E RGBSR AR
D& btz I EOYNS]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BEZZT—tF=A=1+—HILFE)

32. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued)

32. BERFRESE)

(b) Compensation of directors and key
management personnel

(b) ESERFEEEASHMN

2017 2016
—E—+tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FiBxT THIT

Salaries and other allowances TERHME 9,118
Retirement benefit scheme and RINEFFT B R AR

contributions 104

9,222

The remuneration of directors of the Company and key
management personnel of the Group are determined
having regard to the performance of the individuals.

33. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the group
companies will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes bank borrowings disclosed in note 26, net of cash and
cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital, share premium,
special reserve, other reserve and accumulated losses.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
regularly. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost
and the risks associates with each class of the capital. Based
on the recommendations of the directors, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through issue of new debt
and redemption of existing debts. Except for the compliance of
certain bank covenant requirements for maintaining the
Group’s bank facilities, the Group is not subject to any
externally imposed capital requirement. Details of the
renegotiation of the terms of bank and other borrowings are
set out in note 26.

ARREERAEEETREEARH
M2 ZBANKRETE °

33. EXEmER

AEEERREER  BREBBLEKE
BERNFE  BERKEETZARAR
Bge FNRESESKAANER -

AEENEAGBERREFR(BREME
6FIRBRITEE) KR RALEE
WIARARRRIER AEL L (B2 BT
A BOEE  FRREE EMREERR
sHEEAERK) -

ARBEEE R EAGERE - FRZR
MEP-R EFZEZEERNKRAR
PR RER - ERNEZMEBER - K
SEKEEBRTHEGRBERFES
MmFEEBREREE B AE
BRITRVE M THE TIRITROREN -
AREEBRETERMIMNUEMHEARRE
EHFEFRITREMERRROFITER
BiEE26 ©

ATERERERAT / 20175% 159



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BEZT—tF=A=1+—HILFE)

34. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY 34. WiE—EHELQT

Oon 17 May 2016, the Group acquired 55.56% of the issued
share capital of Aji On Worldwide Holdings Limited and its
subsidiaries (collectively “Aji On”) for a cash consideration of
HK$13,000,000, subject to the revenue guarantee of and
adjustments on consideration. The principal activity of Aji On is
marketing of garment products This acquisition has been
accounted for using the purchase method. The amount of
goodwill arising as a result of the acquisition was
HK$7,918,802. Aji On was acquired so as to captivate
audiences of high-end fashion retail industry in the PRC.

As at the acquisition date and up to the date of the issuance of
this consolidated financial statements, the directors are of the
opinion that the revenue guarantee would be met based on
the latest forecast of Aji On. No adjustment to the contingent
consideration is considered necessary, however, it may be
adjusted upon the completion of initial accounting year which
shall not exceed one year from the respective acquisition date
when the directors consider probable that the Revenue
Guarantee cannot be met.

Acquisition-related costs amounting to HK$201,000 have been
excluded from the consideration transferred and have been
recognised as an expense in the current reporting period,
within the administrative expenses line item in the condensed
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

RZT—R"FRATLHE  XEENURS
X 1 13,000,0007% 7T U & Aji On Worldwide
Holdings Limited % H [T & 2 & (4t 13 [ Aji
On ) #55.56% B 817 B AN (2 fR A U 25 1R
BRRBHE) AiONNTBEKAERE
FCRE M ° W EREIREEESIE -
WEEEMEENEERT7,9188028 T ©
WEEAIONEERS|IFESERETEE
MEER -

REBRBEBERNEAMBRERTIEAR
B FERR - REBEA OSBRI - Ik
IIRE ATRER o RAREBBIEHHE
Al REEEFE (BB B BT
TERB—F) Tl - WEERAWERE
AIREERER - AAREREHE -

W BB A RE RN 2 201,000 B 7L E B PrEE (B
Ak YERAREBEELRZESE
mREMEEREROITRAXAER R
FASZ o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR RR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BEZZT—tF=A=1+—HILFE)

34. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)
The fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities

34. WEE—EKBATR (&)
FAUK B B HA 7 U B Al On AT 38 318 & R AR

assumed of the Aji On as at the date of acquisition were as AEABBHAFEDT
follows:
HK'000
FAT
Intangible assets mEE 12,371
Bank balance and cash RITHEBR IR ® 637
Other payables H {th FE (T 3R (769)
Deferred tax liabilities BEERIEBE (3,094)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BAFES RN A #AIEEFEERE 9,145
Goodwill on acquisition WIS RIBE AR S 7,919
Plus: non-controlling interests (44.44% in Aji On) b0 SERARRELR (Aji ONEY 44.44% FE25) (4,064)
Consideration was satisfied by: REBUTARXER
Cash and cash equivalent RENRESEEYD 13,000
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the WHESEIER RO T -
acquisition is as follows:
Cash and cash equivalent acquired FriiEIR e RN EEY (637)
Cash consideration paid EfRERE 13,000
Net cash outflow WEMmEFEE 12,373

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of Aji On because of revenue
growth and future market development in high-end fashion
retail industry. None of the goodwill arising on the acquisition
is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

If the acquisition had been completed on 1 April 2016, the
revenue of the Group would have been approximately
HK$1,363,200, and the loss for the year would have been
approximately HK$7,338,000. The pro forma financial
information is for illustrative purposes only and is not
necessarily an indication of revenue and results of the Group
that actually would have been completed on 17 May 2016 nor
is it intended to be a projection of future profits.

WEAONELEBEIRRNKEERED
BRERTEERKTHER - RAARE
SHELANAESTAENRALE -

HRBEER - T —XFMOA—B %K
REE WA R%1,363, 2008 7T TFA
B8 R % 497,338,0008 7T - HE B E R
EHEARR  TIATRERBERREFER
TE-RFLATEERK  AEEER
RIS EREE T TERKRABRK
i M E TR o
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35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”), was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 25 September
2014 for the primary purpose of providing incentives or
rewards to eligible participants, and will expire on 10 October
2024. Under the Scheme, the Board of Directors of the
Company may grant options to:

(@ any employee or proposed employee (whether full-time
or part-time and including any executive director),
consultants or advisers of or to the Company, any of the
subsidiaries or any entity (the “Invested Entity”) in which
the Company holds an equity interest;

(b)  any non-executive Directors (including independent non-
executive directors) of the Company, any of the
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

(c) any supplier of goods or services to the Company or any
of its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

(d) any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(e) any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to the Group or any
Invested Entity; and

()  any shareholders or any shareholder of any of its
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity or any holder of any
securities issued by any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity.

At 30 September 2016, the number of shares in respect of
which options had been granted and remained outstanding
under the Scheme was 200,000,000, representing 0.8% (2015:
Nil) of the shares of the Company in issue at that date. The
total number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of
the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. The
number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of which
options granted and may be granted to any individual in any
one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any point in time, without prior approval
from the Company’s shareholders.

35.

BRESE
ARBRBER-_ZF-—NOFALA_TARA
BEVRZ R R AR 8 ([ %718l ))
IZEEBBARBEERSEE - Lt
RN _F_WFE+ATBER - REZ
e ARBEFEARIBERET

@ ADE- EEAHBANRARAS
AR ETER (REEE])
PE 1R B ok I R B (T 2
HB - BEEARTES) B
A

b) ARE - EAMBARREMREE
BOEMAERTES (BE BN
TEE)

© ARBHEMEMAMERRKERKE
ERNEME R REHER

() AREHEREEROEAZTS

© AAEEFEMREBBIIEHTE
RBEREMEMSENERMALHE
-

(  EEBRREEEAHER R SEAER
AERNEIRRIAEREFKE
RAHEMREBEBAEITEMNES
MEAIFAA

R-ZT—RNENAZTH  BEZTEE
B R ARITE A ERER S &8 R 78
B /200,000,000 % * HHE R AR AT RZA
BERITHMOMN08%(—T—H4F  #) - K
KANRIRREBEIENBRT @ RIEZ
FHEIP AL IR H B AR P R R 1D B ET
FHBARNAAFEMERERE BTRMAE
10% ° REARREIRRELIENBERT
P ] — F A AT A 352 R P BB 4R
WEEREFTS KRB BT RBEITHRG
H B TMSHRBAA RMEMFREDETRD
1% °
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35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 35. IEBkfEstEl(2)

Options granted must be taken up within 28 days of the date of
grant, upon payment of HK$1 per option. Options may be
exercised at any time from the date of grant of the share
option. The exercise price is determined by the directors of the
Company, and will not be less than the highest of (i) the
average closing price of the ordinary shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant of the option
(which must be a business day); and (ii) the closing price of the
ordinary shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
guotations sheet on the date of grant of the option (which must
be a business day).

The following table discloses movements of the Company’s
share options held by employees and consultants during the
current interim period:

Qutstanding at
1 April 2016
RZZ—RF
mA—H

M ARITEE

Consultants
Employees (== -

Granted Exercised
during period

1,600,000,000
200,000,000

RHe B EARER L B R 28 A AT
BHBRE VBTN ERM - BRES
BRERL A BEARERITE - 1TEEH
ARPELETE T SERUATHRD
F () EBBRRBERROBRERSM(BA
REFR)MAEEXAEMIMERRE
RABFHRTE  R)EBRRE LB
BEAM(VDARERA)ERXMEBRR
ERTHKE

TRFEREE MBERAFARR R BERER
AR B ERFR Y B E -

Outstanding at
31 March
during period

HRE1THE

(1,400,000,000) 200,000,000
(200,000,000) =

- 1,800,000,000  (1,600,000,000)

200,000,000

200,000,000

Exercisable atthe  REIFRAI F17{#
end of the period
Weighted average  IN#EFHITEE N/A

exercise price

TEA  HK$0.025678 7T HK$0.0256 77T |-l ldii o

The options were granted on 22 July 2016. The estimate fair
value of the options granted is HK$37,006,000.

In respect of the share options exercised during current interim
period, the weighted average share price at the dates of
exercise is HK$0.048.

BRER-_Z—NFLtA-+-_AERH -
B IR B A% 4 Y 2 (B 1 5T 4 37,006,000
BT °

A EBHECITERRERS - RITE
HER piRE I IRE R 0.048 78 7T ©
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35.

36.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

These fair values were calculated by an independent qualified
professional valuer not connected with the Group, using the
Binomial model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

Weighted average share price HK$0.024
Exercise price HK$0.0256
Expected volatility 98.02%
Expected life 9.99 years
Risk-free rate 0.98%
Expected dividend yield nil

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the Company'’s share price since 10 October 2014,
the date of the Company has been listed on the Growth
Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange. The expected life
used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s
best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise
restrictions and behavioral considerations.

The Group recognised the total expense of HK$37,006,000
during the current interim period in relation to share options
granted by the Company.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) Categories of financial instruments

35.

36.

BRETE )
BWEAFEDEAEEREBENB LS
ERZEAEMAZEARAGTE - B
PRI ABURIT

InFE AR E 0.024% 7T
I{EE 0.025678 7T
TEAR IR 98.02%
TEETF AR 9.994F

R b 0.98%

TE B AR Bl e i

BHRENERE T —HFE T A+H (B
ARBIRBERZFAEIER EHE B) ARAEAR
BB MR LR IR E - R LPT B RO TEET
FHERBEEEMIFERNE  TERS
ROIREERZENREGELETHE

RARHER  REERARRATREE
RS e R R B <7 48 %8 37,006,000 7 7T °

E@MTA
(@) €mIAEA

2017
—E—tF

HK$'000
FHERT

2016
NS
HK$'000
T

Financial assets SREE
Loans and receivables (including cash Bz & EWEIE (B1EIR 4

and cash equivalents) RIRE&EEY) 69,704
Financial liabilities SMEE
Amortised cost B SRR 49,969

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
and other receivables, loan receivables, pledged bank
deposits, bank balances and cash, trade and other
payables, and bank and other borrowings.

(b) EREREREBRBERBE

AEENTIESRTABEESNE
M TR - RUE SR - B HEIRRTT
TR |RITHEBERE - BHNEM
e IR - ARSRITREMEE -
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. €RITE(#®)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) SRIEAMREEBERBER (&)

and policies (continued)

Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in the
respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risks (currency risk
and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these

ZETMTAFBENSMERE - &
ZEeRTAERNEREEMSE
2(BE¥RARENEEAR)  FERR
RREE SRR o BIEZERRNE
REINNTX - BEEEEREEZ
FRMK - RR R G U B iEEE

exposures to ensure appropriate measures are B °
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk ™5 B

(i)  currency risk (i) E¥mEE

Certain bank balances, trade and other receivables
and trade and other payables, pledged bank
deposits, pledged structured bank deposit,
obligations under finance leases and bank
borrowings of the Group are denominated in
foreign currency of the respective group entities
which are exposed to foreign currency risk.

The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, management
monitors foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign

AEBENSEEEROINER
BENETRITESR BEHRHE
b EURIR « B 5 M E R
HE - EERRITER K
REBUERTER BREEE
1B 7 DA e E At 15 B T B SN L

B o

ZER B B A A ) R SN
B - AT EIREEIEIME
EXER XHRFEREE
HihBEBRINERR

REHR - AREAINEST

currency denominated monetary assets and BENEKEERBENREE
liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as LU
follows:
2017
—E—tfF
HK$°000
FHET
Assets BE
HKS BIT 7,750
RMB AR 22,900
Liabilities 8E&
HK$ BT 1,537
RMB AR B
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on
fluctuation of RMB and HKS.

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to
a 5% increase and decrease in US$ against RMB. 5%
is the sensitivity rate used which represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis does not include outstanding
relevant monetary items denominated in HK$ as
the directors of the Company consider that the
Group's exposure to HK$ is insignificant on the
ground that HKS is pegged to US$. The sensitivity
analysis adjusts their translation at the year end for
a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A positive
number below indicates an increase in post-tax
loss or a decrease in post-tax profit where US$
strengthen 5% against RMB. For a 5% weakening of
US$ against RMB, there would be an equal and
opposite impact on the 10ss.

Loss for the year FANEHAE

36. €@ T H (%)
(b) sRIEAMEEEEREE®)

™5 E kR (E)

(i)

BE¥mpg (&)
AEBEHEERA RS 5B T EX
MENHIINE B -

TRAREBHETHLAR
B EA R T BRS% MR EE © 5%
TH%E 38 FE T H1 B B 2 A 32 Al
BB ATIR AR GRE L X -
BRRE DI N BIEAB T
ENEBEMAEEESER -
TYERARAESRBERE
JTEEITTEN - MAEEEER
AT EBR I TEKX o SRKE
DT IR E 45 B B DA NS [ R 8
B) 5% {FIE X FH% - TFIIEH&K
AETHARBABESRIER
THIRB&EE EASRTI%
AR A o R H AR
B5%  AlgHEEEREERN
AR -

2017 2016

—E— —E—REF

HK$°000
FTERT

HK$'000
THETT

1,055

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange
risk as the year end exposure does not reflect the
exposure during the year.

EEERS  HNFHEANRE
B N BERBRF AR - R
REJE 3 1T T B [ B [E 45 51N BE

B -
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continuead)
Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to certain floating-rate bank balances
and bank borrowings at variable interest rates.

The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial
assets and financial liabilities are detailed in the
liquidity risk management section of this note. The
Group'’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuations of Trade Finance
Rate, prevailing interest rate of the lender and the
Hong Kong Best Lending Rate quoted by the lender.

As at 31 March 2017, other borrowings disclosed in
note 26 carrying at fixed interest rates expose the
Group to fair value interest rate risk. The Group did
not enter into interest rate swap to hedge against
its exposures to changes in fair value of the
borrowings.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to bank interest rates. The
analysis is prepared assuming the interest-bearing
bank borrowings, outstanding at the end of each
reporting period were outstanding for the whole year.
A 50 basis point increase or decrease is used and
represent management’'s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates.

For the year ended 31 March 2016, if interest rates
on floating-rate interest-bearing bank borrowings
had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all other
variables were held constant, the Group’s loss
would increase/decrease by HK$118,000.

For the floating-rate interest-bearing bank balances,
based on the sensitivity analysis, the directors of
the Company consider that the impact on profit or
loss from changes in interest rates is insignificant.

36. TMTA#)
(b) EEEREERREREE @

™% R (#)

(ii)

FE m B
AEBAZEEETZERT
B R IRT BT R BRERTT
BENREMENEER

AEEREREERERBE
T i ) ) 2% R B o A TR AN Y
RBELERERE - AE
BmReRENETRREIEE
TREZBMENK  BEAN
BITMEREEAMBRES R
EEREENRHRE -

R-ZB—tE=R=+—8H"
B 5 26 P 3% B8 12 B E M) R 5 R
M E M EEEAREEAELF
BN XRER o AEBE L E S
HEMAEEEAFEZEEN
RBRET A Ri= 5] o

NBURE DA TR IRTT A
R EE - ZA T I RER %
&R AR EEOF BRTT
fEENEEFEOREER - &
DT RA BT T R50E
Ao RKREEEBHANERGEA
REE BT o

HE-ZT-—R"E=A=+—H
IHFE - WiRZ BB MERTT
BENF R EFA T ES0E
2 MmATE SRS
B B ANEEEBEBE IR
118,000/ 7T °

HRAF BT BRIRTTHERR -
REBGRESNT - RARES
RRMNEREHHBRRNTEL

FEKX -
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+tFE=A=+—BItFE)

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued)

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will
cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising
from the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position of the Group.

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade
receivables. In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of
each individual trade debt at the end of the reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on pledged bank deposits and bank
balances is limited because the counterparties are banks
with high credit ratings assigned by international credit
rating agencies.

As at 31 March 2017, the Group has concentration of
credit risk as 42% (2016: 76%) of the total trade receivable
was due from the Group’s largest customer. The Group's
concentration of credit risk on the top five largest
customers accounted for 98% (2016: 92%) of the total
trade receivable as at 31 March 2017. The management
of the Group considered their credit risk of amounts due
from these customers is insignificant after considering
their historical settlement record, credit quality and
financial positions.

36. WM I A &)

(b)

cREREERERBE#)
FERR
AREMEHRRERRREEHA
SERSFHREBTREEMESLH
BEE  ARERTIRERAEE L
ABPBHRREIIN SR HERTR
BEKRMEE

rEENEERRIEREEZEK
FE - nEEREEERAR  AEHE
Aiﬁ@J"Eédﬁl%%aszm EER
B EREHREMERERF - AE
RERRETEREBIMER - Ut
Hh - REBRIRE R SRER
BHEHNAREEER - AERST
AU E S BIE L R MABERE - B
It AR EERRAEENEER
B E AR o

HREF I REEREEFREER
FTREEEFNRHRT  RHEERR
TEREBTEHNEERRAR

RZZ—+F=A=+—H  F~5E
?ﬁﬁé”&$%l?ﬁ§ﬁé’]?’f%ﬂﬂﬁl%
HRBENETEERRR42% (=

— N T76%) ° $$.E{\‘£7€%)§
MEFREERREARER _T—+
FZA=T—HNEZRUFIALEE
B98% (—F— /N5 : 92%) - KE[E
BEEERR  EEIZERPEES
Hisk EEERRUBAR - B
ZERPFIENEERRIL TEX -
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains levels of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by the management to finance the
Group's operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows.

The management monitors the utilization of bank and
other borrowings. The Group successfully renewed bank
facilities that fell due during the year ended 31 March
2016. In addition, management maintains continuous
communication with the Group’s relevant bank on the
renewal of existing bank facilities that have bank
covenants breached as stated in note 26.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The tables
have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash
flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date, on
which the Group can be required to pay. Specifically,
bank and other borrowings with a repayment on demand
clause are included in the earliest time band regardless
of the probability of the banks choosing to exercise their
rights. The maturity dates for other financial liabilities are
based on the agreed repayment dates.

Liquidity tables
As at 31 March 2017

Weighted
average
effective
interest rate

Repayable
on demand
or less than

1 month

1EA RS
HK'000

il B
BBRA=

Trade payables BOENTE
Other payables i EfFE
Other borrowings EiEE

— Fixed rate —E8

36. MTI A #®)

(b) EREREERE

1-3 months

1Z31@A
HK'000
THT

SRR (40)

RBESRER
EEERDESARE  AEEEE
BRI EENE—EE
EERRRIABNAEEZELRE
ReRnBRBMERTENKT -

EREEERITREMEESAB
N ARBERDEHRNBE—F N
F=ZRA=+—HILFEIPORITE
BRIt EREEBRAEEN
MR R ER 1T B B DA TR BT P 5 26 Pt
RERRITROBANRFRITA

TRALAEESHABOFBRELD
AMBER - ZREKFEHOTRAR
SEARANKN AR NEREE
WARBRREREME - A8mME -
BERERERGRORTREAME

B AKPNESHEHEE - TRRTE

DREEFTEEERN RS RA
AR 2 B THER 7 E B &R B ik
}—\'_\EO

MBEE R

R=2—tH=A=+—H

Carrying
amount at
31 March
2017
R-E—tF
EfET=F
MR E B
HK'000
TET

Total
4 months undiscounted
to 1 year

cash flows

AERRE
REAR
HK'000
TET

SMTEBIERARAT / 2017 £k
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. €RITHE(#®)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) 2@EMREEBZERBER @)
and policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REBESRRE)
Liquidity tables (Continued) BBk (AE)
As at 31 March 2016 R-ZE—AE=A=+—H

Weighted Repayable Carrying
average on demand Total amount at
effective or less than 4months  undiscounted 31 March

interest rate 1 month 1-3 months to 1 year cash flows

AIRE RUBRRE
& 1Z3(EA MERE1F

HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000

FHT FHT THT THT

Trade payables BHRMAHE = 13,680 135 290 14,105 14,105
Other payables E 3R = 6,827 = = 6,827 6,827
Bank borrowings RITEE

— variable rate —3%8 450 29,037 - - 29,037 29,037

49,544 135 290 49,969 49,969

Bank borrowings with a repayable on demand clause are MiE AR ERERGRORITEES
included in the “repayable on demand or less than 1 At B ERIE R 9 47 [ B IR 5k 3K
month” time band in the above maturity analysis. As at BEALANEE]SHEEE - R=2F
31 March 2017, the aggregate amounts of these bank —tF=A=+—08 ' ZERITRHE
and other borrowings amounted to HK$5,806,000 (2016: fbfs B 42 £ %85 5,806,000 7T (=
HK$29,037,000). Taking into account the continuous T — N 1 29,037,00087T) - EE
negotiation with the bank as set out in note 26, the FIMI 26 Frak B ERTTHE B IE PR 1%
directors do not believe that it is probable that the bank BEERR  ZERITTAIEGITE
will exercise their discretionary rights to demand HMiEHE  ERIER - EER
immediate repayment. The directors believe that such B ZERITEEBERRITHESR
bank borrowings will be repaid within one year after the FIMGETEIEE B - RS HIRE —
end of the reporting period in accordance with the FREER--EFN - RZZT—tF=A
scheduled repayment dates set out in the bank facilities. T —HMARERESRNESBER
At that time, the aggregate principal and interest cash FIBIR 7 A 6,647,000 7T (=
outflows will amount to HK$6,647,000 for the balance T — N4 : 29,581,000%7T) ©

outstanding at 31 March 2017 (2016: HK$29,581,000).

The amounts included above for variable rate W) ZB)F R F B MR E A RE TS
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are FEEFFEER  EXRETES
subject to change if changes in variable rates differ to BMEENTETAF ANSRERLE
those estimates of interest rates determined at the end WEH -

of the reporting period.
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37. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 37. XEMBEAR
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March RZE—tFRZFT—A"F=A=+—0H"
2017 and 2016 are as follows: RARMEBWBARGFBOT
Issued and
fully paid
Place of of incorporation Place of share capital/ Equity interest
Name of subsidiaries establishment operation registered capital attributable to the Group Principal activities
BETRER RE@ATIAH
WBAREE FERARL/ AL 2 REWE RE/ZMER EfERAER TEER
2017 2016
2t —Z5%
L & A Interholdings Inc. British Virgin Island (“BVI")  Hong Kong US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
L&A Interholdings Inc. RBRIHES B 50,000%7T 100% 00% BEER
((RBRAES))
L& A Group of Companies Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$38,400,000 100% 100%  Marketing of garment
Limited products
ATEEBRAR & i 38,400,000 ¢ 100% 100% HEREER
Times Asia Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Marketing of garment
products
RRARAR B Bh 10,000 87T 100% 100% HEREER
Sun Dynamic Group Limited BVI Hong Kong US$3,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Sun Dynamic Group Limited RBRIHES Bh 3000%7T 100% 100% REER
Rise More Corporation Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100%  Investment holding
HAEBAT B BE 10077T 100% 00% HAEK
Winsky Management Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100%  Investment holding
and leasing of
motor vehicle
BREBBRAF & i 10087 100% 100% REZRRAERE
Able Rich Management BVI Hong Kong US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited
Able Rich Management RBRIES &b (E 100% 00% HREER
Limited
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(BEZT—tF=A=1+—HILFE)

37. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 37. TENBAT &)

Issued and
fully paid

Name of subsidiaries

WELARER

Place of of incorporation
establishment

MR/ R

Place of
operation

Teny

share capital/
registered capital
BRTRER
B/ EREER

Equity interest
attributable to the Group
AEERTIIAH
s RARR

Principal activities

IRER

2017
B+

2016
N

Sino Shine Retailing Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 100% 100%  Retailing of garment
products
AREZEERAA Bk G 1,000,000 7 100% 0% REERZE
Hui Jia Knitters (Huizhou) The PRC as a wholly foreign The PRC US$3,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing and
Limited ("Hui Jia Knitters") owned enterprise marketing of
garment products
ENTERBEBRAR HE i 3,000,000%T 100% 0% BERHEREER
((ZxEE]) (ERINEBELE)
L&A Solutions Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 100% - Money lending
L&A Solutions Limited Bk G 18T 100% - HE
Mutti Vision Limited BVI Hong Kong US$1 100% - Investment holding
Multi Vision Limited EBRIES G 1% 100% - RERR
Aji On Worlawide Holdings Limited B! Hong Kong US$50,000 55.56% - Investment holding
Aji On Worldwide Holdings Limited  EBE % #S G Sl 55.56% - REER
Aji On International Company BVI Hong Kong HK$10,000 55.56% - Investment holding
Limited
Aji On International Company EBERANES i Iy 55.56% - RERR
Limited
UARRE (RY)ARAF The PRC The PRC RMB1,000,000 | kil - Marketing of garment
products
IAREE (RY)BRAT R i ARE10000007T | - EEREER
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has no non- RIEHR - AEBEUHEEAEREAIE

5 2

wholly subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests. ERERNIEZENRB AT - Bt - W&
Accordingly, no detail of non-wholly subsidiary that has EYEMEE EREERERNIEDEN

material non-controlling interests presented. BRAEFS -
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 38. ALQEWIMFBARR &K
COMPANY

2017 2016
—E—+tF ZEAF

Note HK$'000 HK$'000
kS TR TAT

NON-CURRENT ASSET FRBEE

Property, plant and equipment M - S RRE 30
Unlisted investments in subsidiaries A MIEA 7 IE ETIRE 57,945
57,975
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Prepayments and deposits FENRERES 16
Amounts due from subsidiaries = NGIE ] 37,377
Cash and cash equivalents ReRESEEY 191
37,584
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBAE
Other payables and accruals Hofth FE A 5RIE R FERTE A 3,592
Amount due to a subsidiaries FEAST BT 88 R B R IE 13,619
Other borrowings HipfEE 5,806
Amounts due to directors FEfEE A 161
23,178
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEZRE 14,406
NET ASSETS EESFE 72,381
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEAXREE
Share capital &N 51,200
Reserves i (i) 21,181
TOTAL EQUITY FETRMAEE 72,381
The statement of financial position of the Company was KRR BRAERR=_E—EF XA
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on “TNBARESeAEREETE  WH
28 June 2017 and were signed on its behalf. INTEERRESE -

Ng Ka Ho
RER
Director
BE
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(BEZT—tF=A=1+—HILFE)

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 38.

RRATWEBARR K ()

COMPANY (Continued)
Note: et
(i) Reserves (0} i
Share
Share option Special  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses
RiDEE BRERE il 25 EE T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THAT TAT THT THT
At 1 April 2015 R-2-AFMA-A 23823 - 56,102 (5,816) 74,109
Loss and total comprehensive FRABRRZERAYLEE
expenses for the year - - - (15,123) (15,123)
At 31 March 2016 R=E—"E=A=+—H 23,823 = 56,102 (20,939) 58,986
Acquisition of associate through FERBTRMUERE R A
issuance of share 470,127 - - - 470,127
Placing of shares RERR 54,241 - - = 54,241
Transaction costs attributable to BIRDELRZHAK
issuance of share (600) - - - (600)
Recognition of equity-settled RAREEZARND A
share-based payment ARERR - 37,006 - - 37,006
Exercise of share option TR 70,542 (32,782 - - 37,760
Loss and total comprehensive FABERZERLAH
expenses for the year - - - (636,339) (636,339)
At 31 March 2017 R-F—tF=A=1-A 618,133 4,224 56102 (657,278) 21,181
Note: On 18 September 2014, the Company and Yang's Holdings HiaF : RZT—MENATNAR - KAAT

Capital Limited entered into a share swap agreement
pursuant to which Yang's Holdings Capital Limited
transferred the entire issued capital in L & A Interholdings
Inc. to the Company. In consideration of the transfer of
the entire issued capital in the L & A Interholdings Inc., the
Company allotted and issued 99,999,999 of its own new
shares to Yang's Holdings Capital Limited, all credited as
fully paid.

fiYang's Holdings Capital Limited
Bl MM R W& 1R Ut Yang's
Holdings Capital Limited#L & A
Interholdings Inc. & &5 2 3% 17 f& &
EETARA - EABRERELA
Interholdings Inc. & £ B 8% 17 i &
BRE - AARIAARIIESRE R
X F2 = [|Yang's Holdings Capital
Limited it % & % 17 31 R 5
99,999,999 i ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(For the year ended 31 March 2017)
(BEZZT—tF=A=1+—HILFE)
39. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

39. HEPREE

The following events took place subsequent to 31 March 2017:

Lim Hang Young's Winding Up Petition

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated on
13 June 2017 and 16 June 2017. The Company has on 9 June
2017 received a petition (the “Petition”) dated on 6 June 2017
filed by Mr. Lim Hang Young (the “Petitioner”) against (i) the
Company and (i) Yang's Holdings Capital Limited (the “2nd
Respondent”) as respondents (collectively, the “Respondents”).

The Petitioner alleged, inter alia, that (i) the 2nd Respondent
had lend out its business to the Company and was
warehousing the shares for the real owner of the shell; (i) the
2nd Respondent has engaged in many share pledge borrowing
activities; and (iii) the acquisitions of Red 5 Studios, Inc. was a
deceit; and (iv) the affairs of the Company have been
mismanaged, which in the circumstances render it just and
equitable and desirable in the interest of the Company’s
shareholders and/or general investing public to wind up the
Company.

The Petition was taken out in the Court of First Instance, High
Court, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region against the
Respondents. The call over of the Petition has been fixed to be
heard on 6th September 2017 at 9:30 a.m.

According to Section 182 of the Companies Ordinance (Cap.
622, Laws of Hong Kong), the effect of the Petition, unless and
until it is dismissed or a validation order is sought, is that any
disposition of the property of the Company, including things in
action, and any transfer of shares, or alteration in the status of
the members of the Company, made after the commencement
of the winding up, shall unless the court otherwise orders, be
void.

The position of the Company towards the Petition is that the
facts stated in the Petition are not true and that the Petition will
be strenuously opposed, including making an application to
dismiss/strike out the Petition.

The Company will apply for a validation order and also make an
application to dismiss/strikeout in due course.

The Company is seeking advice in respect of the Petition and
will make further announcement(s) to keep its shareholder and
investors informed of any significant development of the
Petition as and when appropriate.

THEERZZT—tF=A=1+—H%E%H
==

Lim Hang Young /s 825 &

ZRBAARARA-T—+FENAT=
ARZZT—+tF A+ NBZAMH K=
T—+EFRNANA - KAFEELM Hang
Young £ E([2EFBANRZZE—LF XA
N B8 E R ANK 2 E Ki) yang's
Holdings Capital Limited ([ 88 — 25 A 1) (47
BIERADRLEZZFE((2FED -

EFAERETEE)NE_ERAER
ARBMEHERER IRERARERE
BARKERG  (WE_ZRAE2EZIA
MRty EHREEES : (i) #BE Red 5 Studios,
Inc. REGEITR  RIVARREHKEREN
Z EUBATEARABTEBEAY &
FREEME  THEARRBRRR,/ X
BERREARRZ Mz o

ERECAZBBRNTHRESSERR
INEEHERARL - 28E2ETR
MR ZE—tEFNAANBLEFAR=TF
DERT o

BIE B B A 55 622 Z A A& B )55 182
% BIREEHBOHEERTS &
AI2FERERERMABERARRME
(BEBZEEEVEL2EMNERES IR
EEEREAL: F NN S = R VA s Gl
EBEEY AR BB LRIERR °

HHEFE  ARARZUBREFEML
B NIER YRR EFERDBRIUR
- pERERE HE2FE -

ARARBRFRAS  WHEE R R
Bl HH2FERHASE -

AAARERSHBHRNARER - T
BB R T B — 5 A A AR
RAE AR EHE L EAEALE -
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
T FEHE

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
—EBE—+F —T—RF —T—HF —ZT-NFE —ZT—=%F

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBT T THETT T T

Revenue & 60,830 210,345 350,386 380,445 374,087
Gross (loss) profit EH (E8) 6,436 20,376 62,090 70,923 67,818
Operating (loss) profit 4R (5518 % A (298,202) (26,107) (16,435) 11,472 22,728
(Loss) profit for the year £ (f&518) % 7 (297,016) (29,302) (18,391) 7,053 14,608

Financial position BHHEARR,

Assets and liabilities BEREE
Total assets BERLE 427,420 150,132 190,335 227,018 225,871
Total liabilities BEHaE 18,711 56,370 61,718 118,687 125,262

Capital and reserves BAR R
Total equity B RE 408,709 93,762 128,617 108,331 100,609
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